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[To accompany S. Res. 311]

The Select Committee on Ethics, having considered an original

v'.f‘ Resolution, reports favorably thereon and recommends that the
¢ Resolution do. pass.

Pursuant to Article I, Sectlon 5 Clause 2 of the United States

: Constltutlon S. Res. 338 (88th Congress) as amended, and Rule 5(f)

of the ‘Committee’s .Supplementary Procedural Rules, the Select
Committee on Ethics submits this Report ifi-support of its recom-
menda_ti,on to the Senate that Senator Durenberger-be denounced.

L PROCEDURAL HisTory

" On- September 27, 1988 the. Committee received a complaint
against Senator David Durenberger from 39 members of the Min-
nesota Bar. The complaint alleged that the ‘Senator had violated
laws and rules within the Committee’s jurisdiction; in part through
an arrangement he had with a publisher, Piranha Press.. The com-

¢ plaint was referred to the Senator for response on October 28, 1988.

.The complaint and the Senator’s response were considered by the
Committee, which. voted unanimpusly on March 1, 1989 to proceed
with a Preliminary Inquiry into.the issues raised ‘therein. The fol-

- lowing day, Senator Durenberger was.advised that such an Inquiry
.. would be undertaken, and he pledged .and has since prov1ded hlS

complete cooperation. .

.Committee staff attorneys conducted the - Preliminary Inquiry
with the assistance of three investigators from the Office of Special
Investigations of the General Accounting Office. Documents and
tape recordings were provided by Senator Durenberger in response
to the Committee’s request. Subpoenas were issued and records
were obtained from the publisher and others. Attorney-client privi-
leges were wa1ved by the Senator and the publisher, and records
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) . - L d the Senate- Gifts. Rule (35) -during 1985 and 1986, in connection with
aﬁglgﬁgmony were provided by attorneys for the Senator an § personal travel to Concord, Massachusetts.l - A
p : i :-In ‘December 1989; new alle zations concerning  Senator Duren-

: ry In- MM » : 8 g L,

The ?lofﬁﬁéuﬁf igagg rg?{f::;dbg;‘férfﬁ‘,}l]f:t°§;;f,ﬁﬁfj“é‘§$n’{ttee })erger’s. owne’rsl;iip_ and -use of a Minneapolis copdomlnlum ap-
unanirr ously concluded on August 3, 1989 that the evidence provid- § peared in the Minnesota press. Following the publication of these
u(rllagnm n {0 believe” that,possible', violations within the Commit- § reports; the Commlttpe unanimously voted to®initiate a Prelimi-
Eee’sr;gsi(;diction may have occurred. The Committee also retained § nary Inquiry concerning thf’«‘ ‘condominjum matter, and so notified
Special Counsel, Robert S. Bennett, to assist in conducting an Ini- J the Senator. - .

tial Review.

lowing his August 3, 1989 designation as Special Counsel, Mr.
Beljl(;}egzvco%lducted in extensive examination into the facts. Sena-
tor Durenberger appeared personally before the Committee on Feb-
ruary 8, 1990. On February 6, 1990 and Feb_ruary. 20, 1990 Special
Counsel submitted reports on the Initial Rev1ew:

On February 22, 1990, the Committee dgtermlned thgt there was
“substantial credible evidence which provided substantial cause” to
conclude that there were possible violations of law or Senate Rules
within the Committee’s jurisdiction, or that there was possible con-
duct which may reflect upon the Senate. Accox:dmgly, the Commit-
tee voted unanimously to conduct an Investigation pursuant to
Committee Rule 5. Senator Durenberger was promptly notified of

the Committee’s decision. By letter dated March 1, 1990, pursuant ¥

to Committee Rule 5(c), the Senator was formally notified of this
decision and was. provided with a description of ‘the evidence. The
Committee’s Resolution and letter are attached as Appendix A to
this Report.

Specifically, the Committee resolved that there was substantial

. . . . - . ’to
credible evidence providing substantial cause fog tl_le _Cor_nquttee
conclude that violations within the Committee’s jurisdiction may
have occurred, as follows:

1. Senator Durenberger may have violated the honoraria limits £

established by 2 U.S.C. 31-1 and 2 U.S.C. 441i by accepting pay-

ments in excess of such limits as consideration for speeches or ap- .

pearances during calendar years 1985 and 1986.

2. Senator Durenberger may have violated the ‘provisions of -

the Committee ‘unanimously ‘de
-tial credible evidence providing
‘there was: possible improper co

' Special -Counsel submitted his Final Report- on the Preliminary
Inquiry into the condominium matter -on: May 8, 1990. Thereafter,
termined that there was “substan.
substantial cause” to conclude that
nduct which may reflect upon the
Senate- by Senator Durenberger; and possible violations of laws or
‘Senate:Rules within the Committee’s jurisdiction. - ’
* Specifically, the Committee
was substantial credible evide

Senator Durenberger may have abused his United States

" Senate Office and misused United States Senate funds

‘through a pattern of improper conduct. which has brought
discredit upon the United States Senate. Such conduct

... may have included the submission of misleading trave] re-
imbursement. vouchers ‘to the‘Senate-Disbur,sing Office, the .
_Imisrepresentation. of the ownership of the property for

which "he’ wag’ claiming lodging reimbursement and the
backdating of  real estate transactions and certain docu-
mentation relating to those transactions.

Senator Durenberger also may have violated certain pro-
visions of the Ethics in Government Act relating to the ad-

ministration of his qualified blind trust, including those -
provisions relating to communicitions regarding the trust
_and its assets. : ' o

resolved -on May 9, 1990 that there
nce providing substantial cause for
the Committee to conclude that violations within the Committee’s
jurisdiction may have occurred, as follows: o ‘

Senate Rule 34 (The ‘Ethics in Governmgnt Act of 1978, as amend—
ed) by failing to report in his financial disclosure reports for calen-
dar years 1985 and 1986 the acceptance of _reimbursement for the
necessary expenses of travel undertaken in coqnectlon with ap-
- pearances related to Piranha Press. L i

3. Senator Durenberger may have converted a campaign contri-
bution to personal use in violation of Ser_late Rule 38, paragraph 2, . :
and may have failed to report and deposit a campaign cgntrlbut}on ¥
in violation of Section 434(b)(2) of the Federal Election’ _Campalgn
Act and FEC regulations, by transferring to Piranha I:ress Ir}c_. a
$5,000 check made out to ‘“Durenberger for U.S. Senate. .

4. Senator Durenberger may have violated 40 U.S.C. 193d and
the Senate Rules Committee’s regulation prohibiting the commer
cial use of Senate space, when he was paid an honorarium or other E , . . o - |
fee for six appearances in Senate controlled space subject to the mﬁ gt}:i:e:lx:: glfmstzn?; Efa?fmgfgningﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁ :%ign,ﬁg?i lll)loctl}:: ar;ﬁga}l ff'ﬂ‘é’]:‘ ;‘ﬁ,i";‘;
statutory and Rules Committee prohibition. . £ d trans s gny Inggsttiiﬁtionlpgcaqse of an absence of evidence of imporper use of staff, and that allega-

5. Senator Durenberger may have accepted gifts of groun rah § me about the solicitation of appearances hefore various Bas
portation (limousine service) in the Boston area in violation of the :

. Senator :Durenberger was notified of the Committee’s decision S

- immediately 'thereafter. Pursuant to Committee Rule 5(c), the Sen- O

- ator was formally advised of -this action by letter dated May 14,
1990. The Committee’s Resolution and letter are appended hereto

- as Appendix B. - . SR o P

“The (?o_mmittee,, therefore, announced-on May 9, 1990 that the - i

-~ ther ‘argument from the’ Senator’s counsel, and on May 17, 1990
Senator Durenberger again appeared before the Committee to pro-
‘vide in_formgtion and respond to questions. )

ton groups also would not be a part
an absence of evidence of improper unfluence. . .
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‘Because the Investigations relating to both'the Piranha Presg
and cond_om1n1urp matters were concerned with possible discipli
nary action against Senator Durenberger,  the ‘hearings held ‘on
June 12 and June 18, 1990 were conducted as “adjudicatory” hear-
ings pursuant to the Committee’s Supplemental Procedural Rule 6
§C)’ z:ind the procedures specified in' Rule 6() were therefore fol
owed. S _ : : N

Senator Durenberger was accorded all the rights and privileges
Cll snd"wcamine Whness of i own chores s che Zgnt o B roSl, (SSIST T Bl apeeacances’ gonoraid ap
other witnqsses._In this qasé, the Committee subpoenaed all twenty- :ﬁ;gedel?g}i}i? pp ?QXImgtely $=15*500 m book"sales dur1ng Eﬁhat,§ame
five potential witnesses identified by Senator Durenberger, as well # ”':Thé) evidence further reveals that the Senator’s Piranha Press

as those thirty-t i ' ial .Cou At E 3 e oy ' invitati
Irty-two witnesses -named by - Special .Counsel. At the 3§ speeches appear uniformly to hayve been the result. of invitations

extended to'the Senator in his capacity as a United States Senator
“to deliver what would' otherwise have been treated as traditional
- honoraria speeches. None was the result of invitations to the Sena-
tor to speak about. or promote his books, nor were any initiated by
Piranha Press. A T
- The evidence also shows that, at the Senator’s direction, his staff
forwarded:to_the publishér a number of ‘honoraria _speech invita-

lishing' or promotional. contract, but was instead a means of con-
verting into. “stipendary: inesme” fees ‘which would otherwise ‘have -
been"treated as honoraria subject to 2 U.S.C. § 81-1-and 2 US.C.
§441i.'The: evidence further’demonstrates that the principal pur-
Pose -of the agreement was not to-promote the sale of Senator
Durenberger’s books, but was rather to permit: the Senator to earn
- fees for speaking engagements. Over the two year term of the ar-.’
rangement, the Senator’s ¢ ‘promotional appearances” generated ‘ap-

cloge of opening statements in the hearing, Senator Durenberger
waived his right to call and question witnesses; to testify as.a wit-
ness, to .hav,e further hearings, to cross examine witnesses previous-
ly identified by Special Counsel from whom affidavits had been ob-
tan,1ed, and any other due process rights. provided by the Commit-
tee's Rules. The Senator, through counsel, requested that.the Com-
mittee decide the case upon the written record contained in his and
Special Counsel’s exhibits, 2 ' :

1I. EVIDENCE GATHERED BY SpEcIAL COUNSEL DURING. THE
: CoMMITTEE’'S PROCEEDINGS- '

The evjdenc_:e gathered by Special Counsel and introduced at the -
hearing in this matter consisted largely of materials prodiced vol-
untarily to the Committee by Senator Durenberger, documents sub- -
boenaed from third parties, and witness affidayits. This evidence is

~Senator Durenberger bersonally designated as Piranha Press ap- .
_pearances what were in reality honoraria appearances.. ..

" The evidence gathered by Special.Counsel reflects that Senator
“Durenberger did not mention either his books.-or his publisher
~during a great many of his Piranha Press appearances. Often, in
those, instances when he .did_mention.his books; +his only. reference
was extremely brief.or was belittling of the book’s contents. The
“evidence further demonstrates . that on: several occasions, groups
“before-which the Senator made “promotional. appearances”’ were
told that it would not be necessary. to display. the ‘Senator’s books
at his appearance. Moreover, Senator Durenberger made a. nuniber
of <‘promotional appearances” before health care groups well in ad-

consent adopts the Report of Special Counsel
herein and attached hereto as Appendix C. E

Generally, the evidence shows that in the fall of 1984, Piranha -
‘I?res.s pubhshe’d Senator Durenberger’s first book, a collection of 3

white papers” on national defense and security issues entitled
Neither Madmen Nor Messiahs. In April of 1986, Piranha Press
published a second book by the Senator, a collection of speeches on
health care topics entitled Prescription for Change. L

In early 1985, Senator Durenberger entered into an agreement
with Plraqha Press pursuant to which he made 113 appearances
before various trade associations and other businesses across the
country in 1985—§nd 1986 in-promotion of these books. These spon-
Soring organizations paid Piranha Press a fee, typically between
$1,000 and $5,000 plus travel expenses, for the Senator’s appear-
ance. Pursuant to its agreement with the Senator, Piranha Press
thep paid Senator Durenberger $100,000 in quarterly payments
during thp two year period at issue, L

The evidence demonstrates that the arrangement between Sena-

tor Durenberger and Piranha Press was not a good faith book pub-

‘vance of the publication. of his book:on health care—at the time,
his only: published book was’ a.collection -of+‘‘white papers” on na-
tional defense issues. The evidence further reflects that the Sena-
‘tor’s: Piranha Press speeches  were indistinguishable in ‘substance
from his traditional honoraria ‘appearances.. . : :

.- On: approximately twenty-three occasions, Senator Durenberger
spoke at an ‘event addressed by:other-Members of Congress. While
the  other:Members treated these: appearances as traditional hono-
raria events,- and reported.-fees: received as. honoraria, Senator
Durenberger- treated these -appearances as Piranha Press “promo-
tional appearances”” = - - - wo -
~.The evidence: also ‘shows that-on several different oceasions,
members of the Senator’s staff or a representative of Piranha Press
insisted that.a group before which the Senator was to appear pay a
. fee in excess of $2,000 for the Senator’s appearance. Often, the fee
¢ charged was as:high as $5,000.8 - L e

2 Prior to waiving his rights unﬂer the Rules Senator Durenber; eci i ;

. z 3 ‘ger was specifically informed

that, although Special Counsgllhad made a recommendation as to the approgiiate'saiction, the :
Com_mxttee hagi made no decision and was not precluded from recommeding any:sanction, in-
cluding expulsion, Lo . . ST T

% Section 441 of the Federal Election-Campaign Act (2 U.S,C. § 441i) prohibits the acceptance
. of honorarium of more than $2,000 for each appearance, speech or article. . O
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The evidence reflects that payment:for these: “‘promotional::ap-
pearances” by the Senator typically was made directly to Piranha
Press. However, on twenty-six occasions- sponsoring organizations
paid Senator Durenberger directly. These checks, totalling approxi-
mately. $56,000, were deposited into the Piranha Press bank ac-
count.- Twenty-one of these checks reflected Senator Durenberger’s
personal endorsement to Piranha Press. . - ;
Prior to performing any services under his agreement.with Pira-
nha Press, Senator Durenberger through counsel requested and Te-
ceived an advisory opinion from the Federal Election .Commission
(“FEC”) stating that income paid to him from the publisher would
be considered a “stipend” rather than “honoraria.” The evidence
reflects that the request for this opinion did not fully, disclose or
accurately reflect the terms of the Senator’s arrangement with Pi-
ranha, and in fact was highly misleading. Specifically, the request
did not state that the groups before which the Senator would speak
would pay a fee to Piranha Press for his appearance. The request
also did not reflect that the Senator’s appearances would be the
result of invitations to deliver traditional “honoraria” speeches ex-

jusinesses or organizations. with a direct” interest in législation
yithin the meaning of Senate Rule 35. o L
egarding the condominium matter, the evidence reflects that in
W} 1379, Senator Durenbergér purchased a one-bedroom condominium
in Minneapolis, Minnesota in which he then stayed during his trav-
Wls to that city. Senator Durenberger has represented that effective
July 28, 1988, he formed a partnership with Roger Scherer, the
wner of the condominium unit located directly above his. The Sen-
sor and Mr. Scherer each contributed their respective coridomini-
im units to this entity. Between August 1988 and March 31, 1987,
fenator Durenberger rented his condominium -from the partner-
ship at a per diem rate of $65. Senator Durenberger claimed and
rceived reimbursement from the United States Senate for his
#iays in the unit. - o ' v
‘The evidence demonstrates that the partnership entity was cre-
ited as a means of permitting Senator Durenberger to claim reim-
§lursement from the Senate for the cost of renting his condominium
juit, and that Senator Durenberger knowingly participated in-the
tackdating of the partnership transaction in order to ‘justify his re-
uests. for Senate reimbursements. The evidence further reflects
that the partnership entity itself was not conceived until the fall of
1983. ‘The~documents memorializing the creation of the partner-
thip, and the transfer of the condominium to the partnership, were
not created or executed until early 1984,
“Even after the formal creation of the partnership, the Sénator
beld a significant ownership interest in the unit. The evidence re- -
Qlects that with the Senator’s krowledge and authorization  the
frame of the' partnership was changed from the “Durenberger-
fherer Partnership” to the “703-603 Association.” As a result, the
%nator’s’ ownership interest in the condominium was concealed
om the Senate Disbursing Office.5
The evidence also reflects-that in June 1985, the Senator deeded

tended to him in his capacity as a United States Senator.. .
The evidence further reflects that in 1985 and 1986 ‘the Senator
failed to timely report his receipt of travel expense reimbursement
from forty-three organizations before which he made Piranha Press
and Boston area appearances.* In, addition, on six separate occa-
sions in 1985, Senator Durenberger made Piranha Press -appear-
-ances in United States Capitol-and Senate rooms. The sponsoring
organizations paid Piranha Press fees ranging from $250 to $2,000
for'these appearances. — , . o
‘In addition, on December 5, 1986 Senator Durenberger addressed
the annual meeting of the Pathology Practice- Association. In con-
nection with this appearance, the Association’s federal political
action committee sent a check to the Senator’s official campaign
committee in the amournt of $5,000, payable to “Durenberger for
U.S. Senate.” This campaign contribution was deposited -into the .
Piranha Press account, from which the Senator was- paid by Pira- nary 1986: Thereafter
nha Press for his “promotional appearances.”” - T Ty '
As to Senator Durenhberger’s travel in the Boston ‘metropolitan
area, the evidence demonstrates that in 1985 the Senator began: to
have regular meetings for entirely personal “reasons with - Dr
1955 o 1925 fhe Semmior ey b, Of eleven occasions n §,"“180": Lo addition, Senator Durenberger periodically requested
choli in Concord, and later met with a business or other group in
the Boston area. On five additional occasions in 1985 the Senator
travelled to Boston solely in order to meet with Dr. Nicholi in. Con-
cord, and did not meet with representatives of any business or or-
ganization. Typically, the Senator travelled from Boston to :Con- ;
cord, and returned to Boston, by rented limousine.. The evidence .
shows that the cost of this and certain other limousine travel unre-
lated to official business in the Boston area was paid by various

4 The evidence also reflects that in June 1987, following the termi-
Fution of the partnership, Senator Durenberger’s attorney in-
ormed him that he could not opine that the Senator’s claims for
fnate reimbursements for the period from 1983 through March
1987 were proper. Senator Durenberger failed to take any action at
hat time to determine the appropriateness of those reimburse-
nents. Senator Durenberger did not undertake such action until
1989, when various press reports.questioned these transactions.

The evidence demonstrates that followinhg the termination of the
prtnership on March 31, 1987, Senator Durenberger structured a

e

*On July 27, 1989, Senator Durenberger filed amended Financial Disclosure-Reports for- the
1985 and-1986 calendar years, in which he listed reimbursements of travel expenses recieved
from thirty-nine organizations. As of the date of the hearing in this matter, however, Senator "4
Durenberger has not disclosed his receipt of travel reimbursements from four organizations for

five trips he made in 1985. We also note that Senator Dure,nbeiger did not disclose his ownership intgrest in the part-

#lership on his Financial Disclosure Report.
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purported sale of the condominium unit to IS,C, a Minnespta bu
ness operated by Paul Overgaard, the Senator’s personal friend.
1982 Campaign Manager. According to Mr: Overgaard, he w d;
not have entered into this transaction were it not for the Senator
agreement to rent the condominium from ISC, which both’ parti
understood would be financed at least in part through Senate re
bursements. ~ — : - .
The evidence reflects that. the condominium sale to ISC was
structured to be “effective” April 1, 1987. The documentation pr
duced to the Committee in this matter, however, evidences th,
ISC was not identified as'a potential purchaser until the sum
of 1987, several months after the purported effective date of thed
sale. The evidence further demonstrates that the sale was madg
retroactive to April 1, 1987 in order to justify the Senator’s clain
of Senate per diem lodging reimbursement for his condominiu
stays back to that date. The documentation in this matter also.r
flects that the Senator and I\S/Ir. Overgae(lird agl;ieed that_ISC woul
reconvey the property to the Senator on demand. T
The e{ridenge I:sx)hov?:s that in December 1987,_ ISC generated in::
voices for the Senator’s stays in the condominium for the period,
from April to October 1987. Based on these newly created invoi
in December 1987 the Senator claimed Senate reimbursement f;
the past lodging costs. BT
The evidence also shows that the lease agreement between
parties, pursuant to which Senator Durenberger was _renting
property from ISC, was not signed by the Senator until April 1!
Although Mr. Overgaard repeatedly requested completed documer
tation of the transaction throughout 1988 and 1989, the lette
agreement memorializing the terms of the sale, the deed and th
related real estate documents were not delivered to Mr. Overgaa
until October 1989. The evidence further demonstrates that th
Senator’s lawyer- delayed in completing this paperwork because:
the Senator’s own dissatisfaction with the financial terms: of the
transaction. Moreover, because the necessary documentation
never filed with the county Registrar of Titles, as of the initiatio
of the Committee’s proceedings in this matter ISC still did: not hol
legal title to the property.- :
gFinally, the ev?derll’ce iyn this matter Izeﬂects-that Senato_r Dure
berger claimed and received Senate reimbursement for his cond
minium lodging costs on a fairly regular monthly basis betwee
February 1988 and November 1989. During this period, however, h
made only nine lump sum rental payments to ISC. Senator Duren
berger therefore had the use of Senate reimbursement funds
substantial periods of time. :

admitted that mistakes were made and that there have been viola-
tions “of rules. The Senator’s counsel asserted, however, that the
Senator acted throughout in good faith and upon the advice of law-
yers and other advisors, that any mistakes or violations were the
esult of the Senator having been inattentive and unwise, and that
the Senator had no'intent to violate the rules. )
“As’evidence that, he acted in good faith 'in entering into his ar-
- rangement with Piranha Press; Senator Durenberger emphasized
- that:he obtained an- advisory opinion from ‘the FEC approving the
irrangement and concluding that the income to him from the pub-

the arrangement with his publisher and was told that there was no
problem, if the FEC approved. i : o :
- *=The Senator’s- counsel. asserted that Senator Durenberger relied
upon - his' personal attorney, Michael Mahoney, to insure that the
FEC opinion request included all relevant facts. He further ‘assert-
- ed-that the:Senator relied upon Mr. Mahoney to insure that the
Pii'anha-Press‘ arrangement. complied with applicable laws and
rules. . oo, o o S
“Senator Durenberger’s.counsel stated that the Senator proceeded
in- good faith in implementing his arrangement with Piranha Press.
. He noted that Senator Durenberger sought and received confirma-
tion from .Michael: Mahoney that the FEC opinion contemplated
the referral to Piranha Press of routine speaking requests made to
his Senate office. .. .- . D .
Senator- Durenberger’s counsel acknowledged that the Senator
.did not “promote” his books or his publisher at all of the Piranha
Press: appearances. He asserted, however, that Senator Duren-
berger believed .that he.fulfilled his obligations under the contract
- with Piranha Press, whether or not he explicitly promoted his
. books. or the. publisher; so that income from speeches held under
the auspices of his publisher was covered by the “stipendary” ar-
rangement. Counsel:-also. noted that the publisher never told the
Senator exactly what he should do to promote his books or com-
plained about his- presentations. Therefore, the Senator believed
_that he was justified in thinking that a good speech or appearance
before an audience.promoted his publisher and his books, even if
neither was mentioned. - o
- As further evidence of his belief that his Piranha Press income
was a ‘“‘stipend” and that he was proceeding in good faith, Senator
. Durenberger and his counsel noted that there was never an at-
tempt to conceal the Senator’s income from the Piranha Press ar-
rangement, and that he disclosed it on his calendar year 1985 and
1986 Financial Disclosure forms. The Senator and his counsel fur-
* ther'noted that; during the implementation phase of the Piranha
Press arrangement, the Senator described his arrangement to sev-
- eral other Senators as a legitimate way of earning income not sub-
ject to the honorarium limits. The Senator’s counsel argued that
- the Senator would not have done so had he believed that the ar-
rangement was'in any way unethical or improper. A
Senator Durenberger’s counsel submitted that the Senator’s fail-
ure to disclose the travel reimbursements received-in connection
with the Piranha Press and Boston area appearances was due

III. SENATOR DURENBERGER’S RESPONSE TO SPECIAL COUNSEL’S
: : EvIDENCE :

The evidence introduced by Senator Durenberger during th
hearing in this matter consisted largely of documents also marked
as exhibits by Special Counsel, and affidavits from former sta
members and witnesses to the condominium transaction.’ o

At the hearing, both Senator Durenberger and his counsel ad-2

dressed the Committee. Senator Durenberger through his coun
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solely to the oversight of his lawyers and members of his, staff.-whosg8 M . : N .
were handling this matter. for him. Further, upon being inforr : tfl OSverga_grd and Mr, __Mahope—y.v stated in affidavits submitted
: : Y ‘the Senator that the Senator’s agreement with ISC was in the

f his “technical” violation, Senator D berge nded hi . v
or s technical violation, Senator Durenberger amended 1 ature of a Contract for Deed. The Senator’s counsel stated that

ports. Thus, the Senator’s counsel argued, no sanction for this mis P ; . e C
take in reporting is required. T v Ehe. attorneys’ failure to prepare the documents in a timely' manner

As to the handling of the campaign contributions from. the p 11t : v e : Sl ¢ 3
cal action committee of the Pathology Practice Association, Sena : enator al-s_of,noted” that he relied not only upon the advice of his
personal attorney, Michael Mahoney, in claiming réimbursement

Durenberger’s counsel asserted that the Senator: likely: never.ga g T 1 1 ' , _ ]
or knew. of this check, that Piranha Press should have made som ngzuﬁggitlﬁé ?izis:s?s%gx?tlsc;tu %%I;tthg advice dOf Douglas Kelley, his
further inquiry upon receiving the check but-did not, and.that United States ‘Attorney v ime and a’former Assistant

would be inappropriate to impose a sanction under these facts. ;-
Regarding the limousine services received in connection -wit
visits to Concord, Massachusetts, the Senator through counsel ac
knowledged violations of Senate Rule 85. His counsel asserted, how
ever, that the Senator did not discover how expensive-the use: o
these limousines was until this investigation began. Furthermore
the Senator’s counsel stated that on many of the occasions whe;
the Senator received such service it facilitated his attendance-at an
appearance which had brought him to Boston.. The Senator’s’coun

" “As’to his conduct-in connection with his Qu'aliﬁ i
his’ - ) I ed Blind Trust,

the Se’natto‘r throggh counsel admitted to violations of the Ethicl:':;1 ?n
cste T};e ’Sertlatofl;"s cou(rilse_l stated, however, that Mr.
»enator s trustee and attorney) never advi
Senat;or that hershould_: refrain from ‘any invg,lvement ?n thls;?g rg};?
estateﬂsali_e‘ ;and that, in fact, Mr. Mahoney consulted with him
about the sale: The Senator’s counsel acknowledged that the condo-
g}llgiml?e was" T})f ‘an appropriate ~asset for placement in a blind
sel therefore contended that a harsh sanction is not appropriate:: any'.r;otigg%fat tﬁéngzllllgi o thelgssetu ind knowlodgs ap e defied

Senator Durenberger’s counsel argued that the ‘Senator’s six~Pi SN P mmenaor would not have knowledge of .

ranha Press speeches made:in U.S. Capitol facilities in 1985 did no : : IV, : . ;
violate the law, that the Rules Committee had not specifically pro- : - IV Fivpings o g Commrrres
hibited speaking for a fee in these rooms, ‘and that it would ther
fore be inappropriate to-sanction the Senator for this conduct.
As to the condominium matter, Senator Durenberger stated: ha
he sought Iéeifm_?}lfrselment for stat)iling (iln.the %\/I}lipnleapqlis con(ti'loxtxilin pinion from the Fhc Although the G0 obta a1
lum in good faith reliance iipon the advice of his lawyers and othe . Lowne rau, N0 ¢ Senator’s arrangement with
advisors. Moreover, Senator Durenberger stated that his relianc I;fgnh? Press was patently different from a customarygauth'oi'-pub.‘
O i3, 4o siviors domonsratn s commiment 1 @ e sereament, e fels ‘which would Sty Serncrel
conduct himself in compliance wi e rules. - Co e s e ot IOL Included: in ] opinion request. =
Specifically, Senator Durenberger noted that he was advised in Ange Coiqm_lét}tlzee.fgrther ,finds that Senator Durenberger’s ar-
December 1983 by ‘Randall Johnson that he could claim per'diem gement with Piranha Press was simply a mechanism to evade
reimbursement from the Senate for his condominium stays: He also i
pointed to a memorandum from a member of his Senate office staff
advising him that the arrangement had been discussed with the
staffs of the Senate Rules Committee and Senate Ethics Commit:
tee. Finally, the Senator noted that attorneys-Richard Langlais,
Donald Lattimore, Michael Mahoney and David Steingart all  were
involved in advising him on various aspects of the partnershi
rangement. ’ ' ) ’ T

Senator Durenberger’s counsel also asserted that the Seqaﬁpp -g?gg: sts ,mfde to the Se?.atm’ personally oor_through his Senate

ers which are the subject of the. Committee’s Investigati
which bject on.
FS‘evnator Durenbe:g_'ger' did not proceed in good faithg in instituting

flected the historical date of that understanding. ‘ 3

Regarding the collection of Senate reimbursement after the ters
mination of the partnership, the Senator stated through counsel, as
did Mr. Overgaard in his affidavit, that Mr. Overgaard had agreed
in late 1986 to buy the condominium. Although the sale initially,
was to be effective as of January 1, 1987, because the attorneys
were slow to dissolve the partnership it could not be made effective,
until April 1, 1987. o o T4

Durenberger personally designated routine honoraris speaking in-

vitations as Piranha Press “promotional appearances.” For avam.
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ple, in one early appearance, the Senator arranged the -event as'a
“honorarium” appearance, madé no mention -of his book .or publish:
er during the appearance, and personally requested that the spo
sor pay his appearance fee to Piranha Press. ) '

. The Committee finds that Senator Durenberger failed to disclose -
the receipt of .certain reimbursements for. trips during. calendar
year 1985 and 1986 in connection with the Piranha Press arrange- -
ment and his Boston area appearances. The disclosure requirement -
for travel reimbursements is wéll known to Members. In this:

regard, the Committee notes that while Senator Durenberger: re-

ported reimbursements paid to him in connection with his honorar-
ium appearances, reimbursements received. from certain -groups -

which sponsored Piranha Press and Boston area appearances: were
omitted from his Financial Disclosure Reports. . SN

The Committee further finds that Senator Durenberger knowmg

ly accepted gifts of limousine service between Boston and Concord,

Massachusetts and in" the Boston area in connection with-certain’
trips to Boston during 1985 and 1986. The Senator knew that the

trips to Concord were to conduct personal business, and -that-the
limousine service was not a “necessary expense’-of any:-appearance

he was making. The Senator knew or should have known that the"

groups providing the limousine service had a direct interest in leg-
islation before Congress and that the value of the limousine service
exceeded the limits established by the Senate Gifts Rule.

In connection with Senator Durenberger’s 1985 appeararce
before the Pathology Practice Association, the Committee -findg

that the Association’s political action committee paid to the Sena’:

tor’s reelection committee a $5,000 campaign contribution in the
form of a check made out to “Durenberger for U.S. Senate”. The
check was deposited into the account of the Senator’s publisher, Pi-
ranha Press. The Committee concludes that this .campaign contri-
bution was converted to Senator Durenberger’s personal use in vios
lation of Senate Rule 38, paragraph 2. - : o

In light of these factual findirigs and baged upon the evidence
before it, the Committee has unanimously -concluded . as -follows
with respect to the violations as noticed in the Committee’s Resolu-
tion of February 22, 1990: - -
1. Senator Durenberger violated the honoraria limits established
by 2 US.C. §31-1 and 2 U.S.C.. § 441i by accepting payments in
excess of such limits as consideration for 1138 speeches or appear-

ances during calendar years 1985 and 1986. . Ler e
2. Senator Durenberger violated the provisions of Senate Rule:34
(The Ethics in Government Act of 1978,-as amended) by failing to
report on his Financial Disclosure Reports. for calendar years 1985
and 1986 the acceptance of reimbursement from forty-three organi-

zations for the necessary expenses of certain travel connected with.

Piranha Press and Boston area appearances. .

3. A campaign contribution was converted to Senator Duren-
berger’s personal use in violation of Senate Rule 38, paragraph 2,
by transferring to Piranha Press a $5,000 check made out to
“Durenberger for U.S. Senate.” . - - :

4. Senator Durenberger accepted gifts of ground transportation

(limousine service) in the Boston area in_violation of the Senate"

13

Rule35'during 1985 and"~1986;_inf connéction w_ith personal travel to

Concord, Massachusetts.s & = . _ -
~As"to the condominium transactions, the ‘Committee finds-that
Senator : Durenberger’s- partnership: ‘arrangement.” with Roger
‘Scherer “was conceived and “structured solely as a mechanism to
-enable Senator ‘Diirenberger to claim -Senate -reimbursement ' for
overnight stays in his' condominium, thereby: effectively transfer-
ring to the United States Senate and -the American taxpayer the
cost of maintaining what was essentially his personal Minneapolis
residence. : N : -
‘The Committee further finids that Senator Durenberger knowing-
ly participated in the backdating of this transaction, and that he
“knowingly participated in-changing the name of the partnership
from the “Durenberger/Scherer Partnership”’ to “703/603 Associa-
tion.”"The clear effect of this name change was to conceal Senator
- Durenberger’s’ ownership . interest ‘in the condominium from the -
Senate Disbursing Office.-- . o
. The Committee further finds that Senator Durenberger: subse-
quently structured a purported sale of the condominium to ISC,.
-and knowingly participated in.the backdating of that transaction,
in order to justify. claims for Senate.per diem lodging reimburse-
-ments. The Committee ‘finds that Mr. Overgaard of ISC was in-
duced to purchase the condominium by the Senator’s. agreement to
rent the unit a. sufficient-number of days to pay:all costs associated.
. with the. unit. Senator: Durenberger entered -into this agreement
. with the express- understanding that such .rent would be financed
largely by Senate per diem. reimbursement payments. The Commit-
tee also finds that Senator Durenberger was in effect only tempo-
rarily “parking” the condominium with ISC. »
" The Committee_further finds that in late 1987, Senator Duren-
berger directed.the submission to the Senate Disbursing Office of
vouchers, supported by backdated invoices from ISC, -claiming
Senate reimbursement for his stays in the condominium during the
period from April to June 1987, when he was the true owner of the
property. .. . .- , o s
Finally, the Committee finds that after the condominium-was
placed in the Senator’s Qualified Blind Trust, Senator Durénberger
was aware.on a continuing: basis of the status of the condominium
trust asset,. was an active and knowing participant in the manage-
ment of this asset, and repeatedly consulted with his trustee re-
garding the asset... . . o R
Finally, the Committee finds that Senator Durenberger did en-
counter severe. emotional strain from events in. his personal life.
B The Committee further finds that the severe emotional and trau-
‘@ matic events in the Senators personal. life impaired his judgement.
Thed'COénmittee finds that these factors do not excuse the Senator’s
‘& conduct. o : _
In light of these factual findings and based upon the evidence
before it, as to the violations noticed in the Committee’s Resolution
dated May 9,.1990, the. Committee has unanimously concluded that

8 In accordance with the recommendation of Special Counsel, the Committee-has concluded
that it will not recommend sanction on the basis of the Senator’s use of U.S. Senate and Capitol

facilities in 1985 for fee-earning Piranha Press appearances. °
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Senator Durenberger abused -his United States Senate_ Office.and
misused United States Senate funds through a.pattern of;im
conduct which has brought discredit upon .the United. S
Senate. As part of his public trust, a Senator has.a duty t
honestly and forthrightly with the Senate and. its. Member,
cers, and employees.- This: duty embodies an .obligation not to.con
ceal relevant information. The Committee. concludes that. Senatg
Durenberger violated his public trust in connection with his receipt -
of reimbursements for staying in a condominium-which was essen
tially his personal residence in Minneapolis. A Senator’s obliga-
tions to the public should not be subordinated to his personal-fi
nancial interests. The Committee finds that this.occurred here. -
The Committee further concludes. that:- Senator. Durenberger
knowingly communicated and corresponded with the trustee of his
Qualified Blind Trust from February 1986 until December 1989,.in -
violation of The Ethics in Government Act, specifically 2-U.S.C; -
§ 702(e)B)CXvi), 2 U.S.C. §702e)BXC)vii), and 2. U.SC.
§ 702)6)(B). - . . o : S

V. RECOMM]_«:NDATIONS AND REFERRALS |
" A. Recommendation of Denouncement .

Based on the findings spéciﬁed above, the Committee hei‘eBy rec-
ommends that the Senate agree to the following Resolution: .

Resolved: That the conduct of Senator Durenberger in .~
connection  with his arrangement with Piranha Press, his
failure to report receipt of travel expenses in connection-
with his Piranha Press and Boston area appearances, his -
structuring of real estate transactions and receipt of .
Senate reimbursements in connection with his stays in his -
Minneapolis condominium, his pattern of prohibited com:- * -
munications' respecting the condominium, his’repeated ac-

- ceptance of prohibited gifts of limousine service for person- - -
al purposes, and the’conversion of a campaign contribution” * -
to his personal use, has been reprehensible and has™
brought the Senate into dishonor and disrepute; S

That Senator Durenberger knowingly and willingly en-
gaged in conduct which was in violation of statutes, rules -
gnd Senate standards and acceptable norms of ethical con- -

uct; ' ‘ y T

That Senator Durenberger’s conduct was clearly and un- -
equivocally unethical, and; R v o

That, therefore, pursuant to Article 1, Section 5, Clause -
2 of the United States Constitution and Senate Resolution '
338 of the 88th Congress, as amended, Senator David "~
Durenberger be, and hereby is: N : v

(1) denounced by the United States Senate; o -
(2) referred to the Republican Party Conference for' .
attention; and o o

(3) directed to reimburse $29,050 plus interest to the
"' Senate; and to pay to charities with which he has no
affiliation $93,730, less state and federal taxes previ- -
ously paid on that amount, in excess honoraria im--

Jury 18, 1990.
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properly retained during 1985 and 1986, such pay-
ments to bq made at the regular intervals over the
balance of his United States Senate term. '

B. Recommendation Regarding Senate Rules

Pursuant to Supplementary Rule 9(c) the Committee recom-
ends the following changes in Senate Rules and policies.

The. Comml‘ttee’s investigation revealed much uncertainty sur-
nunding the interpretation of 40 U.S.C. § 193d, and the Committee
m Rules and Administration’s “Policy for Use of Senate Rooms
The _gusslell Rotgmda and Courtyard, and The Hart Atrium.” To
frovide clear and unequivocal guidance for th it-
lee recommends that ?:he Ruleg Boticy o ‘ne Commit
skpressly provide that “honorarium” and other “fee-earning” ap-

arances or speeches are prohibited in Senate controlled space.

Committee’s Policy be amended to

C. Reporting tq the Federal Election Commission and the

Department of Justice

: Pursuant to Rule 8(a) of the Committee’s Rules, the i

will refer the matter to the Federal Election Com,rnissiocltlm:rrl?iltttﬁg

partment of Justice for their attention.

This Report of the Senate Select Committee on Ethics on the In-

estigation of Senator David Durenberger is approved for submis-

tion to-the Senate, and we recommend expeditious consideration of
e Resolution contained herein. ' '

. HoweLL HeruIN,

Chairman.

WARREN B. RubMAN,
Vice Chairman.

DAvip PryoR.

TERRY SANFORD.

JESSE HELMS.

TrENT LorT.



" APPENDIX A

s RESOLUfrroiv FOR INVESTIGATION . o
«‘Whereas, the Select Committee on Ethics on March 1, 1989 initi-
afed a Preliminary Inquiry into allegations of misconduct by Sena-

for David Durenberger, and notified. Senator Durenberger of such
sction on March 2, 1989; and

- Whereas; on August 3, 1989,_6n the basis of information which
ame available during the Preliminary Inquiry the Committee

en Initial Review into certain of the allegations; and - - T

" Whereas, the Committee has received the Final Report of Special
Qutside Counsel relating to the allegations; and : o .
Whereas, on the basis of such evidence, there are - possible viola-
fions of law,

-paign contribution in violation of Section 434(bX2) of the Feder-

~al Election Campaign Act and FEC regulations, by transferring

to Piranha Press Inc. a $5,000 check made out to “Durenberger

for U.'S. Senate.” T '
(4)Senator Durenberger may have violated 40° U.S.C. 193d

-and the Senate Rules Committee’s regulation prohibiting the

commercial use of Senate space, when he was paid an honorar-

amn A
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3. Whether you may have converted a campaign contribution
to your personal use in violation of Senate Rule 38, paragraph
-2, and failed to report and deposit a campaign contribution in
violation of 2 U.S.C. §484 and 11 CFR § 103.3, by transferring -
:to Piranha Press the Pathology Practice Association Federal
~ Political Action Committee check number 144 in the amount.of
- $5,000, dated December 30, 1986, made payable to “Duren-
berger for U.S. Senate.” See Special Counsel Ex. 25,

4. Whether you may have violated 40 U.S.C. § 193d, as inter-
- preted by the Senate Cormittee.on Rules and Administration,
by giving speeches in U.S. Capitol-and- Senate facilities on or
about March 3, 1985; March 25, 1985; April 11, 1985; April 24,
'1985; September 9, 1985; and November 12,.1985, in exchange
for payments directed to Piranha Press totalling approximate-
~ ly $6,250. See Special Counsel Exs. 41, 60, 61,:157. .

5. Whether you may have violated Senate Rule 85 by accept-
ing gifts of limousine service for round trip transportation be-
tween the Boston metropolitan area and Concord, Massachu-
setts, on approximately 21 occasions in 1985 and 1986 .for a
total value of approximately $4,935. See Special Counsel Exs. 5,
- 17, 21, 388, 42, 50, 67, 76, 79, 107, 119, 126-127, 151, 155~156,-160.

6. Whether you may have engaged in conduct, as described
above, which reflects upon the Senate as set forth in Section
2(311)%) oflsieglate Resolution 338, as amended. See Special Coun-
. sel Exs. 1-161. :

i ther fee for six appearances in Senate controlled spac
1sllllrtr)‘lieocli; 20 the statutory and Rules Committee pro%bltlgn. ‘oun
(5) Senator Durenberger may hgve accepted gifts of grviol
transportation (limousine service) in the BOStondali?)%fimin ol
tion of the Senate Gifts Rule (35) during 1985 ar}x1 8 ,
nection with personal travel to Concord, Massac 1;1_1set. cs)n
(b) That the Committee sPhall groceieguisl(; g'naflrlllves igati
i lementary Procedura : ) o
CO(ISm'i‘t}E:,: SSueI;f;tor. Durgnberge_r, ghall be given tnPely }\l;zsrltte
notice of this resolution and informed of a resppn_desnt_'s_rllg e
suant to the :Rules of the Committee; and} tpat Chp'e'c;?lan g
Counsel shall provide to the Chairman and V 1_geh 'agé :
liminary draft of such written ‘notice no later than
9%. : S
R [BY HAND] -

und

Hor>1.> DAVID F. DﬁI’ZENBERGER}i o
U.S: Senate, DCV . - | »
Washington, DC. ' v o
DEARg'SENATOR DurENBERGER: On Thursday, Fe}?ruar}; gzé
the United States Senate Seléct Committee on Ethics vo "13: tog
duct an Investigation, pursuant to Committee Suplil}(lam:_llllbgg 2 » ed.. A
5, of certain matters which previously bad }Beeln'tt f :thé'JCo i The Committee will consider all relevant and probative evidence
Preliminary Inquiry and thitial Re e B e to etl:e r with a sta elating to these matters, including but not limited to that cited
e D g i violations, as 1o tl(l)irs;oél "bgfogéaovllflfliittéei.s Pp gbOve, documents and other Jmaterials provided to the Committee
ment of the possible violations, as requirt arked andis” y the individuals and organizations listed in Attachment A, depo-
mentary Rule 5(c). Relevant evidence ha’s;;beef_l mar . ﬁ 1 and’ X iion testimony of witnesses listed in Attachment B, and matorials
ferred to herein as “Special Counsel Fix.”" Copies of these - P",eYVlousl_)lrlptI)’ovic}?d (tlz‘;;hel 1Co'mmitt}e;e by ’YOu(.i i b . -
ded hereto. ; ‘ : FURATRR UREPT: wlou will be afforded all the rights provided by the Committee
ar%ﬁgrg:mfnittee has determined .thz}t t&ﬁg@ég;ﬁ;ﬁg&ﬁlé%fgl’ ' upple:neniéalg Rultes (cg};y enclose(;l)E includti.ng tlfl.e oplln\cirtugity tc%
Bl ows it s rission may have ocmrrd Al Aaiemen and o respnd b guestions o e o
ingly, the Investigation will examine the following matters “iould you elect to avail yourselt of the rier ta Joungel. Fiually,
&Y 1. Whether you may have violated 2 U.S.C. §31-1. b Rule 5(d), the Committes would agk that your moanng PUI iant
U.S.C. § 441i through an arranfirleme’nt W‘(tih yo;ioililrt;};i}e}ly al Counsel to the Committee agree on a date. for the hearing to
. rsuant to which you made ap mately mmence. ree
;?)I;};:rgc?::’a%:l/or speeches during 1985 and .1_978§Vbefor Sincerely,
ous businesses, associations and other _grganlzatzllgn )
which was charged a fée for your appearance, and 1
for which you received $100,000 from_Plranha,PAlielss
cial Counsel Exs. 1_3%6034—49’ 51-66, 67-78, 80-118
- 52-154, 157-160. B -
122 1V5§9f1e11?h'erryou" may  have violated Sqnate_ _Rule, 34,
" Ethics In Government Act, as amended) by failing to:c ;
in a timely fashion on your annual financial disclosure fo
" for 1985 and 1986 the reimbursement of travel expenses Jel
ed to approximately forty—thrge 1%pli$ax'2511ncze7s ggdé gr,gsg;_)_?fc
i i Se]. EXS- 4, 6, —d1VY, Ly Iy > y Oy y XYy
EZQ 4$6p eli:éalﬁlogg, 57, 74, 80-81, 84-87, 92, 95, 100,.103, 1061
109, 111, 114, 116-118, 121123, 125, 129, 131, 135-136, 141-
146-150, 152, 160-161. ;

HowerrL HerFLiN,
Chairman.
WARREN B. RubmaN,

) Vice Chairman.
ttachments.

FITACHMENT A—QORGANIZATIONS AND INDIVIDUALS THAT PRODUCED
DoCUMENTS To THE U.S. SENATE SELECT CoMMITTEE ON ETHICS IN
WTHE MATTER OF SENATOR Davip F. DURENBERGER :

1A Limousine Renting, Inc.

1B, Laffer Associates

bbott Northwestern Hospital
ickerly Communications, Inc.
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Ad Hoc Committee for Western Utilities )
American Association of Equipment Lessors
American Association of Nurse Anesthetists
American Association for Respiratory Therapy
American Bankers Association - ' T
Armierican Business Conference

American College of Cardiology

American College of Physi¢ian Executives -~ -
American College of Radiology £ ”

American College of Surgeons—Minhesota Chapter o '"

American Council for Capital Formation -
American Group Practice Association’
American Healthcare Institute
American Healthcare Systems

American Hospital Association

American Insurance Association

American International Automobile Dealers Association -

American Medical Association :

American Medical Association Auxiliary, Inc..

American Medical Association -Political
(AMPAO) ' '

American Occupational Therapy'Associati:@n,A chorporated )

American Podiatric Medical Association

American Protestant Health Association -

American Psychiatric Association

American Society of Association Executives

American Society of Internal Medicine S
American Society of Plastic & Reconstructive Surgeons.
American Southwest Financial Corp. ;
American Waterways Operators

Americans for Generational Equity

Annenberg Center for Health Sciences, EisenhbWer Mediéal C_e'

"Arthur Anderson & Co. -

Association of Academic Health Centers

Association of Data Processors ,
Association of Metropolitan Water Agencies

Bartlett; Charles '

Bishop, Cook, Purcell & Reynolds

Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Michigan

Blue Cross of California

Bristol-Myers Company

Brown University

Campbell—Raupe Associates, Inc.

Capitol Associates, Incorporated

Carey of Boston : .
Castroviejo Society—World Gongress on the Cornea
Catholic Charities USA Lo .
Cedars—Sinai Medical Center

. Center for Cost Effective Care (Brigham and ~Women’s-Hosp1”

. Harvard Medical School)
Chemical Manufacturers Association
Chicago Council on Foreign Relations

. Civil Services, Incorporated o
Clark Abt for Congress

Action - Comumiitte
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' D:C.-Society. of Internal Medicine ‘
Distilled Spirits Council of the United States, Inc.

Drexel Burnham Lambert, I
Duffy Wall, Incorporated » Ancorporated

Econlomic Céub of Detroit

mployers Council on Flexib

quitable Life Assurance Socliigzom

armlax}d Industries, Incorporated

_ Federation of American Hospitals

Fmgnmal Executives Institute
1e1shmz_1n—Hi11ard, Inc.

pensation

eneral Electric C
eneral Mills ompany

© Goldman, Sach d
" Graefe, Fred s and Company

rocery Manufacturers of America, I N
Group Health Associati America, T rated
roup Health ciation of America, Inc.
arvard School of Health Poli

Health America Corporati_oxi> e

Health Care Financial . .
Health Data Instiputs. | -2oment Association

‘Health Industry Distri o
Health In. dustrg MlS ributors Association

'Herri.ck ndy Smithanufacturers Association
Hospital Corporation of America
gg:p;tt:a% 8ounci% of Central California
pital Council of Southe i i

Hughes Aircraft Company rn California
Information Resources, Inc.
Invest to Compete Alliance
lIIm}rlestIE)Irs Malx;kﬁ;ing' Association

ohn Hancoc utual Li
%ol}nsorll?& Johnsonua Life Insurance Company
aiser Foundation Health Pl
Kendall and Associates an of G-A., Inc.
; King & Spaul.ding
i Laxalt, Washmgton, Perito & Dubue
“Lewin & Associates, Incorporated
%}?eljty Mutual Insurance Co. o
“Lite insurance Association of
.Liz Robbins Associates " of Massachusetts
- Lockheed Corporation
_;‘Mahoney, Michael
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Manning, Selvage & Lee

Maryland Hospital Association

Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Co.
McDermott, Will & Emery :
McGraw-Hill ’

Medical Group Management Association

Medical Society of the District of Columbia
Medtronic, Incorporated N :
Midwest Pension Conference, Chicago Chapter
Miller & Schroeder Municipals, Inc:

Mintz, Levin, Cohen, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C.
Montgomery County Medical Society L
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company

National Association of Alcoholism Treatment Programs, Inc.

National Association of Bond Lawyers

National Association of Chain Drug Stores, Inc.

National Association of Container Distributors

National Asseciation of Realtors o

National Association of Senior Living Industries

National Association of Wholesale Distributors

National City Bank of Cleveland -

National Council on Alcoholism

National Grocery Association .

National Health Lawyers Association

National Homebuilders . . N
National Machine Tool Builders Association (NMTBA)
National Medical Enterprises, Inc. ’
National Multi-Housing Council ,
National Restaurant Association . R
National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA)
New England Mutual Life Insurance Company. L
Northrop Corporation S o
Norwest Bank Midland, N.A. |

O’Conner & Hanan

Outdoor Advertising Assoc. of America, Incorporatédf._..,‘.ff:' L

Outpatient Ophthalmic Surgery Society
Owens- Illinois oo
Paine Webber :

Palo Alto Medicial Foundation
Pathology Practice Associates

Pathology Practice Association Federal ,Poli-tic_ial Actiqn_Cdinmitfee

Pfizer, Incorporated ,

Pitney Bowes, Incorporated
Powers, Pyles, Sutter & O’'Hare -
Project HOPE ' '
Prudential-Bache Securities
Public Securities Association
Puerto Rico Hospital Association
Puerto Rico, USA Foundation
R.J.R. Nabisco, Inc.

R.J.R. Tobacco, Inc.

Raytheon Compan

Renewable Fuels Association
Riverside Methodist Hospital
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4 Rochester Area Hospital Cor i
Russell Reynolds AsIs)ociates, }EEZ?tmn
Salomon Brothers, Incorporated

- ASarasota Memorial Hospital

g Shawgnut Bank, N.A. ~

-4 Securities Industry Association

AThe Health Ceéntral Corporati -
The Hospital Associati'()111)=»oigi'Plon f a
e Tobacco Institute - :grgngsylvania‘

The ‘Washington Campus -

Thompson, Hine & Flory - =

Travenol ‘Laboratories, Incorpor :
EE{SW(’j}IIHCOrporated > ncorporgted-
. Chamber of Commerce
US Health Corp. = - erc_g - :
niversity of Wisconsin World Affai in:
alve Manufacturers ‘Association fairs Semmax"
V.R. Grace & Company - -
Warngr Lambert' Company
Washington Discussion Group
#Veil, Gotshal & Manges =~
s.W!uf,e, Fine & Verville
William & Jensen ~

: ATTACHMENT B—DEPOSITIONS CONDUCTED:IN THE MATTER OF
’SE‘NATOR Davib F. DURENBERGER

 DEPONENT ,ANI),DA’I}E

amond, Gary, 4/26/89, 5/24/89 Graefe i |

" - y < > efe,' F >

gﬂl{)eﬂy’ D;))nna, 4/ %8/ 89, 5/24/89; Horner, Thonf:sdeﬁ%l’?/81)ﬂ5l//2940/’

4789, 3/20/90; Matrinos, Jods &/ Hanonsy Mickna; 4/21/00

i ) &/2VrI0; n, * Jodl;--9/5/89; Roan, Jim, :

b %‘g.ede.r, don, 4/28/89; Shaw, Heidi, 5/08/89; Sternmé’ari/zglséi?/,
; Wilbur, Robert; 12/19/89. -~ . > SAmEES
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o ) . .
Hon. Davip F. Dugrg
U.S. Senate, NPERGER,
Washington, DC.
- DEAR SENATOR DURENBERGE
) ‘ R: On Wednesday, M
United States Senate Select Committee on Ethiyc,s v:t};dg’tol Sc):ii(l)l’dfz}(l:(ta

May 14, 1990:

APPENDIX‘ B
RESOLUTION FOR Il\:I'VESTIGATION

Whereas, the Select Committee on Ethics on December-21, 1
initiated a Preliminary Inquiry into allegations of miscondu
Senator David Durenberger respecting his receipt of Senateire
bursements for use of a Minneapolis condominium;:an ti
Senator Durenberger of such action; and : IR

Whereas, the Committee retained Special Counsel Robert S.-B
nett to conduct the Inquiry under the direction of-the:Chairmal
and Vice Chairman; and - ‘ C e T i

Whereas, the Committee has received the Report: of -Spec
Counsel relating to the allegations; and . - % . e

Whereas, on the basis of such evidence there is possible: impro
conduct which mSay reﬂecié upo;ll éhe Senate -(as co(rlltg;l_lplated enate funds throneh p
-Section 2(a)(1) of S. Res. 338, 88th Congress, as amended) an L o ough a pattern of improper . :

" ble violations of laws or Senate Rules within the Committee's:jt iscredit ‘upon the United States Sengte.pSu:I(l)nc%llll(guf:Vthmh bI}':ngs
diction under Senate Resolution 388 (88th Congress); i : may have

It is therefore resolved: G e 7Dl

(a) That the Committee determines that there is substantial ¢
ible evidence which provides substantial cause for the Commi
to conclude that:violations within the Committee’s jurisdiction:ma:

have occurred, to wit: . ST ST .
(1) Senator Durenberger may have abused his United Sta
Senate Office and misused United States Senate funds thro

a pattern of improper- conduct- which has brought- discr

upon the United States Senate. Such conduct may- have inc
‘ed the submission .of misleading travel reimbursement vo

- ers to the Senate Disbursing Office, the misirepresentatio]

the ownership of the property for which he was claiming 1

- ing reimbursement, and the backdating of real estate trans

tions and certain documentation relating to those transactio

(2) Senate Durenberger also may have violated certain pr:

sions of the Ethics in Government Act relating to the adm

tration of his qualified blind trust, including those provis
relating to communications regarding the trust and its assefs

(b) That the Committee, pursuant to Committee Supplementaz
Procedure Rules 3(d)(5) and 4(H(4), shall proceed to an Investig

under Committee Supplementary Procedural Rule 5; and ;

(¢) That Senator Durenberger shall be given- timely

notice of this resolution and informed of a respondent’s rights pug

suant to the Rules of the Committee.

fllggllélll(?l’l tli)y this 11;etter, the Committee is providing notice of that
tions, o reql)x?;:a’d bo‘gectgslrm\;?g? gv vstaltementof the possible viola-
. The Committee has determj red that thares aule 5(c).

| X ned that there is substantj i

y e which provides substantial o G credible

0 [ ubstar cause for the Co i

e Inve:e tg}atta_t violation within its jurisdiction may havrgrtl)légziiego
o oy ?nlg;[ igrﬁeicgzﬁgrnquertain transactions involving a condo-
inium i 18, Minnesota, as well as your i f
tr:sge rimbursements for using the condominium):)n Ic'e:;,}:f 1p&: o
po elIl ugust 1983 and mid-November 1989, : " cars
-Lhe lnvestigation will examine whether you may have abused

igation also will examine whether
o . . . ou i R
aﬁﬁtelzieb]i')ilg)&nts;zgtss 01£n gllfd_Ethlscs ti_n G(;vernmejzrlt Alzlta i"elllz?t‘;ﬁgwt(z)
al sts, i Ing Sections 702(e)(8)(c) and 702
Ing to communications re i it e
iny , garding the t i
ecial Counsel Exs, 258-352 attached hereto, 1 Souets. See
s ozgn;ﬂspee will consider all relevant and probative evidence;
oy documelr?tsn;?flegt hl:cludlélg_blut ‘not limited to that cited
wthor g 2nd o orr materials provided to the Committee
: _ ganizations, and depositi i
;Oelf:eg(.) lgi)s}:lesT%fet}Clese rr;aterials have prevll?ou;l;)%::gtg?ggi}ésg
' om : . .
ly provided to the Committgg ﬁ;s%fll consider materials previ-

ksent a statement and to res i

; | 1 pond to quest .

Figg.lnllmlttl;ee, Commltt_ee Staff, or-Specig.l %so;(;;sel.for Members of
tpu lﬁ’l cpaeda}sc(ei _be advised t.hat the Committee has voted to con-
iy a gzltelcatory hearings i_n connection with the Investiga-
iy s matt g’yatrllg téloe nflrlllv:stlgatiolx; li)ni:o other matters previ-
Sly anr ittee on February 22, 1990 i
;held in Room 216, Hart Senate Office Bui%,ding, Wa‘s?lrilr(ligtvgﬁl
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e 12, 1990. Tw

g

: i i :30 a.m. on Jun
D.C. Hearings will commence at 9:
weeks of hearings have been scheduled, . )

Cordially, HowegLl, HEFLIN,
Chairman. ol
‘WARREN B. RUuDMAN, -
~ Vice Chairman.
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--L INTRODUCTION

~Special Counsel submits this Report in'the matter of Senator -
David F. Durenberger pursuant-to Rule 5(f)(1) of the Supplementa-
ry Procedural Rules of ‘the United States Senate Select Committee
- on Ethics ! (the “Committee”), This" Report contains findings. and
recommendations based upon the “evidence gathered ‘during the
course of the Committee’s proceedings in this matter. :
. Initially, the Report reviews the procedural background of the
\ i j of the Committee’s Investigation.

: - The Report then ‘addresses the scope ‘of the Committee’s author-
ity to investigate and ‘sanction misconduct of “Members, and briefly

¢ reviews Senate precedents. A listing of the laws, Senate rules and

. other ethical considerations-applicable to the Committee’s Investi-

. gation in this matter also is included. -

. The Report then discusses in detajl the evidence relevant to each

' of the ‘matters under I igati s

3. Reliance on Contacts with Ethics and —Rules Committee - =

Staffs.....

C The Piranha Press Arrangement as a Contract for Contmg_mg, :

1CEE tevvvverereccrvanenrerrroronses A : i 'ttee’s
X FindingS: rgfm%?iolations' as Noticed and Specified in the Cornml

Resolutions..

A."Violations as Noticed in the Committee’g Resqlutlpn
22, 1990.........
B. Violations as

!

of Februar§

II. SUMMARY

‘The relevant factual background and Special Counsel’s findings

in this matter are summarized briefly below.

"A. Piranhg Press, Gifts Of Limousine Wan;sportation and Related
‘ . o Matters. .

i 1. SENATOR DURENBERGER’S ARRANGEMENT WITH PIRANHA PRESS

~ ‘Between 1984 ‘and 1986, Piranha Press published two books au-
' thored by Senator Durenberger: Neither Madmen nor Messiahs and
Prescription for Change. Under the terms of his agreement with Pi-
.ranha Press, Senator Durenberger made approximately 1138 book
“promotional appearances” before various trade associations, col-
leges and businesseS;during 1985 and 1986. Each of these groups
paid Piranha Press a fee for the Senator’s appearance, typically be-
tween $1,000 and $5,000 plus. travel expenses. Piranha Press in
turn paid the Senator $100,000 in quarterly installments over a two
year period. ' ' )

into’ “stipendiary income” that which would otherwise have been
thonoraria income, and that Senator Durenberger therefore violated
2US.C. §31-1and 2 USC. '§ 441i. Special Counsel also finds that

N

' ! Hereinafter cited as the “Committee Rules.”
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Senator Dui'eﬁberger was cautibnéd against the arrange-
ment with Piranha Press by several of his advisors. :
Special Counsel finds that through this pattern of conduct, Sena-

tor Durenberger has brought discredit ‘upon the United States-
- Senate, - R '

Durenberger knowingly and actively participated in thi
S::-l:rfgzment, the%bvious effect of which was to circumvent-statu
tory limitati_on% on h(iné)raria lirfl'cogleésifollo{;‘rs S o

i ecial Counsel finds S T
Spec’i‘%zalslgﬁa&r’s-contract with Piranha Press did not constltutfl:._
a good faith book publishing or promotional arrangement and
instead was, in the words of a publishing industry expert,.an
“extraordinary” arrangement as measured against the, norm
ithi industry. o s L
WI'ti‘}llll: ;Eili?lcipal_ .pgrpose of the Senator’s agreement with Pira
nha Press was to permit.the Senator to earn fees for -Speaklllils
engagements, rather than to promote the sale of his :l,)oo
Over the term of the agreement, Senator D.urenberge’r,sr,f ap
pearances generated approximately $248,300 in speaker s.fee
- as compared to approximately $15,500 in book sales. = .-
None of the Senator’s 113 Piranha Press appearances was
the result of invitations to the Senator to appear and promote,
his books. Similarly, neither Gary Diamond nor Plranha.Pre_sli,:
initiated any of these appearances. Instead, all were the result -
_ of invitations to deliver a traditional honorarium speech;: ex.

2. GIFTS OF LIMOUSINE TRANSPORTATION

y

etts, approximately twenty miles from Boston. Senator Duren-
berger often made the trips from Boston to Concord and back to
Boston by limousine, rented from A and A Limousine Renting, Inc.
The cost of this limousine travel and other limousine travel in the
Boston area, estimated at $3,600, was paid by various organizations
with a direct interest in legislation. :

Specifically, on eleven occasions in 1985 and 1986 Senator Duren-

tended to the Senator in his capacity as a. United.States.Sena ord, but did not meet with representatives of any business or orga-
tor. ‘ . - I o ;'.: . LT 7 R c |

. orm -of his agreement with Piranha Press 1 Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger accepted these
Serflgigll'l gﬁgr;n%ggt;e: rgegsonlallyg designated as' Piranha Pres ifts of limousine transportation in the Boston, Massachusetts area

:in. 1985 and- 1986 in violation of Senate Rule 35. Senator Duren-

erger, through counsel, has admitted that his conduct violated
his Rule. 2 )

- speeches certain-honor?;ium-speech invitations received in_hi
i tates Senate office. Ceoel T
Urxge%esnator Durenberger approached his honoraria mcong
ceiling in 1985, speech invitations simply were forwardedd
his United States Senate staff to Piranha Press to be treated as
tional appearances. - - R
prgglr;)ator Duggnberger*made a number ‘of “promotional ?1_
pearances’ in which he mentioned ne1t_her his books nor &
“publisher. Often, the groups before which the Senator m;ai_
these appearances were told that it was not necessary 30 hlS
play the books. Other organizations, -after bel.ng notlf:i,eb t kas
the Senator’s appearance would be in promotion of his boo
were unable to obtain copies of those books to distribute t,
heir attendees. A ' i} ) ,
: Fh'?‘he Senator made a number of “promotional ‘appearances
before health care groups well before the pubhcatlop_pf
‘ k on health care topics. B A S
b()-’(I)‘wenty-s‘ix paymentpchecks, payable to Senator Durenberge
for his appearances; totalling $56,750, were depos}ted into.
Piranha Press bank account—twenty-one of which reflect;
Senator Durenberger’s personal endorsement to Piranha Press
At twenty-three appearances treated by Senator D
berger as Piranha Press events, other Mgmb_e;‘_s of Congr
also spoke. Unlike Senator Durenberger, these other Mem
reported receipt of honoraria income for their appearances .
~ . On several occasions members of the Senator’s stafﬂor_ repre
sentatives of Piranha Press insisted that a group for which th
Senator was to appear pay a fee in excess of $_2,000 for the Sen:
ator’s appearance.

8. OTHER MATTERS RELATED TO PIRANHA PRESS
Failure to Report Reimbursements

On May 15, 1986, Senator. Durenberger filed his Financial Disclo-
sure Report for the 1985 ¢alendar year. At that time, the Senator
failed to report his receipt of travel expense reimbursements from
twenty-seven organizations before which he made Piranha Press or
Boston area appearances in 1985, Similarly, Senator Durenberger’s
1986 Financial Disclosure Report, filed on May 15, 1987, did not in-
clude his receipt of travel expense reimbursements from sixteen or-
ganizations before which he made such appearances in 1986.

~ On July 27, 1989, several months after the Committee initiated
these proceedings, Senator Durenberger filed amended Financial
Disclosure Reports for the 1985 and 1986 calendar years. These Re-
ports include lists of reimbursements for travel expenses that Sena-
tor Durenberger received from thirty-nine organizations in 1985
and 1986. To date Senator Durenberger has failed to disclose reim-
bursements for travel expenses that he received from four organi- .
tions for five trips that he made in 1985, . ' g
Special Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger violated Senate
Rule 34 by failing to report on his Financial Disclosure Reports for
calendar years 1985 and 1986 the acceptance from forty-three orga-
nizations of reimbursement for the necessary expenses of travel, in
sconnection with his Piranha Press “promotional appearances” and
 certain travel to the Boston metropolitan area. -
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b. Improper Conversion of a Campaign Contribution

Senator Durenberger addressed the Pathology Practice : Associa-
tioie’;1 annual meetiﬁg on December 5, 1986. The Association did
not pay the Senator an honorarium or fee fo? this appearance. In-
stead, the Association’s Federal Political Action gommlttee sent a.
check in the amount of $5,000 and payablg to Durgnber_ger for
U.S. Senate’”” to the Senator’s official campaign committee in Min-

lis. . ' o
ne’%}%‘i)s check, which was intended as a campaign contribution, was
deposited without endorsement to the Piranha Press a}fzcount, from..
which Senator Durenberger was paid for his many promqtlonal_v
appearances.” Special Counsel finds that this conduct violates
Senate Rule 38, paragraph 2, which prohibits the conversion of con-
tributions to personal use. o

c. Use of United States Capitol and Senate Facilities

ix separate occasions in 1985, Senator Dux:enberger made .P ;
rar?llllaSIPresg “promotional appearances” in United States Capitol
and Senate rooms. For each of these appearances, Piranha Press
was paid a fee ranging from $250 to $2,000. It is clear that Senatgr_
Durenberger’s conduct was contrary to the regulations qdoptgefi. Y,
the Rules Committee governing the use of these Senate facilities
The Rules Committee has communicated its regu!atlf‘)ns on this:
subject numerous times to Members of the Senate in “Dear Sejnaj

” letters. )
toli“rom Special Counsel’s investigation, however, it appears that.r
these regulations are not well known or und'erstood by the Sena;cg;
Members. In addition, there is some question as to whether 4
U.S.C. §193d governs the Senator’s conduct. Accordingly, Spec;a
Counsel further recommends that the Committee provide to Senag,
tor Durenberger the benefit of the doubt on this issue, and not fine
a violation or recommend disciplinary sanctions for this conductf _

Special Counsel recommends that, in order'»to‘el;mmate any fur-:
ther confusion on this issue, pursuant to Committee Rules 8(c) the .
Committee take such appropriate action as is necessary to clearl; v
and unequivocally prohibit such conduct by all Members in the
future.

B. Condominium Transactions
1. OUTLINE OF RELEVANT FACTS

n June 1979, Senator Durenberger pu?chased a one-bedro
cofldominium (unit 603) in Minneapolis, which he then used during
his frequent travels to that city. In 1988, tl}e Seqator begar} to ex- ;
plore various dispositions of the property, including a poss1b1ek:ex;‘,
change- of condominiums with Roger Scherer and a lease-back’ of
his former unit (#603) from Mr. Scherer. Senator Durenberger has |
represented that ultimately, “effective” July 28, 1983 he formed an -
investment partnership with Mr. Scherer, to which both the .Sgnaj
tor and Mr. Scherer contributed their respective condominium .
units.” Senator Durenberger rented his unit (#603) from the parj:-i,”
nership at a per diem rate of $65. The deed conveying the Senator’s

‘withdraw from the. partnership. Accordingly,
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unit to the partnership was filed with the county Registrar of
Titles on May 14, 1984. B g
_In June 1985 Senator Durenberger placed his “interest in this -
partnership into a qualified blind trust established pursuant to the
Ethics.in Government Act. Subsequently, in his capacity as general
Ppartner, he deeded',the_covndominium property to. Michael Mahoney
as trustee of that trust.2 ' :
In August 1986, Mr. Scherer notified the Senator of his intent to
the partnership af-
fairs were terminated as of March 31, 1987. “Effective” April 1,
19817, the Senator sold the condominium unit for $52,804 to the In-
dependent Service Company [“ISC”], a Minnesota business owned
by Paul Overgaard. Following this sale, the Senator rented the con-
dominjum from ISC at a per diem rate of $85. The necessary legal
documents evidencing this sale were not delivered to Mr. Over-
gaard until October 1989, and have never been filed with the Regis-
trar of Titles. Accordingly, legal title to the property has never
been transferred to ISC. : '
Throughout this period from August 1983 to mid-November 1989,

~ Senator Durenberger claimed and received $40,055 in Senate travel

reimbursements for the costs incurred in renting the condominium

- from the partnership and ISC.3

2. THE PARTNERSHIP TRANSACTION. AND SALE TO INDEPENDENT SERVICE
: COMPANY, INC.

- Special Counsel finds that in this matter Senator Durenberger
engaged in a pattern of conduct which has served to bring discredit
upon the United States Senate. Specifically, the facts evidence that
Senator Durenberger participated in the creation of backdated doc-
umentation of the real estate transactions at issue. :

Special Counsel further- finds that these transactions were con-
ceived and-orchestrated wholly as a means of permitting the Sena-
tor to claim Senate per diem ‘reimbursements for staying in what

. was in essence his Minnesota residence. Finally, Special Counsel

finds that at various times the Senator concealed from the Senate
Disbursing  Office his interest in the condominium property, and
thereby misrepresented-to that Office the true ownership of the
condominium for which he was claiming rental reimbursements..

. ~Specifically, Special Counsel makes the following findings: -

-~ The partnership entity was conceived and structured as a
mechanism to enable Senator Durenberger to claim Senate re- -
imbursement for overnight stays in his condominium, and
thereby effectively to transfer to the United States Senate and
the American taxpayer the cost of maintaining what was es-
- sentially his personal Minneapolis residence.’
Until the fall of 1983, Senator Durenberger intended simply
to exchange condominium units with Roger Scherer, and then
" lease his former unit from Mr. Scherer. This contemplated ex-

2 This deed was not filed until August 24, 1988, and a new Certificate of Title was not issued
by the county Registrar of Titles until October 26, 1988. :

2 The Senator. has refunded $11,005 of this sum, in response to a recent-ruling by the Rules
Committee. .
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. change was no more than a mechanism to allow the Senator.
the benefit of Senate reimbursements. S
In the fall of 1983 the parties learned that the planned ex-
change would result in capital gains tax to the Senator, and,

~ abandoned that transaction in favor of a pa'rtnershlp. The p
ties then simply backdated the partnership to July 1983
order to justify the Senator’s acceptance of Senate per dze
lodging reimbursements from July 1983 forward. S

The documents purporting to memorialize the creation of the
partnership and the transfer of the condominium to that entit,
in July 1983 were not created and executed by ‘the parties until.
early 1984. . ) _

Legal title to the condominium ultimately was not tran:
ferred to the partnership until May 1984. Even after that date,
the Senator held a fifty percent interest in the propert)vlr by
virtue of his position as a general partner. o

With the Senator’s knowledge, the name of the partnershi
entity was changed from the ‘“Durenberger-Scherer Partner-
ship” to the “703-603 Association.” The effect of that name:
change was to conceal from the Senate Disbursing Office_the«
Senator’s interest in the entity. '

As to the sale of the condominium to
1987 Special Counsel finds as follows: o
-+ - ISC was not identified as a buyer for the condominium until
the summer of 1987—several months after the purported effec-
tive date of the sale to ISC. ) '

The transaction was made retroactive to April :1, 1987, the:
date immediately following the partnership’s termination, in
order to permit the Senator to claim Senate per diem lodging
reimbursement for his condominium stays back to that date.:.’ :

In December 1987, ISC generated invoices for the Senator c)
stays in the condominium for the period from April to October
1987. Based on these newly created invoices, in December 1987
the Senator sought Senate reimbursement for.these past lod

ISC “effective” "Apr;i_l 1,

ing costs. ) : -

Mr. Overgaard would not have entered into the sales trans-’
action if the Senator had not agreed to rent the condominium
back from ISC. Mr. Overgaard further understood that this:
rental was to be financed to a significant extent through
Senate reimbursements. This being the case, it appears:that:
Senator Durenberger used the promise of Senate funds to:
secure personal gain. : -

The llt)aase agregement was not executed by the Senator or his;
representatives until April 1989 and the letter agreement re-:
flecting the purchase, the deed and related real estate docu-i
ments were not delivered to Mr. Overgaard unt1‘l Oct(_)bell,":.
1989—almost three years after the April 1,.1987 “effective”:
date of the sale. : : , - i

The documents reflect that the Senator and Mr. ‘Overgaard
agreed that Mr. Overgaard would reconvey the condominium :
to the Senator on demand. It therefore appears that Senatgrz
Duienberger in fact did not intend to surrender all rights
the property. ' R

~ tion stages of the matters under review,
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. By virtue of the principals’ failure to file the necessary docu-

- ments with the Registrar of Titles, ISC still does not have legal
‘title to the condominium. . - s C ‘
‘Although the Senator received Senate reimbursement on a
fairly regular monthly basis between February 1988 ‘and No-
" vember 1989, during that same period he made only nine lump
© sum rental  payments to ISC—thereby effectively ‘having the
‘use of Senate reimbursement funds for substantial periods of

time. o

The evidence therefore strongly suggests that the Senator intend-
ed-to do little more than “park” the condominium with Overgaard,
so that he could continue to reap the benefits of Senate per diem
reimbursements. Special Counsel finds that, through this conduct,
Senator Durenberger has abused his United States Senate Office
and misused United States funds. : :

Special ‘Counsel also finds that Senator Durenberger repeatedly
violated the provisions of the Ethics in Government Act governing
qualified blind trusts.: Specifically, it is clear that the Senator fre-
quently consulted with the trustee of his blind trust regarding the
disposition of the condominium, a principal asset of the trust, in
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 703(e)3)(c)(vi).*"

He personally negotiated the terms of the condominium sale to
ISC, and personally was involved in the efforts to bring that trans-
action to closure. ! ’ ire ica

quested and received financial information regarding the trust

 holdings, in violation of 2 U.S.C. § T02(e)3)c)(viii). -

' C Recommendqtion» of Sanction

o Special .C'ourise_l5 respectfully submits that'through this pattern of
. reprehensible conduct, Senator Durenberger: has violated laws and

Senate Rules and has brought discredit upon the United States

~ Senate. Special Counsel therefore recommends that this Committee
" report

to the full Senate a Resolution denouncing Senator Duren-

II1. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Since these proceedings were initiated approximately sixteen
months ago, Committee staff and Special-Counsel have conducted

- an exhaustive investigation seeking to discover all relevant facts.

Throughout the Preliminary Inquiry, Initial Review and Investiga-

documents were subpoe- -
naed from 198 individuals and organizations. An additional twenty-
one individuals and organizations provided documents voluntarily

- to the Committee. Approximately 240 witnesses were interviewed,

fourteen witnesses deposed, and eighty-one affidavits obtained. The

. inquiry culminated in a two day.public hearing held. on June 12

ax_;d Jur_le 13, 1990.

A Preliminary Inquiry Regarding Piranha Press and. Related
Matters R

_ Allegations involving Senator Durenberger were first brought to

the Committee’s attention on September 27, 1988, when thirty-nine -
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members of the Minnesota Bar filed a complair_lt With the Commit-
tee.* The principal issues raised in the complaint 1nvolveq‘» Senator
Durenberger’s receipt of income from Piranha Pre,a’ss, Inc. ( vPlrar.lha
Press”) for a series of “promotional appearances,” and his possible
use of improper influence to solicit speaking engagements in the
Boston metropolitan area to-coincide w1t}} scheduled appointments
with a counselor. In addition; the complaint alleged;t,hat_@heﬂ Sena-
tor received gifts of limousine service in connection. with these
rea appearances.® ) o
' Bossglr;t%r Duggnberger was notified of the Committee’s receipt- of
the complaint, and was invited to respond to the complamt in writ:
ing. Thereafter, through his counsel James Hamilton, Senator
Durenberger submitted a lengthy written response to the com-
e _ e
pl%)lgti\/[arch 1, 1989, the Committee _votgd unanimously to conduct
a Preliminary Inquiry into the issues raised in the complaint. Sen-

tor Durenberger was notified of this decision on March 2, 1989. -
gpecial Counsegl Ex. 1. This Inquiry was conducted by Committee

staff counsel. As part of the Preliminary Inquiry, the Committee
re?luested' and recgived Senator Durenberger’s files relating to the
issues under review. Committee staff counsel interviewed twenty
witnesses, and obtained affidavits from_ six of tl;ese.w;tnesses_. Staff
counsel also deposed ten other key witnesses including the Sena-
tor’s former Administrative Assistants, Thomas Horner and Doug-
las Kelley; his scheduler, Jodi Mathison; and Heidi Shaw, his book-
keeper. Staff counsel also deposed Michael Mahoney, the Minneso-
ta counsel who negotiated the Senator’s agreement with Piranha
Press on the Senator’s behalf and who later acted as Piranha
Press’ agent, and Gary Diamond, the president of Piranha Prgss: In
addition, the Committee subpoenaed relevant documents from Pira-
nha Press, as well as certain records from Piranha Press Mlnne_go-
ta bank.? . o ,

During the course of the Preliminary Inquiry, additional ques-
tions were raised relating to the Senator’s relationship with Pira-
nha Press. These questions included whether Senator Durenberger

violated Senate Rule 34 by failing to timely report reimbursements .

for travel expenses received in connection with certain Piranha
Press and Boston appearances; whether Senator Durenberger vio-
lated Senate Rule 35 by accepting certain travel and entertainment
expenses during a trip to Puerto Rico in late December 1985 and
early January 1986; whether Senator Durenberger violated Senate

. . 0 s . ) . ttee pr ) .
* Senator Durenberger noted in the public hear_mg in t_th matter that the Comml oceed‘
ings were the result of a complaint filed by his political opponents. Transcript of. Hearings

1 1 1 i ‘of Senator
the United States Senate Select Committee on Eth!.cs, Hea‘{mg on the Mattgr 0
ﬁflz’j D:rengér‘fger (J?me 13, 1990) at 39, 42 (hereinafter cited as Hearing Transcript”). It must .

however, that Special Counsel’s findings in this matter are based not upon part}sagl
gglilz,g:se;d but upon a reviewpce;(f:' documents provided to the Committee bg ,thse; Senagorfhlmsiﬁétahﬁ‘
advisors, and disinterested third parties, and upon statements of t' e Senator's forme _stal
members, his attorneys and the individuals who arranged the Senator’s appearan:lesf ds b i,
5 The complaint also alleged that Senator Durenberger misappropriated fedk:r du?o y "
properly using Senate staff and facilities to produce manuscripts for his books an arrang
T k promotional appearances. . .
fo s'bfolfis fesponse is dislc):gessed at further length in Section III, D below.

7 A limited number of organizations and individuals also provided documents to the Commit-

ily as part of its Inquiry. During the course of the Preliminary Inquiry, Mr. Hami
gi ‘\vagzla‘sm;::viﬂed gvith copies o%‘ dgyposition transcripts, affidavits and‘reports of thness mtexj»
views shortly after these became available to Committee staff, - .
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Rule 88, .paragraph 2 and the Federal Election Campaign Act by
converting to his personal use a campaign contribution; and wheth-
er Senator Durenberger violated the regulations of the Senate
Committee on Rules and Administration (“Rules . Committee’”) by
making Piranha Press appearances in Senate rooms, .

After consideration .of staff counsel’s report of the Preliminary
Inquiry, on August 3, 1989 the Committee voted unanimously . to
proceed to an Initial Review pursuant to Committee Rule 4, and to

- retain Special Counsel in this matter. Senator Durenberger was no-

tified of these decisions by letter dated August 4, 1989. Special
Counsel Exs..2-4. At that time, Senator Durenberger was advised

‘that the Initial Review would. include an examination of whether

the Senator -violated: (i) the statutory honorarium limitations set
forth in 2 U.S.C. § 31-1 and 2 US.C. § 441i through his relationship
with. Piranha Press; (ii) Senate Rule 34 by failing timely. to report
the receipt of certain travel reimbursements; (iii) Senate Rule 38,
paragraph 2 by converting to his Personal use a-campaign contribu-
tion; (iv)-Senate. Rule 37 » paragraph: 1 by soliciting sponsors in the
Boston. area to pay the expenses of personal travel; (v) Senate Rule
35 by accepting payment of personal travel expenses in the Boston
area and miscellaneous personal expenses during a trip to Puerto
Rico; and (vi) Senate Rules Committee regulations and 40 U.S.C.
§ 193d by using United States Capitol and Senate rooms for Piran-
ha Press appearances: Special Counsel Ex. 4. .

B. Initial Review Rggdrding_Piﬂ_inha Press and Related Matters

The Initial Review commenced promptly thereafter with an ex-
amination of all documents- provided by the Senator, in order to
identify each group or organization before which the Senator spoke’
during -1985 and 1986 pursuant to his agreement with Piranha
Press, as well as each group with which he met in the metropolitan

. Boston area. A total of 182 subpoenas then issued to such “sponsor-

ing organizations” and other individuals and groups' which partici-
pated in the Senator’s'appearances before these organizations.®8 -

‘Documents also were subpoenaed ‘from Michael Mahoney, Sena-
tor Durenberger’s Minnesots counsel. In addition, Piranha Press
banking records were subpoenaed from the Norwest Bank, N.A. in
Minneapolis, Minnesota.- Records of a Boston limousine company
used by the Senator during his trips to Boston also were subpoe-
naed. Seven' individuals and organizations were asked to produce
material voluntarily. Special Counsel also reviewed documents
made available to the Committee by the Rules Committee regard-

ing the use of Senate facilities for certain appearances by Senator
" Durenberger. ' : '

Following the review of these materials, 191 witnesses were
interviéwed._9 These witnesses included principally individuals em-

® In addition, Special Counsel identified a number of organizations which extended invitations
or the Senator to speak, but which withdrew their invitations of cancelled the Senator’s appear-
ance after some contact with Piranha Press. Special Counsel also identified a number of appear-
ances which at some point were treated ‘by the Senator’s staff or his publisher as promotional
events, the payment for which ultimately either was not remitted or was reported by the Sena-
tor as an honorarium. See Special Counsel Exs. 20, 24, 26;.31, 44, 69, 71, 74,

e Thesg witnesses were interviewed during both the Initial Review and Invéstigation stages of
the inquiry. .
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earing beginning on June 12, 1990, as part of its Investigation,
The Senator was advised of this decision through counsel shortly
thereafter..On May 3, 1990, the Committee publicly announced its
intention to hold a hearing in this matter. I o

loyed by or affiliated with the organizations which invited the
genator to speak, or before which the Senator spoke; in 1985 and--
1986. Special Counsel also interviewed several former members of
the Senator’s staff, including Jimmie Powell, the Senator’s Legisla-
tive Director from 1983 to August 1985; Charles Kahn, the ‘Sena- -
tor’s Legislative Assistant for health policy from 1984 to 1986; and
Anne Kelly Planning, the Senator’s personal secretary and sched-
uler from late 1983 to 1985. Special Counsel obtained -affidav
from seventy-five of the witnesses interviewed. - R

Two individuals, Robert Wilbur of the Health Industry Manufac
turers Association, and Frederick Graefe, Esquire, formerly of the
law firm of Finley, Kumble, Wagner, Heine, Underberg,' Manley,—,_'
Myerson & Casey, were deposed. In addition, Michael Mahoney was
deposed by Special Counsel. Special Counsel also transcribed and
reviewed audio and video tape recordings of thirty-fiveof _Sen:ator'
Durenberger’s “‘promotional appearances” which were provided’
either by the Senator or by the various subpoenaed organizations.

Special Counsel provided to Senator Durenberger’s counsel copies
of ‘all documents received in response to subpoenas and informal
requests during the Initial Review and Investigation, copies of the
tape transcripts referenced above, and copies of relevant: corre-

C Proceedinigs Regarding the Condominium Matter

~-The- allegations regarding Senator Durenberger’s Minneapolis
condominium came to the Committee’s attention in December 1989,
following ‘numerous: press. reports on the matter and certain pro-
ceedings before the Rules Committee. Generally, the allegations in
this matter have focused upon Senator Durenberger’s receipt of
Senate per diem lodging reimbursements for the cost of renting his
former condominium: property in Minneapolis.

1. I;RQCEEDINGS BEFORE THE RULES COMMITTEE

- On December 1, 1989, Senator Durenberger requested that the
Rules Committee review his claims for per diem reimbursements
for stays in the Minneapolis condominium. The Senator submitted
. to the Rules:Committee a statement of facts and discussion of rules

regarding this matter on December 22, 1989. Special Counsel Ex.
§ 294. Senator Durenberger emphasized in this submission that he
had relied upon his counsel’s conclusion that he was entitled to col-
lect reimbursement for the daily rental costs of the condominium,
~both when the Senate was and was not in session. The Senator
asked that the Rules Committee review this conclusion, and offered
to refund to the Senate any reimbursements that were received im-
| properly. S U '
' -By letter dated January 24, 1990, the Rules Committee advised
-Senator Durenberger that during the sine die and August recesses
' a Member is not entitled to reimbursement for expenses incurred
while at his/her. official duty station, deemed during those. periods
to be the Member’s ‘“residence” city in his/her home state, The
Committee further clarified that a Member’s “residence city” is the
Member’s usual place of residence. See Special Counsel Ex. 295.

In response to this letter, Senator Durenberger has refunded to
the Senate $11,005 as repayment of reimbursements which he re-
' ceived for lodging in the condominium during the referenced recess

%eriggg between August 1983 and November 1989. Special Counsel
x. 296. S ,

2. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE ETHICS COMMITTEE

On December 21, 1990, this Committee voted unanimously to ini-
tiate a Preliminary Inquiry regarding certain real estate and relat-
ed transactions by the Senator involving the Minneapolis condo-
minium. The Committee notified. Senator. Durenberger of its deci-
sion immediately thereafter. _

Subsequently, on December 28, 1989, Minnesota State Senator
William Luther filed a.complaint with the Committee, alleging
generally that Senator Durenberger received Senate reimburse.
ment for staying in.the condominium at a time when the Senator
was the sole owner of the unit. This complaint also asserted that
Senator Durenberger later failed to disclose to the Senate his inter-
est in the partnership from which he rented the condominium, and

spondence from the Rules Committee to all Senators.10 S
On February 6, 1990, Special Counsel submitted a Confidential
Status Report regarding the Initial Review. On February 20, 1990,
Special Counsel submitted .a Supplemental Confidential ‘Report . to
the Committee. Together, these reports constituted Special Coun-
sel’s final report of the Initial Review, pursuant to Committee Rule
4(e). , . ' o
On February 22, 1990, the Committee found “§ubspantial credible
evidence providing substantial cause” to find violations of applica-.
ble Senate Rules and laws regarding the Senator’s receipt: of.
income from Piranha Press, the acceptance of gifts of limousine,
transportation in the Boston area, the conversion of a _campaign
contribution, the receipt of fees for appearances in United States:
Capitol and Senate facilities, and the failure to _report_certain
travel reimbursements received in connection with his Piranha
Press “promotional appearances.” Accordingly, the Committee
voted unanimously to conduct an Investigation of these matters
pursuant to Committee Rule 5. Special Counsel Ex. 5. Senator
Durenberger was informed of this decision immediately thereafter.
"Pursuant to Committee Rule 5(c), Senator Durenberger was for-
mally notified of the Committee’s decision and was provided with a.
description of the evidence supporting the relevant allegations by.
letter dated March 1, 1990. At that time, the Senator and his coun-
sel also were provided with four volumes of evidentiary materials,
including witness affidavits and memoranda of interviews. Special
Counsel Ex. 6. An additional three volumes of supplementary evi-
dentiary materials were provided to the Senator’s counsel on May
10, 1990. On May 2, 1990, the Committee voted to conduct a public

19 On January 9, 1990, Special Counsel provided Senator Durrenberger’s counsel with copies
of all-documents received pursuant to subpoena and informal request as of that date. Additional"
documents were sent to counsel on January 81, 1990. On February 5, 1990, transcripts of tape -
recordings were provided, followed by three deposition transcripts and additional documents. on
February 28, 1990. R
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that in 1985 he may have placed his interest in the partnershi
a blind trust in order to evade Senate disclosure requirements
Special Counsel Ex. 293. . 5 T

By letter dated January 8, 1990, the Committee requested that
Senator Durenberger provide to it certain relevant documents. On
January 24, 1990, Senator Durenberger produced to the Committee
approximately 3,800 pages of documents in response to this re-
quest.'? In addition, the Committee subpoenaed documents from
nine individuals and companies identified as participants in vari-
ous transactions involving the Senator’s  condominium from 1983
through 1989. These individuals and companies included the Sena-
tor’s former partner in the real estate partnership, Roger Scherer;
attorneys Randall Johnson, Richard Langlais and Michael Ma-
honey, each of whom advised the Senator regarding condominium
transactions; and Paul Overgaard and the Independe_nt Service
Company, the purported purchaser of the condominium in 1987.

In addition, in early March 1990 the Committee subpoenaed-doc---
uments from Eugene Holderness, Senator Durenberger’s former .-
campaign manager. Finally, documents were provided voluntarily
to the Committee by Jean Stow, the partnership’s bookkeeper.-Cer:
tain materials also were provided to the Committee by the ‘Senate -
Disbursing Office. A , T oo

Between. February and April 1990, twelve witnesses were inter-
- viewed, including certain-former members of the Senator’s: staff.
Subsequently, interviews also were conducted of seven current and
- former staff members of the Rules and Ethics Committees. Two in
dividuals, Paul Overgaard of the Independent Service Company -
and Michael Mahoney, were deposed. The deposition transcripts
and documents received pursuant to subpoena and informal re-
quest were provided to Senator Durenberger’s counsel on May14_r
1990. . R

On May 8, 1990, Special Counsel submitted.to the Cox_’nmittee‘his
Confidential Report of the Preliminary Inquiry into this matter.!?
On May 9, 1990, the Committee found “substantla_l crgdlble_' evi- -
dence providing substantial cause” to find that a violation within g
its jurisdiction had occurred and voted to conduct an Investlgqtmn 4
regarding the condominium matter in accordance with Qommlttep ;
Rules 3(d)(5) and 4(f)(4). Special Counsel Ex. 7. The Committee noti-
fied the Senator of this decision immediately thereafter. R

Pursuant to Committee Rule 5(c), by letter dated May 14_, 199(}, -
the Committee formally notified Senator Durenberger of this deci- 3
sion. The notice stated that the Investigation would examine -
whether the Senator abused his United States Senate office and 3§
misused United States Senate funds, and whether he may have vio-
lated provisions of the Ethics in Government Act relating to quali- 3
fied blind trusts. Special Counsel Ex. 8. Two volumes of evidentiary-

!! Finally, the complaint alleged that Senator Durenberger failed to report properly to the
Senate certain transactions involving the condominium, and guestloned whethpr the Senator -8
might have violated the Internal Revenue Code in-connection with these transactions. _ - . )

12 The Senator’s January 24, 1990 submission also included some documents regarding the -
Piranha Press matter. On April 30, 1990, Senator Durenberger submitted additional documenta-
tion régarding the condominium matter. X -

'3 Special Counsel previously had given the Committee several oral reports regarding the con
dominium matter. B ) o )
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materials were provided to the Senator with this notification

- letter.1* The Committee further notified the Senator that the

public adjudicatory hearings previously scheduled to commence on
June 12, 1990 would encompass the condominium Investigation.

Special Counsel Ex. 8. » _
D. Senator Durenberger’s Presentations to the Committee Prior to
SR the Public Hearing

- Throughout these proceedings, Senator Durenberger made nu-
merous presentations to the Committee, both orally and in writing,
addressing the allegations and the evidence.

- Initially, in a lengthy written response to the original complaint
in this matter, the Senator argued that in entering into the agree-
ment with Piranha Press he relied upon an advisory opinion issued
by the Federal Election Commission (“FEC”) and the advice of his
counsel.’ As to his speeches in the Boston metropolitan area, the
Senator admitted that on some occasions his staff solicited meet-
ings for him in the Boston area to coincide with personal travel to
Boston. He also acknowledged that on certain occasions his travel
expenses were paid by the groups with whom he met. The Senator
contended that such dual or multi-purpose trips—i.e., those which
serve both business and personal objectives—are not prohibited by
Senate Rules. _

On December 22, 1989, counsel to the Senator provided to Special
Counsel his written submission to the Rules Committee addressing
the condominium matter. The Senator and his counsel then met
with the Committee in Executive Session on February 8, 1990. Sen- _
ator Durenberger addressed the Committee, discussing the Piranha
Press, Boston limousine and condominium matters during this ses-
sion. ’ :

On May 16, 1990, Senator Durenberger’s counsel submitted a
lengthy memorandum to the Committee addressing each of the
matters under Investigation. In response to the Senator’s request,
and pursuant to Committee Rule 5(c), the Senator and his counsel
also” appeared personally before the Committee in Executive Ses-
sion on May 16 and 17, 1990. At this time, both the Senator and
Mr. Hamilton made statements to the Committee and responded to
questions by Committee members regarding the Piranha Press,
condominium and other matters under review. '

E. The Adjudicatory Hearing

As was noted above, on May 2 and May 14, 1990 the Committee
notified Senator Durenberger of its intention to hold a public hear-
ing, commencing on June 12, 1990, as part of its Investigation of
the Senator’s conduct. Because the Investigation concerned possible
disciplinary action against Senator Durenberger, this hearing was
an “adjudicatory” hearing as defined in Committee Rule 6(c). The
procit_ad(ilral protections set forth in Committee Rule 6(j) therefore
applied. :

e At that time Special Counsel also provided to Mr. H;milton memoranda of interviews of
witnesses contacted regarding the condominium matter. N
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On May 11, 1990, the Committee sent a draft Prehearing Order:
to-Mr. Hamilton and informed him that any objections to the draft-
Order would be heard at the Committee’s May 16, 1990 meeting.
The Order provided for the exchange of documents to be introduce,
as evidence at the hearing; stated that affidavits. would be admiss
ble as evidence, subject to the right of Special Counsel and the Re-.-
spondent to subpoena such witnesses to testify at the hearing; and -
provided that documents, affidavits and testimony would be admis-.
sible at the hearing without formal proof, subject to timely objec
tions during the hearing. No objections were raised by Mr. Hamil
ton at the Committee’s May 16, 1990 meeting and the Order was -
entered on May 17, 1990. Special Counsel Ex. 9.15 e

At Special Counsel’s request, thirty-two subpoenas to testify at
the hearing were served between May 21-29, 1990. On May 29,
1990, twenty-five additional subpoenas for witnesses were issued in -
response to Mr. Hamilton’s request. Pursuant to the Prehearing
Order and Committee Rule 6(j), on June 4, 1990, Special Counse
provided Mr. Hamilton with the exhibits intended to be introduced
as evidence at the hearing. These 447 exhibits, contained in twenty-
three volumes, included eighty affidavits, 113 exhibits containing
documents' relevant to Piranha Press appearances, transcripts of
forty-four of the Senator’s Piranha Press speeches, eighteen exhib-
its .containing documents related to the Senator’s receipt of limou-
sine service in the Boston area, excerpts from deposition tran
scripts, copies of the Senator’s travel vouchers for 1983 through-
1989, and other documents related to the matters under Investiga--
tion.16 Also marked as exhibits were the Senator’s books, Neither
Madmen Nor Messiahs (Special Counsel Ex. 448) and Prescription
for Change (Special Counsel Ex. 449). , 5

On June 9, 1990, Mr. Hamilton provided Special Counsel with
110 exhibits to be introduced at the hearing, including twenty-
three affidavits obtained by Mr. Hamilton during the first week of
June 1990; thirteen letters to Senator Durenberger regarding his
book, Neither Madmen Nor Messiahs; excerpts from depositions
taken by Committee staff counsel and Special Counsel; and docu-
ments related to the Piranha Press and condominium matters, -
most of which also had been marked as exhibits by Special Coun-
sel. : R
The hearing commenced on June 12, 1990. Pursuant fo Commit- .
tee Rule 6(j), Senator Durenberger was afforded all rights to which
a Respondent is entitled at an adjudicatory hearing. In particular,

% By letter to Special Counsel dated May 24, 1990, Mr. Hamilton objected to certain- provi
sions of the Order. Specifically, Mr. Hamilton objected to the requirement that exhibits to be
used in cross-examination of witnesses be exchanged prior to the hearing; that affidavits an
depositions be admitted into evidence; and that documents be admitted without formal proof,. §
subject to timely objections made during the hearing. Mr. Hamilton requested that Special
Counsel forward his comments to the Committee. In response, the Comxplttee mformeq N_Irsv
Hamilton on May 29, 1990 that its Order would stand, but that any questions or uncertainties :
about the Order should be discussed with Special Counsel. .

Mr. Hamilton then renewed his objections to the admission of evidence by letter to Speci
Counsel dated June 8, 1990. Special Counsel responded in writing to these objections on June 11
1990. Mr. Hamilton did not renew these objections during the hearing in this matter, and specif-" ;
ically did not object to the admission of any of Special Counsel’s exhibits at that time. .

18 These documents previously had been provided to Mr. Hamilton as they were received and. :
generated during the course of the Initial Review and Investigation. .
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Senator. Durenberger was represented by counsel, and: was free to
call witnesses on his behalf. o ;

At the outset of the hearing, following statements by the Chair-
man, Vice Chairman and each Member of the Committee, Special
Counsel delivered his .opening statement. Special Counsel provided
a detailed account of the evidence in these matters, concluding that
Senator Durenberger knowingly and willfully engaged in conduct
which violated statutes, Senate Rules, and standards and accepta-

- .ble norms of ethical conduct. Hearing Transcript (June 12, 1990) at

106. On the basis of the evidence gathered during the Committee’s
inquiries, Special Counsel recommended to the Committee that it
pass a Resolution calling for the full Senate to denounce Senator
Durenberger for conduct which has brought dishonor and disrepute
to the Senate. Id. at 107. : : '

At the conclusion of Special Counsel’s statement, Senator Duren-
berger’s'counsel made an opening statement on behalf of Senator

‘Durenberger. The Senator’s counsel did not contest the fact that

Senator Durenberger violated certain Senate Rules, nor did he con-
tend that a sanction was unwarranted. Id. at 109-110. He argued
instead, that Senator Durenberger acted in good faith, without an
intent to violate thé Rules; and upon the advice of counsel. Id. at
110. He further argued that the sanction of denouncement was not
justified. Id. ' ‘
Senator Durenberger’s counsel.concluded his presentation on the
morning of June 13, 1990. At that time, he informed the Committee
that Senator Durenberger would submit the matter to the Commit-

- tee on the basis of the documentary evidence introduced on the
~ Senator’s behalf and that submitted by Special Counsel. Senator

Durenberger’s counsel specifically declined the right to call any
witnesses. Hearing Transcript (June 13, 1990) at 15.
Senator Durenberger then addressed the Committee, reiterating

his counsel’s statements that he acted “in good faith, with no

- intent whatsoever to violate the rules of the Senate” and upon the

advice of counsel. Id. -at 20. Following Senator Durenberger’s re-

-marks, Special Counsel concluded his opening statement.

~The Chairman-then questioned Mr. Hamilton about Senator
Durenberger’s decision to waive his rights, including the right to
call witnesses and to cross-examine Special Counsel’s witnesses.1?
The Chairman specifically explained that Special Counsel’s recom-

-mendation of sanction did not preclude the Committee from recom-

mending a different, and possibly more severe sanction. Id. at 72-
73. In response, Senator Durenberger’s counsel reaffirmed that the -
Senator was waiving any due process rights, and was specifically
waiving the right to call or-cross-examine witnesses, as well as the
right to any further hearing; o S o

The Chairman then queried Senator ‘Durenberger, who stated
that he concurred with his counsel’s waiver of his rights available:
during an adjudicatory hearing. Id. at 77. Following this discussion
of the Senator’s waiver of rights, Special Counsel moved into evi-

17" The Chairman specifically inquired of the Senator’s counsal whether he had any objection
to the Senator being called as a witness during the hearing. Such a procedure is authorized by
Committee Rule 6(d). In response, the Senator’s counsel stated that the Senator wished to
submit the matter to the Committee on the existing record.
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dence Special Counsel Exhibits 1-447, 448 and 449 (the Senator’s.
books) and 450-452.18 These exhibits and Senator Durenberger’s
112 19 exhibits were received in evidence without objection. The
Committee then excused from their subpoenas the thirty-two wit-,
nesses who had been subpoenaed to testify at Special Counsel’s re-
quest and the additional witnesses subpoenaed at Mr. Hamilton’s,
request. The hearing concluded with the Committee’s direction
that Special Counsel promptly submit his Final Report.2°

IV. THE COMMITTEE’'S AUTHORITY TO INVESTIGATE AND Sancrion -

MisconpucT oF MEMBERS

A. Constitution and Senate Rulés : S
Article I, Section 5, Clause 2 of the United States Constitution .

provides:

Each House [of Congress] may determine.the Rules of its
Proceedings, punish its Members for disorderly Behaviour, . -
and, with the Concurrence of two thirds, expel a Member.. .. -

Pursuant to this mandate, in 1964 authority to investigate and
report to the Senate possible unethical conduct was delegated to
the former Senate Select Committee on Standards and Conduct. In’
1977 this authority was delegated to the newly created Select Com-
mittee on Ethics. .

It is the duty of the Committee, under its authorizing resolution,
S. Res. 338, as amended in 1977, to ' ’

receive complaints and investigate allegations of improp-
er conduct which may reflect upon the Senate, violations
of law, violations of the Senate Code of Official Conduct
and violations of rules and regulations of the Senate, relat-
ing to the conduct of individuals in the performance of
their duties as Members of the Senate, or as officers or em-
ployees of the Senate, and to make appropriate findings of
fact and conclusions with respect thereto. . . .

S. Res. 338, 88th Cong., 2d. Sess. § 2(a)(1) (1964), as amended by S.
Res. 110,.95th Cong., 1st Sess. § 201 (1977). The legislative history of -
this Resolution reflects the Senate’s intent to delegate substantial
authority to the Committee to investigate allegations of misconduct -
by Members.2! ; : - ' T

18 Special Counsel Exhibits 450-452 were rebuttal exhibits. i

19 Exhibits 111 and 112 were provided to the Committee by Mr. Hamilton on June 13, 1990,

20 The Senator’s counsel also was informed that he had the right to submit expeditiously a
final briefing of the matters under Investigation. N

21 During its consideration of Resolution 338, the Senate Rules Committee rejected: Senator
Cooper’s proposal to create a select committee authorized “to receive complaints of unethical,
improper; [and] illegal conduct of members. . . .” 8. Rep. No. 1125, 88th Cong., 2d. Sess. 13
(1964). Instead, the Rules Committee reported a resolution which proposed to vest itself with the -
limited authority “to investigate alleged violations of the rules of the Senate. . . .” 8. Rep. No.:
"~ 1147, 88th Cong., 2d. Sess. 1 (1964). .

On the floor, Senator Cooper was able to persuade the full Senate to enact his version of Reso:
lution 888, 110 Cong. Rec. 16930 (1964) Senator Case, -speaker in favor of the Cooper substitute,:
stated that “unlike the resolution in its original form, . . . the [Cooper] proposal would not be
limited to alleged violations of Senate Rules, but it would take into account all improper con-
duct of any kind whatsoever.” Id. at 16983. Senator Dirksen similarly stated that a “very care-
ful reading . *.". of the Cooper amendment will disclose the broad delegation of power it contains
\{gganorespect to discipline, matters of conduct, performance, standards, and so forth.”. Id. at

. or agency of the government.
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In order to fulfill this mandate, the Committee is authorized to
hold hearings, issue subpoenas, administer oaths, take testimony,

“including by deposition, and retain outside counsel. The Committee

further is authorized, with the prior consent of the department or
agency involved, to utilize- the services, information and facilities
(and to employ the services of personnel) of any such department

Pursuant to the Committee’s Rules, the Committee is authorized

" to address.inadvertent, technical, or de minimus violations through

informal methods: Committee Rule 4(f)(2). The Committee is fur-
ther authorized to propose remedial actions against a Member for
violations which, while not inadvertent or de minimus, are not suf-
ficiently serious to warrant imposition of the severe sanctions of
expulsion, censure or reporting to the appropriate- party -confer-

- ence, specified in S. Res. 338. Committee Rule 4(f)(3).

In' those situations in which the violations are sufficiently serious

B to warrant such severe sanctions, as in the instant case, the Com-
- mittee is not authorized to discipline ‘the Member unilaterally.
. Such sanctions may only be imposed by the full Senate. According-

ly, pursuant to'S. Res. 338 the Committee is authorized to recom-
mend to the Senate by report or Resolution serious disciplinary
action. S. Res. 338, § 2(a)(2).

B. Prior Senate Disciplinary Cases »
" The Senate has never adopted a fixed set of standards for the im-

- position of particular sanctions. Instead, the Senate has considered

each case on its individual facts. While it is difficult to identify any
precise guidelines from the cases in which the Senate has consid-
ered disciplinary action against one of its own Members, some gen-

‘eral principles emerge from an examination of these precedents.
- Generally, in cases involving treasonous conduct or disloyalty to
_the United States, the appropriate Senate committee has recom-

mended expulsion.?? Similarly, cases involving charges of bribery
or receipt of compensation for services rendered before government
departments have resulted in recommendations of expulsion.23

In contrast, cases involving misues of campaign or office funds,

- -or abuse of senatorial office and authority, have typically resulted

in a recommendation of a’lesser, but nonetheless very serve sanc--
tion. In the case of Senator Thomas Dodd, for example, the Senate
imposed a sanction of c’_e'nsurq based upon the following findings:

- [Flor having engaged in a course of conduct * * * from
1961 to 1965 of exercising the influence and power of his
office as a United States Senator * * * )

(a) to obtain, and use for his personal benefit, funds
from the pubic through political testimonials and a po- )
litical campaign, and ' . : - ,

(b) to request and accept reimbursements for ex-
penses from both the Senate and private organizations
for the same travel, .

-22 E.g., Senator William Blount (1797). ’
% John F. Simmons (1862); James W. Patterson (1873); Charles H. Dietrick (1904);. Joseph R.
Burton (1906); Burton F. Wheeler (1924); Harrison Williams (1982).
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[Senator Dodd] deserves the censure of the Senate; and he

is so censured for his conduct, which is contrary to accept-

ed morals, derogates from the public trust expected. of a

Senator, and tends to bring the Senate into dishonor an
disrepute. ’ o :

S. Rep. No. 193,'90th Cong., 1st Sess. 26-27 (1967). - e

In the more recent case of Senator Herman Talmadge, the Com-

mittee found that the Senator had grossly neglected ‘his  duty«to

faithfully administer the affairs of his office. Specifically, the Co

mittee found that Senator Talmadge either knew or should héve,”;

known of certain acts or omissions, including the failure to repo
and the diversion of campaign contributions to non-campaign pu,
poses, the claiming of Senator reimbursements of over $43,000 for:
official expenses which were not incurred, and. the filing of inace
rate Financial Disclosure Reports and candidate’s receipts and e
penditure reports. Based on these findings of financial impropr
eties, the Committee voted unanimously on September 15, 1979
denounce the Senator, characterizing his conduct as:‘“reprehens
ble.” S. Rep. No. 337, 96th Cong., 1st Sess. 17-18 (1979). Senat

Talmadage was denounced by the full Senate thereafter. S.-Res: °

249, 96th Cong., 1st Sess. (1979).24

C. Laws, Senate Rules and Other Ethical Considerations Applicable
to the Committee’s Present Investigation

In its Resolution for Investigation in connection with the Piran-
ha Press and related matters, the Commission set forth the allega-
tions against Senator Durenberger. Special Counsel Ex. 5. That
Resolution stated that the Investigation would include an .examina-
tion of whether Senator Durenberger may have violated the hon
raria limitations established by 2 U.S.C. § 31-1 and 2 U.S.C..§ 441i.

through his arrangement with his publisher, and Senate Rule 34

by failing to timely report the receipt of certain travel expens
reimbrusements during 1985 and 1986. o

The Resolution further stated that the Committee would exam-
ine whether Senator Durenberger may have violated Senate Rule
38, paragraph 2 by converting a campaign contribution to personal

use and 2 U.S.C. § 434 and FEC regulations by failing to properly,

report and deposit a campaign contribution; Senate Rules Commit-

tee regulations and 40 U.S.C. §193d by making Piranha Press
speeches in U.S. Capitol and Senate facilities; and Senate Rule 35
by accepting payment for the unnecessary expenses of limousine -

transportation from organizations with a direct interest in legisla-
tion before the Congress.

The Resolution for Investigation involving the condominium

* matter stated that the Investigation would examine whether Sena-

tor Durenberger may have abused his United States Senate office

-and misused United States Senate funds through a pattern of im-

proper conduct which has brought discredit upon the United States

Senate as contemplated by Section 2(a)(1) of S. Res. 838, 88th Con-

gress as amended. The Resolution stated that this improper con-

4 Senate disciplinary precedents are reviewed in greater detail in Senate Election, Explusion
and Cen.srfcre Cases from 1798 to 1972, S. Doc. No. 7, . .

92nd Cong., 1st Sess. . : ‘.
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- duct may. have included the
bursexpent vouchers to the Senate Disbursing Office, the misrepre-

_:tl(zll“lﬁ. Sfpgecial Counsel Ex. 7.

+' - 'Lhe Resolution’ further: cited possible violations of. the Ethics i
(-Gove.rnment Ac(:, including Sections 7 02(eX(8)c) and 702(e)(61)cS rlg
;gardlr_lg the administration of the Senator’s blind trust. ’

f;; V. EVIDENCE 'REG.Q_ARDING SENATOR DURENBERGER'S RELATIONSHIP
o WitH PIRANHA PrEss -

es on health care.issues.
the» corporate successor to Fair Enterprises,
published a photographic. book .of wrestling
recently printed fliers for state fairs.

* Under the terms of his agreement with Piranha Press, Senator
Durer,l,berger made approximately 118 book “promotional appear-
il inces” beforev_‘varlou‘s trade associations, colleges and businesses
during-1985 and 1986. Each of these groups paid Piranha Press a
g fee - for. the Senator’s appearance, typically between $1,000 and
&Oé){)(,)(ﬁl)gg travel 'etxplenses.' liliranha Press in turn paid the Sena-
. »JO0U 1n quarterly installmen i

- bSpe%al Counsel ﬁndg- that . the e & biwo year poriod.
vurenberger and Piranha Press was simp] a means of con i
into stipendiary income” that which wgu}id otherwise hav‘(;eli)tégg
fhonoraria income, and that Senator Durenberger therefore violated

Inc., which in the 1960s,
holds, and which more

ihis arrangement, the obvious effect of which i

ent, tr was t
the statutory limitations on honoraria income, o cireumvent
The groups l_)efore which Senat_or Durenberger made speeches’

\ and only rarely characterized his appearance as a -
tional event. See Special Counsel Exs. 45, 111)8; 80, 11 4-5. Il’Il) r:crir:i?-'
fion, the Senator frequently failed to mention either his books or
!vlll:r é)l;?thsher latﬂthige appga(;‘a:lnces.'When he did, the references
en only tleeting and did little i
I\fjlhe publioher, et g a 1d little more than belittle the books
oreover, the principal outcome of Senator Durenberger’ -
rangement’ with Piranha Press was to produce income in tgh: ?018‘11‘11‘1
ot spegker s fees, not book sales, Available financial records show
that Piranha Press earned approximately $248,300 in speaker’s fees’
tween 1985 and early 1987, as compared to approximately

thil'lgy'eep':lercenlt1 of a
e rai L ion 441
Act 2 U.S.C. §411) prohibits the acceptance of an \hoox:lorariin.;-lf
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in book sales.26 Not surprisingly, the ‘Senator never:
fii%ggo alrlily broyalt‘ies from ‘the book sales.” The b90k§ : g};erifoﬁ,
appear to have been little more than a pretext :foll)' the_£ "a’l':;édos ) the :
speaking engagements that would otherwise have een-ire g aughan of Random House, Inc. characterized such an agreement
traditional honoraria events. - ) “extraordinary.” Id. As Mr. Vaughan further explained, appear-
) ces by an author to promote book sales typically are concentrat-
ed within the several month period surrounding the official publi-
cation or release date of the book. See Id. In contrast, many of the
Senator’s “promotional appearances” occurred well after the publi-
ation of his first’ book, and well before the publication of his

A. Contractural Arrangement Between Senator Durenberger and:
s . -Piranha Press S

idence in this matter demonstrates that the S_enators COo
tr:a.It‘:};?vs?i:thiranha Press did not. constitute a good -faith book-pub-
lishing or promotional agreement. The written agreement b?tw,eeni
the Senator and Piranha Press varied in many key respects from a
standard book publishing contract. M‘?St' importantly, the ag_;‘c;e_e-
ment obligated the Senator to make “‘special appearances té? allls?
cuss, speak on or otherwise promote thg [bool_;s] as are m__u1 uE )
agreed upon by Publisher and Author.” 27- Special Counsel-] xts
252, 253. The agreement further provided thz‘l‘t the Senator ‘Waihg
be paid by Piranha Press in:consideration “of the rights :to- de;
[book] granted by the author to publisher hereundpr, and 1n'»001ﬂ17th 3
eration of the author’s services to be rendered in promptz}pg h

. the author.” Id. . . o e

[b%%llil]ifaénguthors frequently make public appearances in“an:effo

Materials produced to the Comimittee by Mr. Mahoney suggest
that from its inception the principal purpose of the Senator’s agre-
ment with Piranha Press was to permit the Senator to earn fees
for speaking engagements, rather than to promote the sale of his
books. From the outset the parties seem to have recognized little if
any hope of earning money from the actual sale of the book.

In an. August 13, 1984 memorandum to Mr. Mahoney from
Thomas Horner, the Senator's -Administrative Assistant, . Mr.
Horner requested‘“specific advice on setting up fee-earning appear-
j ,?lpcss in A}:onnection_ with the Senator’s defense book, Neither

y lent! . di @ Yadmen Nor Messiahs.” Special Counsel Ex. 247. Significantly, Mr.
to promote th_eg pulf)'l1ca%glﬁ8,ath2§r;};g§:11%’n:alll"_fs' n&%ﬁgﬁfeﬁfiﬁs fHorner acknowledged in this memorandum that the parties did not
by g&ilrsglrlrﬂtasl g:ug(ﬁarsl the ggnior Vice President and Editor ofiz8expect that the books would actually generate any income through

{:?12 Trade Department at Random House, Inc., described th(? usua

industry practice as follows: : -

lishers do not customarily or traditionally pay an
auIt)Il:(k))r to promote the author’s books. Although an autﬁl'o;-
may make some promotional appearances on behalf of his
her book, and the publisher usually pays all or some of the
travel expenses associated with such appearances, no fees'
or other compensation are normally paid to the a_utl:wr.

ial Counsel Ex., 81. : ) ] N
SpIerf'lgt least this respect the ‘“promotional appearance” proyisions
of the Piranha Press agreement more closely resembled a “‘speak
er's bureau” contract than a traditonal book publishing agree:
.ment.28 , .

o

The book” will. be distributed for sale in 40-some B.
Dalton Bookstores in Minnesota and in the Washington,

D.C., area. Income from the sale of the books will go to
Gary [Diamond of Piranha Press] although he does not
expect to break even. His goal was to get into publishing ™™
and to help the Senator.

Please advise on how we should structure speaking
events connected with the promotion of the book that
could potentially be ‘income-producing to the Senator; is
there an advantage to_the Senator providing some of the
-funds for promotion; etc. o
[d. (emphasis'added). ' ' .

Early the following month, Mr. Horner forwarded to Mr. Ma-
honey a draft author-publisher agreement prepared by Piranha
Press’ counsel. Again, Mr. Horner emphasized the importance of a
Wirovision for fee-earning appearances: ‘

1t

i i sh di : ts and receipts]
26 ial Counsel Ex. 277. The analysis of Piranha Press cash disbursemen rec
repriﬁigds l,:;c1sapeci;1nc(,unsel Exs, 2’77hang 278bwexi? preparfg‘elégrgsp(;;lgclluccoegn‘f?h;l;hgi% 1(1150}(1::
iew of Piranha Press bank accoun by
amf(? Eisafwg)ﬁl?;g i:;tki‘t;:i‘:m in response to Committee subpoenas, as well as af};llimts? n&rg?eﬁf
documents produced by B. Dalton Bookseller, which purchased 1,600 copies of e Seng firsf
bogk, : : 1 ber of ap)
27 i tly never reached any agreement on the actual number of aj 3
whicgh:'olﬁﬁngz ?Il:ggzegy ySena'l:or Durenberger. In agreeing to pay guartelaﬂ)fr_ lf1tns :rnaf’ni
$12,500, Mr. Diamond estimated that the Senator would u_lake approxunat% yd thytaﬁ}l):
eacil yéar Special Counsel Ex. 433 at 47. Mr. Mahoney, in contrast, testifie 'Mah e i e
agreed to 'approximately only twelve appearances each year. Deposition of M. Mahoney (4 % £ ment to the publishor. -
89) at 57. - . “ . 1 L ts for Special Qo_unsel Ex. 25, [ 6. . 7
posramcen by e cllons, and soieets all sposi s’bureal; t%?lncal}?y;nﬂgske’;lfellciﬁzmnéegl‘zg'wd - Unlike a typical book publishing agreement, which provides for royalties based on the
appearances by its client, and collects all speaker’s fees for these ev X o etail prics of o] book. e Lublishing Zgreement, which | rovides for royaltes | ased on the

Financial Management Association (“HFMA”) recalled the following conversation with a repre-
entative of Piranha Press:

[TThe representative . . ."explained that Piranha Press acted as‘a “speakers’ bureau”
and that Piranha’s payments to Senator Durenberger were separate from HFMA's pay-

a percentage of the-speaker’s fees collected by the “speaker’s bureau.”

: . - P wyalty payments based on.the net profits resulting from the sale of the book. In his affidavit,
{Z is eigtfﬁesmbgnﬁ e’;?:er;}‘ea::’t‘hi: ﬁa:t{gz;;g:ﬁ:lgﬁ,r:af rsef,:::;a Bzgggf;,‘f,?‘t}f,i ng:lsthég br. Vaughan stated that such a royalty agreement tiod to net sale profits is not customary in
acteriz e pul ¢ ) CL

* Contint 'ther general or trade publishing. See Special Counsel Ex. 81,
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the -Senator’s scheduled appearance. Although this form letter
began with a statement that the addressee had “inquired regarding
a promotional appearance by Senator Durenberger,” as was noted
above Special Counsel has found no instance in which a sponsoring
grginsization actually invited the Senator to appear. to promote his
00k.33 S - . L '
- ‘Instead, organizations before which Senator Durenberger spoke
invited him; not because of his role as an author, but because of his’
position as a United States Senator. Often, the representative of
-the organization responsible for selecting Senator Durenberger as a
speaker did not even know of the Senator’s books. See, e.g., Special
Counsel Exs. 23, 1 3; 1 30, { 3; 50, 1 3. Most frequently, the Senator
appears to have been selected as a speaker because of his member-
ship on the Senate Finance Committee or the Health Subcommit-
tee 'of the Finance committee. See, ‘e.g., Special -Counsel Exs. 12, | 2;
18, 13; 61, 13; 68, 2. In short, Senator Durenberger was invited
by groups to give what, absent the Senator’s arrangement with Pi-
anha}t1 Press, would have been treated as traditional honoraria
eeches, - - :
The evidence demonstrates that Senator Durenberger knew that
his “promotional appearances” were the result, not of requests for
book' promotions, but. instead of speech invitations extended to him
as a United States Senator. Throughout the term of his agreement
-with Piranha Press, Senator Durenberger personally designated as
Piranha Press “promotional events” certain honorarium speech in-
vitg}zio3n8s received in his Senate office. See Special Counsel Ex. 440
at 37-38. - - ‘ o : -
- For. example, on February 18, 1986, Senator Durenberger re-
ceived an.invitation to address a policy conference sponsored by
Capitol Associates, Inc., which offered the Senator a $2,000 hono-
rarium. Senator Durenberger wrote on the invitation, “OK D PP.”
indicating his direction that .the speech be treated as'a Piranha
Press “promotional appearance.” Special Counsel Ex. 121 at B. The
Senator made similar notations on invitations for traditional hono-
rarium appearances extended by the American Society of Associa-
tion Executives (Special Counsel Ex. 118 at A), the Association of
Metropolitan ‘Water Agencies (Special Counsel Ex. 118 at B), the
Council of Industrial Development Bond Issuers (Special Counsel
Ex. 130 at A), the Washington Campus (Special Counsel Ex. 151 at
B), the National Association of Bond Lawyers (Special Counsel Ex.
163 at A), and the Singer Company (Special Counsel Ex. 191 at A).
. Anne Kelly (now Planning), the Senator’s scheduler until August

1985, described the process of selecting and scheduling Piranha
Press events as follows:

I placed all ‘written invitations for speeches in a folder-
for Senator Durenberger’s review. o

would like a paragraph inserted in which it is |
mggve]eclear that the prl)lblisher ‘or some other entity may
pay the Senator a fee for the series of speeches or other -
promotional activity. This would be along the lines of your
earlier conversations with the Senator.

i ounsel Ex. 248.39 As ultimately structured and adminis
?&g'(ae%?}:h(é arrangement between Piranha P_ress and the Ser(liatk;)or te;f-: :
commodated this goal strikingly Well.’ The income generate _;yd e
Senator’s “promotional appearances” over the two year 1;;erlci ‘
the agreement far exceeded the income generated in boo s? e
approximately $248,300 in speaking fees as compared tlo é)n yz%gz%
proximately $15,500 in book sales. See Special Counsel Exs. 2
278. - _ L N L Duten

uoted memoranda’ also clearly " reflect Senator -Durer
bergl(;"sqpersonal involvement in the structuring. of_ t_h,e,_ cpntr}?}g
with Piranha. The Senator is shown as a copy rec1plentMon
August 13, 1984 memorandum from Mr._ Horner, seeking N Sr e
honey’s advice on structuring fee-earning speeches. See | pec_lf :
Counsel Ex. 247. The subsequent September memorgmdurri1 spSecL
cally references conversations between Mr._ Mahoney and t24e8 Sen.
tor about such an arrangement.3! See Special Counsel_Exé1 o h
‘Moreover, both Mr. Horner and Mr. Mahoney testified tha S
Senator participated in discussions concerning t1_1e arrang(i;r]li?n -
throughout the contract drafting period. See Special Comﬁi Ex
438 at 14; 442 at 9-10, 177-178; Durenberger Ex. 103 at . The
evidence therefore demonstrates tha_tt ‘S‘enator D_urenl?’erger act}ve
participated in the creation of this “extraordinary” promotion
contract. : ER

B. The Nature of the Senator’s Appearances

as noted above, during 1985 and 1986, Senator Dur_enberg
mﬁeqlg “promotiona,ll appearances” pursuant to his arraﬂgeéne
with Piranha Press. On none of these 113 occasions was the er}11
tor invited to appear for the purpose of promoting or d;scusilzngf
book.22 Moreover, none of these appearances was the rilslih ‘QSJ
inquiry made of Gary Diamond or‘Pl'ranha Press. Instea ,1 ? Se:
ator’s Piranha Press appearances uniformly were the resu tdoS ;nte
tations extended to the Senl?tor i}rllﬁl_ls ScapatmtS); aaf? a United Sta
ither directly or through his Senate statf.
Setliz;fr’;ﬁ;},l in resporiv,e to an invitation to deliver an holno.rarluh1
address, an organization was advised of th’e Senator’s re atll)(ip,_s
with Piranha Press, either by the Senator’s staff or the pu t1s ter 8
Piranha Press then typically sent a two page form lettgl".t_ o il e
sponsoring organization, summarizing the teyms and con: }_‘l{)}l“lS

' 's partner, * * M T e . *
30 Shortly thereafter, Mr. Horner spoke with Donna Hanbery, Mr. Mahoney’s partner; al

¢ i t that she too was asked to 8- - Senator Durenberger then returned the invitation folder
ements. Ms. Hanbery’s notes of that conversation reflect ? wa ) ) . . the ) ae
:?:sgtﬁga: %o;:ltract between the Senator and Piranha Press in which the Senator would do p: to me with his notations on the-. 1nv1tat1on, reﬂectlng

motions “for a fixed fee.” Special Counsel Ex. 249. onal arces may“hévé: et
81 ified generally that the concept of promotional appear: s m: oFigis
riatecllVI \fr'ig}{\ol{{r:?th:%;r::y.gSpecial )(,)ounsel Ex. 438 at }3—14. The referenced documents, how,
ept originated in the Senator’s office. ) ) ;
su§2g ?Ia‘,‘}txglx?gt}gl:tcg}?: (g)urseglof the Committee’s proceedings, Special Counsel zg;ﬁatgdél&gf
Senator Durenberger’s counsel to provide any available evidence.of invitations, e ator
promote his books. No such evidence was proffered.

3 See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 14, 1 2; 28, 1 8; 57, 1 8; 63, 113, 82, 1 4. In fact, Special Counsel
repeatedly was informed by witnesses that the Piranha Press form letter was in error in this
respect. See, e.g,, Special Counsel Exs. 60, 17; 66, 1 5; 82, 1 8. v
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whether he would accept the speech. Sometimes he would *:%

k the guidance of a legislative aide as to whether or not .
;ﬁaeshouldg speak to the group. If he ultimately accepted the"
speech and if the organization was paying a fee, he vwoz_.{ld
also indicate whether the speech was to be treated as-an
honorarium speech or as a Piranha Press speech.

i ounsel Ex. 65, ] 4, 5 (emphasis adc%et_i)_. Jodl Mqthlson,a
ssucplfgé?lllg' who. assumedﬂl'i\I’Is. Kelly's responglblhtles, 81m11ar1y.te§t
fied that Senator Durenberger himself designated some speech. in-
vitations received in his U.S. Senate office as Plgi.nha Press/;a
pearances. Deposition of J. Mathison (5/5/89) at 18.3¢ ,1_1

In fact, as the Senator approached his honoraria income ceiling 78
in 1985, speech invitations simply were forwarded b‘):"'hls Ux_nteac{. :
States Senate staff to Piranha Press to be treated as “promotional.

appearances.” On February 15, 1985, shortly before the Senator:§ ;

i i is inistrative. As-’
made his first Piranha Press appearance, his At_lml.mstira As
sistant forwarded to Mr. Mahoney a set of speech invitations whlch
as of that date had already been accepted as honorarium spgech S,
Mr. Horner stated:- :

At the direction of Senator Durenberger I am forward--.
ing to you the upcoming invitations that have been accept-
ed on his behalf. These invitations were accepted pr1.or~to_
the agreement between the Senator. and his publisher;
therefore, the honoraria agreed upon is $2,000 or less, the
limit allowed by the U.S. Senate. ' -

i sel Ex. 258. o
spzexci?;ticf; I;f the Senator’s honoraria speeches created in 1985 b
Anne Kelly, his scheduler, reflects that by the end of F.‘ebruargm ;
that year, the Senator had collected a total of $22,5OO in sp_ia ing
fees—$19,500 in honoraria and $3,0_00 in fees pal‘fl tov Mr. _Ma one -
Ms. Kelly’s handwritten note on this hs_t states: _After thl’a,; amount;
was collected, Mahoney took over with speaking fees.” Spec
Counsel Ex. 268. In her affidavit, Ms. Kelly stated: -

‘I came to understand that after Senator .Dl}renberger-
had almost reached his limitation on honoran?. income for
1985, most speeches for which he was to receive an hono-
rarium were to be handled as Piranha Press speeches.

ecial Counsel Ex. 65, 1 6. o
SpThe Senator’s Financial Disclosure Report for 1985 tends to co
firm this understanding. That Report reflects eleven separate ho
raria speeches, generating $19,500 in honorar_la_mcome, betwee
January 21, 1985 and February 22, 1985. Special Counsel Ex. 26
The Senator reported receipt of an honorarium from only one ad

34 Jimmie Powell, the Senator’s Legislative Director from 1983 to August 1985, conﬁrmgd
procedure. In his affidavit, Mr. Powell stated: .th' ¢t to the publishing con
derstanding of the scheduling procedures with respec -

tr;\g i;l xtlhg?; th::n agn organization invited Senator Durenberger to speak and offered zg
honorarium payment, the invitation was forwarded to Michael Mahoney and Sagrarég .

as a'Piranha Press appearance. If no honorarium payment was available, the enator’s
personal secretary and scheduler, Anne Kelly, handled the appearance. . :

Special Counsel Ex. 67, { 7.

or $22,530, that could be earn.

appearances also is demonstrated by the fact th:
organization’s annual meeting for several years,
| ia and others

- have been characterized as being very similar, the Se:

ment for the 1988 speech, but directed -that the payments for the 1985 and 1986 speeches be
! maade to Piranha Pr

113; 95); American Group Practice Association (Special Counsel Exs. 29, f113;101); American Hos-
~ pital _As_sociation'(Special Counsel Exs. 104, 275); American International Automobile Dealers

a Ameripan’ Protestant Health Association—April 16, 1986 (Special Counsel Exs. 64, 1 9; 111);
- American Society of Association Executives (g
| ropolitan Water Agencies (Special Counsel Ex: 118); Catholic Charities, U.S.A. (Special Counsel
~Ex. 128); The Equitable Life Assurance Society
of American Hospitals (Special Counsel-Ex. 1 ; i any (Special Counsel
' Exs. 62, { 7; 146; 273); Health Indust;
160); National Association of Senior L4

b3

tional speech, in December of that year, bringing his total disclosed
honoraria income to $21,500, just under the cap.imposed by law.35
~Yet the Senator actually made fifty-eight additonal fee-earning

: _Speeches in 1985. Fees for all -these events—totaling approximately

-$129,000—were paid to Piranha Press, There does not appear to be
‘any-basis for the characterization of these other speaking fees as
book promotions rather than honoraria, other than the fact that .
the Senator had come close to his limit on honoraria by the end of

. February 1985.36 .

On May 15, 1986, five days prior to the Senator’s sched-
uled engagement [before the conference], I received a tele-
phone call from Jodi-Mathison of Senator Durenberger’s
office; . . ."On or about that. date, I spoke with a staff:
member from the Senator’s office. Although I do not spe-
cifically recall, I believe that this conversation was with
Ms. Mathison. This staff member informed me that Senator
Durenberger had exceeded’ his honorarium limit and as a
result we should pay the honorarium we had agreed to pay
for the Senator’s appearance to his publisher. This staff
member stated that they would treat this trip as a book
promotion appearance. This staff member indicated that
someone from the Senator’s publisher would be contacting
ipti,l to arrange for payment of the speaking fee to the pub-
isher. S : :

Special Counsel Ex. 44 5 (émphasis added). Mr. Kelley objected

streriuously to this arrangement, and the Conference ultimately

- did n}(:t pay either the Senator or Piranha Press for the Senator’s
< speech. ‘ ’ ~ C ‘

The lack of any meaningful distinction between an honorarium
speech and a Piranha Press appearance by Senator Durenberger is
also evident from a review of the Senator’s copanelists and speak-

rs. At twenty-three of the events at which Senator Durenberger

‘made a Piranha Press “promotional appearance,” other Members
of Congress also spoke—in exchange for traditional honorarium
~ bayments.®” For example, in July 1986, the Equitable Life Assur-

35 In 1985, 2 U.S.C. § 31-1 imposed an annual limit of 30 percent of a Senator’s Senate salary,
ed through honoraria income.

% The lack of a meaningful distinction between the Senator’s honoraria and “promotional”
at the Senator sometimes gave addresses to an
designating some of these speeches as honorar-
as Piranha Press events. For example, the .Senator addressed the American
rotestant Health Association Forum in 1985, 1986 and 1988. Although the Senator’s speeches

nator received a standard honorarium pay--

ess. See Special Counsel Ex, 64, 112. .
These events are: American Association of Nurse Anesthetists (Special Counsel Exs. 82,

‘Ex. 106); American Medical Association (Special Counsel Exs, 107,
ealth Association—April 24, 1985 (Special Counse] Exs. 64, 1 7:110);

pecial Counsel Exs, 113, 272); Association of Met-
138; 275); Federation

Manufacturers Association (Special

Counsel Exs. 72, { 7;
ving Industries (Special Counsel Ex

. 167); National Gro-
' Continued
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. p- 15; 218, p. 23. These comments hardly seem intended to encour-
- age the public to purchase his books.39
. Of the 113 “promotional appearances’” made by Senator Duren-
'berger during 1985 and 1986, Special Counsel has found only three
in ‘which the sponsoring -organization purchased the Senator’s
' books.40 Tn addition, Special Counsel has found only one appear-
ance, the July 1986 meeting of the Outpatient Ophthalmic Surgery
Society, at which the Senator’s books were actually sold at the
event itself. See Special Counsel Ex. 70, | 21. The Senator occasion-
ally held up a single copy of his book during his speech; on a few
-other occasions, additional copies were on display.41 '
- On several occasions; sponsoring organizations were told that it
was not necessary to display the Senator’s books, notwithstanding
'the request for such space in the standard Piranha Press confirma.
tion letter. See Special Counsel Exs, 28, 11 7; 57, 11- 10; 66, 6; 86,
] 6. In addition, while: many groups were willing to display the
Senator’s books they were unable to obtain copies of the books. See,
.., Special Counsel'Exs. 29, 850 11; 58 f{ 5, 11. A

For instance, the Senator was invited to give a traditional hono-
rarium speech at the November 1985. Business Issues Seminar
sponsored by the State Government Education and Research Foun-
8 dation. Martha McNelis, who managed the Seminar, learned that
the Senator was to publish a book on health care issues. She hoped
to make the book available to Seminar participants. Despite efforts
fo obtain copies of the Senator’s books,-no books were made avail-
able to”the Foundation. Ms. McNelis stated: “I recall being frus-.

ated, disappointed and somewhat confused that our original plans
distribute the Senator’s books were unsuccessful.” Special Coun-
el Ex. 58,1 11. = -
The Invest to Compete Alliance, before which the Senator spoke
i February 1986, similarly was unsuccessful in its efforts to ac-
quire the Senator’s books. Jeanne Campbell, a lobbyist who coordi-
nated the activities of the Alliance, was instructed by a member of
W the Senator’s staff to purchase copies of the Senator’s books instead
@0 paying an honorarium for the Senator’s appearance. Ms. Camp-
Whell stated in her affidavit that sometime after the $2,000 payment
@¥as made to the publisher: - : '

I called the Senator’s office because copies of the Sena-

s books had not been received and was told to contact
Piranha Press. I telephoned Piranha Press and believe
that I spoke with Gary Diamond who-told me he would

ce Society sponsored a Group Health Pglicy Forum Breakfast, :
:ﬁﬁih was’ a);:te}r)lded by approximately ten high level officials of the-_‘:
Equitable and the Health Care Financing Administration.: Bot,hl
Senator Durenberger and Congressman Pete. Stark addressed the -
breakfast and each was paid a $2,000 honorarium. However, Se,na;:
tor Durenberger endorsed his honorarium check to Piranha VPress.
ial Counsel Exs. 54, 275. - S e
Spgicrﬁiilarly, in February 1986 both Sepator Du.renberger.an.d Sena-_
tor Dale Bumpers spoke at the American Medical Association con- '
ference, ‘“Participation ’86.” While_Senptor»Bumpers reported re
ceipt of a $2,000 honorarium on his Financial Disclosure Report,
Senator Durenberger had his $2,000 payment made payable to Plf:‘
ranha Press. Special Counsel Exs. 63_, 7 5,. 107. Roy_ Pf‘e‘mtch,‘ one oa‘
the oi'ganizers of the event, stated in his ._affid.av1t: I-consu:i_ere ’
the payment to Piranha Press to be an honorarium payment, iden- -
tial in all respects to the honorarium payment to Senator Bump- .
ers.” Special Counsel Ex. 63, ] 9. ; : ‘

C. The Role of the Senator’s Books at his “Promotional
- : Appearances” . . -

The lack of any clear substantive distinction between the Sena,
‘tor’s own honorafium speeches and his “promotional appearances
is underscored by the fact that the Senator made‘ a number of pﬁc.)
motional appearances” during which he did not mention either hi
books or his publisher. As was noted. above, on those occasions o
which he -did mention either or both of hl_s bookg, the reference
were extremely brief.28 Often, they were disparaging of the bogks
contents. _ . - o S

For -instance, in- an apparent reference to.his book Prescriptio
for Change during a. November 1986 ;speech before the US Healt
Corporation, Senator Durenberger. said: -

But I'm trying to write a real book on hga}lth policy, so
that these sgeeches would be shorter, but it’s really hard
to do. I mean, things are happening so qulckly,out here, ¢
and they'’re so hard to understand, that I can’t get my .
book done. ' o o

So this is a book. But what this really is, is 44 speech-
es. . -

cial Counsel Ex. 237, p. 6. On another occasion, the'Senator’
csgfy rarllention of his books gvas his observation that they did not sel
as well as Lee Iacocca’s book: See Special Counsel Ex. 223, p.-10
During several speeches he made light of the name of his publish
er, and admitted that the audience would have trouble finding the
book in any place but his office. See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 205

3% The lack of any cledr nexus between the Senator’s books and the groups before which he
hw;.s bzgeka;king may account for the often trivial character of the Senator’s speech: references to

K assachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company purchased 100 copies of Neither Madmen
7 h the Senator’s appearance on May 15, 1985, and 100 copies of
i i i ptember 15, 1986. Special Coun-

- . E S 1ving Industries (NASLI) purchased and distrib-
cers Association (Special Counsel Ex. 169); National Multi Housing Council (Special Counsel Exs Change, in connection with the Senator’s ap-

" ! t Association (Special Counsel Ex. 174); Owens-Illinois. (Special y 19, 1985. Speci ’ I Ex. 47. However, NASLI’s Executive Director Robert

Comot s 1 g Pl e Sl bl B WL HG S0 el 0, i, payment
- 419 B ; 8 190); ington Campus—March 25, ] amer further s : “At no time
?SUStry alAas,?ﬁ::ioﬁ x(ss%?;lﬁ]llg?ggf;lvg::hi’l]lwﬂ Camp)us—?\?ovexgntger 12, 1985 (Special Coungel , Lrescription for Change. I did not want the
E)E:%Q 121 152 ] ’ ’ ¢ of Soscial Co - hoks v l}:t’a’vse pu;:lh%s;ed 811,0153)1 (Zf'zPrescnptwn for Change other than to have Sena-
. 89, ; . . tioned art of Speci unse! r Durenberger speak.” Speci unsel Ex. 47, { 9.

fury, Tany Whineases Grosont.at these spesches siatad taht they hna s resmiscion ha the S arerbereor spec” Sipeial Co 16; 16, 1°5; 99,1 9; 45,1 879, 1
genat’or had mentioned his book(s). See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 11, ] 6; 385, ] 8; 64, 7 9.
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look into the matter. The books were not received nor d1d Ir'i'-
ever hear back from Mr. Diamond. : SN

Spgcial }(foufr’lsel Exl. 15,9 17.. 1 s starderd ”f“ on Lt
iranha Press also promised in its standard confirmation le nder the: te "

to provide to the sponsoring organization “all necessary promotio Io terms and conditions
al literature.” No such literature has been provided to the Commi
tee by the Senator, his Minnesota counsel or Piranha Press as.p
of the Committee’s proceedings in this matter. Special Counsel
not discovered a single occasion on which Gary Diamond or..Pirax
nha Press actually provided promotional literature to the sponsor;,
ing group. See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 29, 1 8; 32, { 8; 75, {-
In fact, Gary Diamond admitted in his affidavit that he rarel
provided any materials to the organizations before which Senato

Durenberger spoke: : L
On a few occasions, I forwarded copies of the Senator’s’
books to organisations that agreed to display them at the-
Senator’s appearances. However, in the majority of cases,.I
did not provide copies of the books or other promotional:
materials to the organizations. - ; : :

Durenberger Ex. 3, { 6. _ ‘ 4
D. The Nature of the Groups Before Which the Senator Appeared*

. . i s
The transparent character of the Senator’s “promotional’
rangement with Piranha Press is apparent from a simple compar
son of the groups before which he spoke and the subject matter
the books which he claims to have been promoting. The Senator
first book, a collection of white papers on national security and-d
fense policy issues entitled Neither Madmen Nor Messiahs, was:
published on September 10, 1984. His second book, a collection of
speeches on health care issues entitled Prescription for Change, wa
not released until April 1986. ' oy
Yet between February 1985 and April 1986, many of the Sena
tor’s “promotional appearances” were before health care groups o
groups interested in the Senator’s views on tax reform—not nation:
al defense policy. During this time period, the Senator made tw
speeches, both now characterized as “promotional appearances,
before defense contractors. Although these organizations migh
- have provided an appropriate forum for promotion of the Senator’; ord :
defense book, in both cases the contractors declined to pay Piranh Ol!ectlon of speeches which he had pring of 1?86 was simply
Press. Instead, the contractors issued checks payable to Senatorg@re 1ssues.4 Tronically, four of these s Pre\lr_llous1y given on health
Durenberger—which he then endorsed to Piranha Press. See Spe ok Promotions” that had been re petz(é ¢S were Piranha Press
cial Counsel Exs. 19, 156 at O-P, 196 at BB-CC. One of these de;ge previous fourteen monthg, 45 presented by the Senator during
fense contractors, TRW, explicitly rejected the proposal that th : ) _ :
Senator’s appearance be treated as a book promotion.*? See Specia
Counsel Ex. 19. : o
The incongruity of making ‘“promotional appearances” bef
health groups without having published a health book appears iofx Thtm
have been obvious at the time to both the Senator’s staff and s book was large . .
. B time devoted to the book, and who was paid $3,94: e Senate salary was

aced 4 ,944 by Piranh i
[ These were as follows: Association of Ac e 1o

42 During this same time period, Senator Durenberger also appeared before representa s.0l8nsel Ex. 117); Paiana ademic H :
Northrop and Hughes Aircraft Company. Both of these defense contractors expressly rej Fon Fle:ibly()fo?zf;ewr?sagplvemlt —March 13, 1985 (Spig‘!gl C(E’e“xilt:ésgocfgbgr ployers Foci
proposed book promotion by Piranha Press. See Special Counsel Exs. 13, 88. The Senator reportZglil 1985 (Special Counge] El;nigge ALY 25, 1985 (Special Counsel. ix ,11.37)%”%21)10 - %Oun-

. - \ . ; T, Inc.—April

ed his income from these appearances as honoraria.’

: nator speaks to
-of -his contract ‘with plgiran}fg

A . & fact, Mr Mah. ’
0 say that this book “need not be of the samgl}:?l’il:‘é?’l’tasso o%:

itten by a ‘professional g

i , sior author. Id. This mem

p;ex-:u};?:g:}; }sl sensitivity to the fact that the Sen(::t%?dleans refie_cts

o oances 1l ailgsrlv:sre gg(}::ractgrized as book promotiong befglri ::11:1g-

| zlz}cs'hof ilrtl}t;égest s these«g?ghp élt had not yet authored a book on

oo 1ea.th book was produced in 1985, i

., No hea : , howe ‘

gég gt%?*l;stgfafr'lf?aiﬁei{ was ralsled by Jon Schroe‘c’izlx'-’ inggz;géi ?)If!-(tl;};)f

r's staff inneapolis. In a n 1u : ' v
n \ pol 1 memorandum

and Kitty Gamble, also of the Senator’s Minn:?pgfisl\g;af?ei\lffg

Schroeder summarized hij
,qulish a health care boplis. g:aé:fg}ézfi:on ':the neec_l_ to “esemble and

I understand and agree with the nece

perception as the “Health 'S ”

_ he “F 1 Senator” a
i’.;alr)'zc:i sgun(]{_ Justzgzlcation for the co
¥ recewving from Piranhq 3
ar})ubr_zd' the country. - for d?l-w
) cg}l;even;fg; lm{eage between the speeches, the bookv and
Fhe oo pensation is important in explaining 1985 comipe

from Piranhg, = , » £ compen-

. N A ~ -
* *

nd to make sure we
mpensation which he
ering zhea-lth speeches

Along the way, » L *
; e way, we have to rememp. ..
17 e vUe U emoer that th .
fain s ik and. dirty. "I has o got out withis S0

1meframe, it is not the “ultimate” Daye D) n a cer-

gll::g:r(;gs ;ﬁzltg issues_. ... B1_1t again, it musturl;g?li)eerg‘:aerf
N ent; and it must Justify the com on i
0 the Senator. pensation in-

bpecial Counsel Ex. 262 (emphasi
ately_pubhshed by the Sef)natols i?ld%ﬁ(ei

). The health care book ul-

Wiy fact, the Sentor Iy y h

e apparently had made some effort

_ansonuégrr;:;fe ::dlzi)?n :mvrll:x:l pkil:ei nhlre(} William Swar(:;oxfo a:uath;:o?'egseigﬁt};l ca}x;e ::)_ook'as 4
A i al C

fson thap Me. Sroponus waspai?iar$ {51985, which was never published. Spgciasl 03111531 vlt{ars

000 for these efforts be 1_;he Durenberger Volunteer
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-E. Payments to.Piranhd Press

In many instances, the Senator did not designate a speech: asua:
“book promotion” until after the speech itself.-Not ‘surprisingly
therefore, the Senator frequently was compensated by the sponsor:
ing organization as if his appeararce were a traditional honorari
um speech—by paying the Senator directly. : .

Twenty-six separate payment checks made payable to Senato:
Durenberger, totalling $56,750, -were deposited into the. Piranh
Press bank account—twenty-one of which reflected Senator-Duren
berger’s personal endorsement to Piranha Press.%®¢ Four of these
checks reflected on their face the payer’s designation as “hongrarj
um.” See-Special Counsel Exs. 122, 167, 188, 201. C

Three of these organizations were contacted by Piranha. Pres
only after the Senator’s appearance. See Special Counsel Exs. 112
136, 174. Ten of these organizations had no contact with Piranh
Press, and were never told of the arrangement between Piranh;
Press and the Senator.4” Until they reviewed their cancelled pay:
ment check, they often had no knowledge that the Senator hac
characterized his speech before their group as a book: promotion
See, e.g., Special Counsel Ex. 30, 1] 5-7." : e

Moreover, on several occasions these same organizations had ex
pressly rejected a proposed ‘‘promotional appearance,” instead in
sisting that the Senator’s appearance be handled as a tradition
honorarium event. See, e.g.,- Special Counsel Exs. 12, 19, 23, 33, 46

54. For example, John Carter, Jr., of TRW, Inc., who arranged fo

Senator Durenberger to visit several defense contractor facilities:i

California in January 1986, stated in his affidavit:

Prior to the visit, I recall being contacted by someone
from Piranha Press, advising me that they were handling -
the Senator’s speaking engagements. They also indicated
that payment for the Senator’s appearance was to be made
to Piranha Press, and that part of the visit would include
promotion of his book . . . . I advised the individual from :
Piranha Press that the Senator’s visit to TRW would be .
-handled as a straight honorariumn visit, and we would :
make payment directly to the Senator. I also indicated

.. that the visit i i
_k'__ISenator’svkl::o kfo TRW would not include promotion of the

dpecial Counsel Ex. 19., Notwithstanding' this insistence, the Sena-

' E,Cognsei I:i}x. 196 at BB-CC.
B Un at least two separate occasions Sen
) 1 € : 3 ator Du iv-
'guﬁi:h:gei?dlg zgf;;ilr;?l gllld qoti’:merétfio_n either llﬁgli)?gg ocl'ellﬁis
s II’I i . LUy 1nstructed the sponsoring organiza-
5o ™ ake payment t(,)_ Piranha Press. See, Special Counsel Exs.
" The majority of the i
groups before which the Senat.
| ggyrggnrtl;l gor 11::}}11e Senator’s appearance to Piranhg lgrg;ssgg 1;2(;32;12
B ron m zg an.one occasion, a member of the Senator’s staff,
6ogx 2 Zigu%swt% %f th-a!nha;dPress, or Mr. Mahoney attempt:d ’tg
B at had invited the Senator to speak to j
ed, often to as much as $5,000,48 I%‘or exgrilli)cilé:?alggbz}ll'%

id, instead of the $2,000 honorarium off, i

s : ,00! ered. Speciz
, %1177498.1\.{3%, also, Special Counsel Exs. 30, 11 9’p1e2c.1 %{)Cfgnzgl ﬂEg
, . -any organizations acceded to these requésts: in 2)rdér to

e, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 60 1 5;.80,

‘Some organizations found Mr. Maho s ‘

[ . zat Mr. Mahoney’s request f. i
payment to be “heavy-handed.” Some refused to %ofx?ply?lﬁinapgrl'%}ll)(:a{

honorarium Payment. See, e.g., Special Counsel Ex. 14, 1 8. For

ncor Special Counsel Ex. 71, 8.

Lﬁ?)l”- Ic‘):sgsansl'z?t_lggs oSbjec§eii g; the arrange}rlleﬂts proposed by Pi—
, . » &8, opeclal Counsel Exs. 13; 44, ~T;

z:lmol}li n{zges II)oher&t‘;y, Pres’}dent of The Group I-Tllga?t}’lz’fsss'ofig
o A vmecx:zZ)r Ellllfl:d 1(1 n?}fl‘ﬁ)g )ﬁ 'reac}tled I?S follows after receiving
; ' rom -Piranha Pregs:- “

femorandum struck me as harsh, abrupt, an?iS he;v;eﬁggdggep Sg:ﬁ

46 These twenty-one payments were provided to Senator Durenberger by American-Banke:
Association (Special Counsel Ex. 96 at F-Q); American Hospital Association (Special Counsel.E
104 at G-H); American Insurance Association (Special Counsel Ex. 1056 at B-C); American'Ps;
chiatric Association (Special Counsel Ex. 112 at V-W); American Society of Association Exegy
tives (Special Counsel Ex. 118 at I-J); Annenberg Center for Health Sciences (Special Counse i .
Ex. 116 at O-P); The Chicago Council on Foreign Relations (Special Counsel Ex. 126 at N- moraria (2 U.S.C. 441i) was not violated bec
The Economic Club of Detroit-Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Michigan (Special Counsel Ex..13 : $1,000 1P‘ﬂ' appearance from Piranha Press
S-T); The Equitable Life Assurance Society (Special Counsel Ex. 138 at F-G); The Fertilizer I ) Counsel s - N -
stitute (Special Counsel Ex. 142 at G-H); Grocery Manufacturers of America, Inc. (Special Cow f ugh th
sel Ex. 147 at D-E); Lockheed Corporation (Special Counsel Ex. 156 at O-P); Memorial Hospi TR p ited into the Pf he
(S{)ecial Counsel Ex. 159 at B-C); National Association of Senior Living Industries (Special Co 2 102 ($2,500), 108 (33,0 05‘?!11 1&16 A 003 b See :

y A H s » s ayal ~
se 4 (85,000 payable to Senator Durenberger), 148 f$5’0%03"’ l%n&tg% Olt:l))urf;()

Ex. 167 at ?EJ%); Nalti]}lmall%estaaiaél)t ﬁ'essociaigi)n F(‘Splecij;.lss Counsel %}sx 17;11 aéo G—H)l; 164 8
ial Counsel Ex. at ; Renewable Fuels ociation (Speci unse 4 5,000), 168 A
,000), 199 (84.000), 178 (85,000, 181 (85,000), 185 (5,500, 186 (32.500)

Illinois (8 i
at L-M); g:':nford University Center for Ecomomic Policy Research (Special Counsel Ex. 192-
J-K); TRW, Inc. (Special Counsel Ex. 196 at BB-CC); Washington Discussion Group (Sp
Counsel Ex. 201 at I-J); and Williams & Jensen (Special Counsel Ex. 202 at E-F); . . B |
The five checks made payable to Senator Durenberger and deposited without endorsem
Piranha Press were provided by American Association of Equipment Lessors (Special Co
Ex. 93 at B-C); The Castroviejo Society (Special Counsel Ex. 122 at F-G); Drexel Burnham
bert, Inc. (Special Counsel Ex. 134 at H-I); National Association of Realtors (Special Counsel
166 at G-H); and Pathology Practice Association (Special Counsel Ex. 181 at H-K); . £
47 See Special Counsel Exs. 93, 96, 104, 105, 126, 147, 159, 166, 188, 192.

Fis ; ;
Senator Durenberger’s Counsel hag argued that the

ly become involved in thi
S R sl Gl B B T M,
poun i oo ! '

3 of money specific groups could pay for the Senator's aglpea::ig? ?ggfﬁ%ﬁizﬁhﬁi t&e

tor endorsed this honorarium. check to Piranha Press. See Special -

ause they were aware of the $2,000 per appearance limitation on
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cial Counsel Ex. 26;'1[ 8. Mr. Doherty then received the stqr;;iar
confirmation letter from the publisher. He described his reaction
this letter as follows: ' ' o

This letter made me very angry. Mr. Diamond’s letter ..
presumed that GHAA had inquired about the  Senator-
doing a book promotion, and that the-Senator’s appearance.
at the June 1986 GHAA -conference would be -a book pro--
motion. GHAA, however, had invited the Senator to speak
about health care. I believed:that -GHAA was being “hus-.

" tled” by Piranha Press. - :

Id., | 11. : : ST
Some organizations objected so strenously to the terms require
- by Piranha Press for the Senator’s appearance that they withdre
their invitations. See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 31, 26, 69, 71 an
74. For instance, Ms. Samoszuk of CCH stated: “I decided that-
would not be feasible.or.proper to have the Senator speak at the:
conference, given the conditions imposed by the attorney for the:
publisher.” Special Counsel Exc. 71, | 10.: S
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that the Senator’s address [ : -
e . to the APA] was
;EHS." §§111)aez?;1 %d 1ot speak about his ]book(;;ggr?d no books w.
od wittr e K(I):ilxllselt hEex.A 21%&” G? Accordingly, Mr. Cutler consglrg '
| A_PA ot 1o Kle 'th,e paymént 1_nene.ral Counsel, who advised the

book promotion.,

. ..F. Representative Appearances During 1985 and 1986

Summarized below are the relevant facts concerning. four . seps
rate “promotional appearances” by Senator Durenberger durin
1985 and 1986. These appearances are illustrative of-the Senator
-conduct during.this time frame, and serve to demonstrate the lac
of meaningful distinetion between the promotional and honorari
appearances that he made. '

- Spgcial_ (igunsel Ex. 46, 7. :
onsistent with this advice. th i in

-.' rélfll%lé?st'otfiﬁ&goo tto v ; ]e),u :éx:b eArPA issued a check in the

: 8, the Senator: endorsed thig. . pa fnent ‘Pi Y

: ; S::SSSf)ea(l:Iilgl goﬁvgs fl%)omted‘into the Pirgnha Prccggc%ar&(l){ 535331}111?

1. MARCH 1985 AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION SPEECH | ' : 1sel Bx. 112 at V-, )

St D2 MARCH 1985 THE TOBACCO INSTITUTE SI;EECﬁ

enator Durenberger was invited to ;
| ] enberger w to speak at i
8{) r;v;?irégeﬁvf? tﬁ) thirty members of tﬁe Gove?'rll)rlr‘xzzillifagt gzl'g%'tmg
sommit Maz(')low %O'I;?{bsagcg Institute on March 21, 1985 bI;r for;gle::
that the Tnatipere ook P enators Cook and Durenberger- discussed

at the pay an honorari i i
with hls_ appearance. Special Counsel E}l(u%f,f %zé(.)osoeﬁaggl? Ill)el(l:g;ﬁ

berger did not advise S

. e Senator Cook of hi : .

Zlila SIZII'less during this discussion, nor ;dic;shzrgggge;ln:&t' Wﬂg! ran-
- ator Cook, who attended the break Jon s book,

Senator Durenberger’s speech as follows: f?St meeting, described

toxWBﬂ:ei 1<)iid not 'speciﬁcally recall the substance of Sena-
generally t: iizgscﬁigiikfégg Id c;_rec.all o} dhey related
Senator Do hen °glslative 1ssues. I do not recall
) 1berger mentioning either hi i
publisher during his remarks before I;;Iigsl?lggil;(lfgeorT}}lll:

In January 1985, the American Psychiatric Association (“APA
invited the Senator to deliver the keynote address at the APA!
Federal Legislative Institute in March of that year. Jay Cutle
.Special Counsel and Director of Government Relations for -th
APA, stated in an affidavit that the Senator was invited. to partici-?
pate in this event because of his position as Chairman -of the
Health Subcommittee of the Senate ‘Finance Committee. Speci
Counsel Exc. 23, | 3. : ' \

In a series of telephone conservations prior to the Senator’s a
pearance between Anne Kelly of the Senator’s staff and Linda:
Hughes of the APA staff, arrangements were made for the pa;
ment of a $2,000 honorarium to the Senator. Ms. Hughes stated i
her affidavit that there was no mention of the Senator's boo
during any of these conversations. Special Counsel Exc. 39, |
Neither Mr. Cutler nor Ms. Hughes, both of whom were present for;]
{:)hekSe‘n%tor’s g{)eﬁch, drecallshany meﬂtii)n 1()13:1 the Slfna}xltor of d his’} B

ook or his publisher during his speech. In addition, both stated ing enator di i J; .
their afﬁda\?its that the Sex%ator’s%ooks were neither sold nor:di did not display any of his books at the meeting, or.

) r'dis-4- otherwise offer those books for ;
2 : : .20 - X sale at th i
15)1ayed during the APA meeting. Special Counsel Exs. 23, | 6; 39_,‘ ,: Spemal Counsel Ex. 21, | 4.51 e meeting,.

Immediately following the Senator’s speech, Ms. Hughes was.in:4
formed by a member of the Senator’s staff that the honorariumj nfsﬁgi‘t’rm Soved in the United States Senate from 1968 to 1975
payment was to be made payable to Piranha Press. Mr. Cutler wagbreakfast meeting and doos g 2oopie", Vice President for Federai Relations, also atte ded
-troubled by this proposed payment because, in his words, he “knewj any mention or display of the Senator's books, My Lerit:

Continued
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i ting, irénberger apparent-
At the conclusion of the meeting, Senator Duren _
ly was offered a Tobacco Institute check in the amount of $2ng2:
Senator Durenberger then a_skeq$ ZS&r)lgtgr Cc:i)k t;alﬁ?:et : Il;‘iarl-)é?lha
ment check in the amount of $2, issued pa iranha -
i ' h Senator Cook found
Press. Special Counsel Ex. 21, { 5. Alfhoug Sen Coo :
i “ 1al;” he compiled with- Senator
this request to be “somewhat unusual;” L  enator .
's wishes and on March 28, 1985 the Tq acco tute -
Eel:ll"cegbc%‘gc?; ?n“;:hat amount to Piranha Press: Special Counsel: ,E_g
21,7 6. ) ' .

3. APRIL 1986 MIDWEST PODIATRY CONFERENCE SPEECH

invi he Am
n February 1986, Senator Du'renb‘(‘erger wag invited by the
icz}n Podiatrig Medical A(s;;)ciatlorh(l 'AI')sl,VI%h)e tge a;:i;il;ssw f; :sh%fvvg::d
i Conference in Chicago, Illinois. Tl i inv;
ioilriglz at this event because of his Ap(‘)s1t10n as Cha;;gnansof (t::i};e
Health Subcommittee of the Senai.:e Finance- Comml ete.1 Apffeair
Counsel Ex. 18, { 3. John Carson, «Dlyeqtor of Governmen LA i
for the APMA, coordinated tlaeblogtﬁtlcss of tt};'?s E&r:f%tg; {s;hgpé):na
. Mr. Carson was informed by the Senato » €
?;ig: xfati(z)issllip with Piranha Press_ and ‘subsequently ie(zlen'gﬁd
the standard Piranha Press confirmation let_ter_. As re((liues_e , th
APMA made payment to Piranha Press within ten fays- ge
letter, approximately three weeks in advance of the con t:gerf) : z;I{ha v,
Several weeks before the event, Mr. Carson contac < ir e g
Press to discuss the book display. In his affidavit, Mr. _ar.so_n_r'
scribed the ensuing events as follows: = ~ :

erson with whom I spoke—I believe it was Gary
Dizr}:or?d—informed me that it woul'd be necessary for tfhe,
APMA to make a table available at its annual m_e#;mg ,o(li ‘
a display of the Senator’s book(s). I was both wi éﬂg a;le__
‘prepared to act on this request . e Hoyvever, en e
ceived a telephone call from Jodi Mathison or someo e
from Piranha Press informing me that there was ni)( n)ee
to display or otherwise promote the Senator’s book(s) a
the annual meeting.

- . _ id no
ial Counsel Ex. 18, | 6. Not surppsmgly,'the APMA did n

gi%i)cl{aa; or sell the Senator’s books at its meeting. Senatqr lDuZe?,
berger did not mention his book or his pubhshe_r, or any %) Ea:n &
publish books, at his speech for the APMA. Spgmal Coupse x. 1
I %t is' noteworthy that the Senator also spoke before the APMAi
annual Leadership Conference in M?.r(;h 1987. Mr. Cars;,on agaa !
was responsible for arranging the logistics Qf the Sengtﬁz s appede
ance. Although the Senator’s speech at the 1987 %6 wév}al\s &
scribed by Mr. Carson as very similar to his 19 p sp(zﬁ éena
APMA was not asked to and did not make payment for ! % na
tor's 1987 appearance to Piranha Press. Special Counsel Ex. :
1L .

characterized the Senator’s appearance as “a traditional honorarium event.” Special Cou
Ex. 49, 1 4.
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: 4. NOVEMBER 1986 NATIONAL RURAL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE
ABSOCIATION SPEECH

Senator Durenberger also was invited to speak before the Na-
tional Rural Electric Cooperative Association (“NRECA”) Coopera-
-tive Leadership Orientation Conference on November 18, 1986. In
its letter of invitation, NRECA offered an honorarium payment of
$2,000. See Special Counsel Ex. 175, p. B. This invitation was ac-
cepted by the Senator through Ms. Mathison of his staff. Robert
Lively of the NRECA staff and Ms. Mathison discussed the details
of the Senator’s appearance, including the $2,000 honorarium pay-
ment. Special Counsel Ex. 50, 5. Ms. Mathison informed Mr.
Lively generally of the Senator’s arrangement with Piranha Press.
She-did not, however, mention the Senator’s books during this con-
versation. Id.

Sometime thereafter, Mr. Lively received a memorandum from
Piranha Press regarding the arrangements for the Senator’s ap-
pearance. He then had three separate conversations with a repre-

sentative of the publisher. The representative indicated that the

$2,000 honorarium previously agreed upon would not be sufficient
‘under the terms of the Senator’s arrangement with Piranha Pregs.
She further informed Mr. Lively that the fee would be $5,000 and
the NRECA would be required to purchase 500 of the Senator’s
books. Id., | 7. .

On behalf on NRECA, Mr. Lively objected strenuously to this re-
quest. As Mr. Lively stated in his affidavit, he felt that Piranha
Press was pressuring NRECA. Id, 19. Ultimately, the representa-

- tive from Piranha Press agreed to the $2,000 figure, and further

allgreﬂedothat NRECA would not be required to purchase any books.
., 1 10.

Bob Bergland,5? the Executive Vice President and General Man-
ager of NRECA, stated in his affidavit that Senator Durenberger
had been invited to speak before NRECA'’s Cooperative Leadership
Orientation Conference because he was a member of the Senate

i Subcommittee on Intergovernmental Relations of the Committee

on Governmental Affairs. Special Counsel Ex. 11, ] 3. Mr. Bergland
stated in his affidavit as follows:

The Senator never discussed his book(s) or his publisher
with me privately. While I do not specifically recall the.
topic of the Senator’s speech, I know that he did not dis-
cuss his book(s) or publisher during his speech. I did not
see any display of the Senator’s book(s) at the Conference,
nor to my knowledge were his book(s) available for sale.
The Senator’s appearance before NRECA was not a book
promotion." NRECA treated his appearance in the same
manner as any traditional honorarium event.

Special Counsel Ex. 11, 1 6. It should be noted that there is no ap-
parent nexus between NRECA’s interests in energy matters and
the Senator’s role on the Governmental Affairs Committee on the

52Mr. Bergland served as the member of the United States House of Representatives from
Minnesota’s Seventh Congressional District from 1971 to 1977, and then as the Secretary of the
U.S. Department of Agriculture from 1977 to 1981. .
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one hand, and the Senator’s books on national defense and health
policy issues on the other.

G. Advice to Senator Durenberger Counseling Against his
Relationship With Piranha Press

Many of Senator Durenberger’s advisors and staff members were
troubled by his arrangement with Piranha Press. Several personal- -
ly cautioned the Senator against his continued participation in that

ngement.
arg?m%ﬁie Powell, the Senator’s Legislative Director from 1983 to -
August 1985, stated in his affidavit that he was co_nqerned that the
arrangement ‘“would have the appearance of avoiding the overall .
limitation on honoraria income.” Special Counsel Ex. 67, 2. Mr
Powell discussed these concerns with his staff collpagues, Messrs. ;
Horner and Kahn, whom he understood shared his concern. The .
Senator’s arrangement with Piranha Press was one of the factors
that ultimately contributed to Mr. Powell’s decision to leave the
Senator’s staff. Id., | 11. ) _ L

Mr. Kahn stated in his affidavit that he received. com’plamts_
about Mr. Mahoney’s approach in negotiating the Senator’s book ;
promotion appeéarances and discussed the issue w1t!r1 Messrs. N_Ia :
honey and Kelley, and perhaps with the Senator himself. Special -
Counsel Ex. 42, { 8. In particular, Mr. Kahn stated that he received
complaints about Mr. Mahoney’s efforts “to negotiate for the }’1’1gh-
est promotional fee possible for the organizations in question. Id

Michael Bromberg, a campaign fundraiser for Senator Duren
berger, reacted similarly to the Senator’s arrangement Ynth his
publisher. Mr. Bromberg was so concerned that _he raised  the
matter with the Senator personally in 1985. He .spec1ﬁcally told the
Senator that the business community was being an!;agonlzed by

Mr. Mahoney’s dealings with them on Piranha Press behalf, and
that the arrangement created an appearance of impropriety. Spe
cial Counsel Ex. 14 ] 9. , )

This view apparently was shared by many of the Se,nator s advi-

sors. Dr. Donald Fisher, once a member of the Senator’s re-ele,ctlon
Steering Committee, stated in his afﬁdavi‘t that the Senato,r s ar-
rangement with his publisher had been discussed dprmg Steering
Committee meetings, and that many of the Committee members
were uncomfortable with the Senator’s relationship Wl'l.',h Piranha
Press. Special Counsel Ex. 29, {5, 6. Sim_ilarly, Frederick Graefe,
an attorney and friend of the Senator, testified that he recommend-
ed that the Senator terminate his relationship with Piranha Press.
Special Counsel Ex. 435 at 102-104. Inasmuch as the questionable
character of the Senator’s promotional arrangement seemed obvi-
ous to those around him, one might fairly question why the Sengf
tor himself allowed it to continue.?? S

. VL. EVIDENCE REGARDING THE CONDOMINIUM TRANSACTIONS

Following . his election to the  Senate in June 1979, .Senator
Durenberger purchased a one-bedroom condominium (#603) locat-.
- ed at 1225 LaSalle Avenue in Minneapolis for $48,000, which he
used during his frequent travels to that city. Senator Durenberger
has represented that effective July 28, 1983 he formed an invest-
ment partnership with Roger Scherer, a personal friend and the
owner of the unit (#708) directly above the Senator’s. Both the
‘Senator and Mr. Scherer contributed their respective condominium
units to the partnership entity. Senator Durenberger then rented
his unit (#603) from the partnership at a per diem rate of $65.

In June 1985 Senator Durenberger placed his interest in his part-
nership into a qualified blind trust established pursuant to the
Ethics in Government Act. In his capacity as general partner, the
- Senator:deeded the property to Michael Mahoney as trustee of that
trust. ' :

On March 81, 1987, in response to Mr. Scherer’s request, the
partnership was terminated. The Senator then sold the condomini-
um unit to the Independent Service Company (“ISC”), a Minnesota
business owned by Paul Overgaard, “effective” April 1, 1987. Fol-
lowing this sale, the Senator rented the condominium from ISC at
- a per diem rate of $85. Because the deed and related documents ev-
idencing this sale have never been filed with the county Registrar
i)é(’)l‘itles, legal title to the property has never been transferred to

Through this entire period, from August 1983 to mid-November
1989, Senator Durenberger claimed and received $40,055 in Senate
travel reimbursements for the costs incurred in renting the condo-
minium from the partnership and ISC,54

Special Counsel finds that in these matters, Senator Durenberger
engaged in a pattern of improper conduct which has brought dis-
j .credit upon the United States Senate. Special Counsel specifically
finds that Senator Durenberger was a participant in the back
dating of the two real estate transactions. here at issue, and that
these transactions were conceived and orchestrated wholly as a
means of permitting the Senator to claim Senate per diem reim-
. gursement for staying in -what was in essence his Minnesota resi-

ence. .
~ The effect of these transactions was to transfer to the Senate,
and ultimately the American taxpayer, the cost of maintaining
property which served as the Senator’s sécond home.55 Indeed, it
would seem that the character of the. Senator’s use of the condo-
minium essentially has not changed since he purchased the proper-
ty in 1979. Since that time, the Senator has maintained his person-
al belongings in the condominium, stayed in the unit during his

. E 5‘2S§3é1ator Durenberger has refunded $11,005 of this sum to the'Senate. See Special Counsel

x. 206, .

- The Senator also received $7,755 in reimbursements from the Durenberger Volunteer Com-
mittee, his official election committee, as payment for the condominium rental costs incurred
during travel to Minnesota. See Special Counsel Ex. 407.

55 In his statement to the. Committee, Senator Durenberger stated that the partnership was
not “a financial windfall for me.” Hearing Transcript (June 13, 1990) at 33-34, However, reim-
= bursements received from the Senate inured directly to the Senator’s benefit by helping to pay
- the mortgage on the Senator’s condominium,

i»l K3 . . . v lati
53 Senator Durenberger acknowledged in his presentation to the Committee that_ hx's_re
ship wai Piranha Pregs “sure as heck looks like a way of gettin ’aroungi the law limiting ho_lig-ﬂ
raria . . . . I should have know it and I should have avoided it.” Hearing Transcript (June-
1990) at 43. .
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travel to Minneapolis, and generally had unrestricted access to the

roperty at all times. ) ,
P Fli)nal{y, Special Counsel finds that at various times the Senator’s
interest in the condominium was concealed from .the Senate D_1sf
bursing Office. The true ownership of the condominium for whlgh
the Senator was claiming rental reimbursements was thereby mis-
represented to that Office. , _

Special Counsel finds that Senator Dgrenberger s conduct in
these matters reflects an abuse of his United States Senate office
and a misuse of United States government funds. _Takex} collective-
ly, this conduct is of such a nature as to bring discredit upon the
United States Senate.

A. The Condominium Transactions with Roger Scherer

Special Counsel finds that the real estate partnership between
Senator Durenberger and Mr. Scherer. was conceived and strue-
tured expressly for the purpose of permitting Senator Durenberger
to receive Senate per diem lodging reimbursement. Special Counsel

further finds that Senator Durenberger participated in what was in"

essence the back dating of this entire transaction. Finally, it is ob-
vious that through the partnership vehicle the Senator retained a
significant ownership interest in a condominium unit Yvhlch served
as his personal residence in Minneapolis, and that this ownership

interest effectively was concealed from the Senate Disbursing -

Office. ‘ -
1. CONTEMPLATED EXCHANGE OF CONDOMINIUMS

Following the November 1982 election, Eugene Holderness, Sena

tor Durenberger’s personal friend and 1982 Campaign Manager, ad

vised the Senator to sell his Minneapolis condominium as a means_'
of reducing his monthly expenses. Durenberger Ex. 7, | 4.55 Roger

Scherer, who apparently was aware of Senator Durenberger’s ef-
forts to minimize his personal expenses, subquuently began to ex-
plore with Senator Durenberger ways in v&_'h}ch the 'Senator could
reduce the costs of maintaining his condominium residence. Duren-
berger Ex. 21, { 4-5.57 :

B%r the end oﬂfﬂJ uly 1983 Mr. Scherer and the Senator had agreeg
to enter into some form of business venture.w1th regard to their
respective condominium units.58 However, it is clear from the doc

uments produced to the Committee in this matter that the parties

originally did not contemplate a partnership or similar joint busi-

ness venture. Instead, the parities intended to exchange their re-’

spective condominium units pursuant to § 1031 of thq Internal R.ev,
enue Code, which permits the tax free exchange of like properties
Senator Durenberger then would lease unit 603, his former condo-

i i Minneapolis,

58 Mr. Holderness also suggested to the Senator that, during his future travel to i li

he instead stay in a hotel or similar public lodging. See Durenberger Ex. 7, [ 4. 1 interviewed
57 During the course of the Preliminary Inquiry in this matter, Special Counsel in rv1Deow d

number of the participants in the relevant transactions, including Eugene Holderness, ulg1 a8

Kelley, Lori Krage (now Edstrom), Richard Langlais, Roger Scherer and Heidi Shaw. Re(t:‘o :l
tions of these witnesses as provided to Special Counsel during those interviews will be referr
to periodically throughout this Report.

58 See Durenberger Exs. 21, 15; 7, 5.
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minium, from Mr. Scherer and would finance this lease in large
part through Senate reimbursement payments.

In connection with these plans, Mr. Holderness sought the advice
of Randall Johnson, a former attorney for the Federal Election
Commission and the Senator’s 1982 Campaign Treasurer, concern-
ing the Senate per diem reimbursement regulations. See Duren-
berger Ex. 9, {7 3-4. Those regulations generally allow reimburse-
ment for lodging expenses incurred on official Senate business. In

- accordance with those regulations, however, Members. are not per-

mitted to claim reimbursement for costs of staying in their ‘“resi-
dence cities in their home states” during adjournment sine die or
the traditional August recess. See United States Senate Travel Reg-
ulations § I(C) (1980).5°9

r. Johnson concluded that the Senator could claim Senate re-
imbursement for his overnight lodging in Minneapolis if he
changed his voting registration to Avon, Minnesota, a small town
in rural Minnesota in which the Senator’s parents lived. See
Durenberger Exs. 7, 16; 8, 5. Avon would then be deemed to be

_ the Senator’s “residence city” in Minnesota, and according to Mr.,

Johnson, the Senator would be eligible to receive Senate reimburse-
ment for the cost of overnight lodging in Minneapolis, even if the
Senator was simply renting back his former unit from Mr.

Scherer.60

Thus, in a June 28, 1983 letter to the Senator, Mr. Johnson
stated:

- Gene Holderness and Roger Sherer [sic] have talked to
me about the proposed transactions involving the- condo-
minium. I told them that I am ready to proceed with the
papers as:soon as you give the word. In order to minimize

+ any possible concern about receiving reimbursement out of
Senate funds for nights spent at the condominium, I believe
it is important for you to list your new unit immediately
and sell it within a reasoanble period of time. You will
have to change your legal and voting residence to some-
where outside the Twin Cities area. I think Gene suggested
that you will probably use your parents’ address, which is
perfectly acceptable under Minnesota law.

59 The relevant regulation provides in pertinent part:

,rTraveling expenses which will be reimbursed are confined to those expenses essential
to the transaction of the official business while away from the official station or post of -
t,

uty.

The official duty station of all Senate Members and employees shall be considered to
be the metropolitan area of Washington, D.C. . . . For this purpose, the official duty
station of Senators shall be considered to be their residence cities in their home States
during adjournment sine die or the adjournment period authorized in odd-numbered
years by Public Law 91-510, approved October 26, 1970 N

United States Senate Travel regulations § I(C) (1980). As was noted above, the Senate Rules

Committee recently has opined that this regulation does not permit reimbursement for expenses
incurred while a Memiber is residing in his/her usual place of residence in his/her home state
- during the sine die or traditional August recesses authorized by Public Law 91-510.

0% is interesting to note that in a series of opinions interpreting the Federal Travel Regula-

. tions, the Comptroller General has held that an employee on temporary duty may not be reim-
- bursed for the expenses of staying in a personally owned rental property, absent clear and con-

vincing evidence that but for his temporary lodging in the premises, the premises would have
been rented to some third party.

(unpublished opinion of Comptroller General, January 16, 1990).

See, e.g., In re Doubtful or Fraudulent Travel Claims, B-230385
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Special Counsel Ex. 298 (emphasis added).6! Obviously, Mr. John-

son recognized that the contemplated exchange of properties could

i no more than a gimmick to allow the Senator to claim
?:ir‘rrllgtvlvresi;int for the costs of renting h1§ own forme:r res1den§<iet.
He therefore cautioned the Senator to- dispose of his new u
qu’i‘(ﬂ{elr)',éafter, the parties took several steps in an effort EoJacl:colng-
plish the planned exchange of condominiums. On or ab011r1 ul ‘3(7: ,
1983, Senator Durenbergex;1 andS MrS. Sc}.lefeé eﬁ:l:asc;t%ixa 28§mAs (;1;

Exchange of Land.” See Special Co - 209. -
:Clllﬁigdo{)y that c%ntract, in early August 1983 the parties allso e_)r(l?:
cuted deeds conveying to one another their respect1xe copf oriuv ,
um units, and Senator Durenberger executed a form 6(2‘,ert1 icate of .
Real Estate Value.” See Special Counsel Exs. 300, 301. .

In addition, Mr. Johnson drafted a residential lease aﬁ:eeréqull
between Mr. Scherer and the Senator, prov1d1ng. for the la]*é y
rental of unit 603 at a per diem rate of .$65. See Special Couns;e;t x:
302.63 Although this agreement was signed by the Senatci:, 1S ap-
parently was not executed by Mr. Scherer. In Sep’cember,tic'1 e ex&a_.
tor and Mr. Scherer submitted the exchange co1_1tract ttl) t e c((imtczi
minium building Board of Trustees for approval. By ‘%1 fﬁ 13[ ii 1
September 26, 1983, Senaiil:or Durenbergefr reﬁlﬂzgged wit e
is Comptroller as the new owner of un _
ne%ﬁg})lsg%ouf this period, Senator Durenberger. claimed a(111d ye:
ceived Senate reimbursements for the cost of renting the condomin

ium, ostensibly from Mr. Scherer. In support of these Senate reim- -

tal invoices
t vouchers, Senator Durenberger proffered ren | :
gg;:iﬁzg by “Area Advisors,” a local rental agency which previ-

ously had managed the rental of Mr. Scherer’s unit 703. See, e.g, ‘

i 1 Ex. 408 at 15-17. . )
Spl‘alfli?liecgﬁlz? 1983, however, the parties ab?.ndon_ed thelr.plans to.
exchange condominiums because of tax considerations entirely un-

related to Senate reimbursements. As a result, the documentation -

i in ti ith the county

d to effect a change in title was never filed wit
igggﬁar (())feTitlesls‘* Accordingly, Senator Durenberger held letg}?.l
title to the condominium throughout 1983.65 Thus, because te
transaction never was completed and legal title to the ‘property

never was surrendered by Senator Durenberger, during this period

Senator Durenberger essentially was claiming and accepting

Senate monies for the cost of “renting” what was legally his owp.

unit.

81 Special Counsel submits that Senator Durenberger should have known that a change in his

voting residence to a city in which he rarely stayed, in order to justify the receipt of per diem
reimbursements, was improper.

i )83 tor paid the condominium i'
2 that in September and November 1983 the Sena_ . :
as:oclitiﬁisx? figpfi:riniﬁos. SeePSpecial Counsel Ex. 304. However, as is noted 1& S:x(:tt?:itvéb é&,az »
below, the Senator continued to make mortgage and association fee paymen f

well.

the parties’ understanding of the applicable government per diem reimbursement rates.

64 In.fact, it does not appear that the documentation required under Minnesota law to effect a.

change in legal title to the property was ever executed by Mr. Scherer.

65 As is discussed in Section VI, A, 3 below, Senator Durenberger held legal title to the prop- ;

erty until May 16, 1984,

83 As is discussed more fully in Section VI, A, 4 below, this rental rate apparently reflected. .
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As was noted above, in the fall of 1983, the Senator’s advisors
recognized that the proposed exchange of properties with Mr.
Scherer would not qualify as a tax-free transaction under the Inter-
nal Revenue Code, and therefore would trigger taxable capital gain
to the Senator. Richard Langlais, the Senator’s tax counsel, then
suggested that a partnership entity be used to accomplish the pre-
viously identified goals, and that the Senator and Mr. Scherer con-
tribute their respective condominiums as partnership assets.66 See
Durenberger Ex. 21, 1 6. According to Mr. Langlais, in October 1983
he directed Donald Lattimore, an attorney working in his firm, to
draft a written agreement. Durenberger Ex. 12, [ 4.67 ,

Several months later, in December 1983, Mr. Lattimore prepared
a draft partnership agreement, Id., 1 5. This draft agreement re-
ites that the parties had “entered into an oral agreement on or
about the 28th day of July, 1983, regarding the sharing of profits of
[condominium unit] 603 and [condominium unit] 703,” and further

‘entered into an oral agreement on or about the 28th day of July, -

1983, regarding the leasing of 603 and 703" and that “a partnership
was formed and began business on July 28, 1983.” See Special
Counsel Ex. 811,68 , .

- The parties also contemplated that the Senator would lease unit
603 from the partnership, and would claim Senate reimbursement
for his condominium lodging costs. Again, the parties discussed

- with Randall Johnson the effect of the transaction on the Senator’s

8% An undated handwritten note produced to the Committee by the Senator, possibly in Lori
Krage’s handwriting, states: N

Per Randy Johnson the exchange of property is not the best plan for the Senator. Mr.
Langlais thinks that a limited partnership would be a much better idea. Therefore the
partnership will own both condos but allocation will be such that Roger is allocated
#4608, and the Senator #703.

Special Counsel Ex. 305,

r. Langlais stated in his recently executed affidavit that he was informed in July 1983 that- .
the Senator and Mr, Scherer had agreed to form a partnership. Durenberger Ex. 12, 4. It is
striking to Special Counsel that not even Mr. Scherer, a principal to the transaction, made this

- specific factual assertion in his affidavit in this matter,

87 Mr. Langiais’ recollection is squarely contradicted by the documents prodiced to the Com-
mittee by the Senator. Those documents reflect that in September 1983, Senator Durenberger
registered with the Minneapolis Comptroller as the new owner of unit 703. Mr. Scherer’s- former
unit, and submitted the condominium exchange contract to the building Board of Trustees for

approval. These documents, although not previously marked as Special Counsel Exhibits, were
provided to the Committee by Senator D

him and his counsel, Obviously, as of the dates of those documents, the Senator and Mr. Scherer
were planning simply to exchange properties, and had no intent whatsoever for form a partner-

* ship entity.

Intent to
ship. See Nelson v. Seaborad Surety Co., 269 F.2d 882 (8th Cir. 1959) (applying Minnesota law).

“It is the intent to do the things that constitute a partnership which determines whether the
partnership relation exists,” Id. at 887. .

88 As produced to the Committee, this document was missing page 5. .
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i ised that the
i i te reimbursement. Mr. Johson _adv1se 1
ggr}::tgg cclc‘)alillré %grrll%inue to claim reimbursement if a f}flirtngiﬁgg
w?as created, but cautioned about the _Iiﬁed to reduce the p
, iting as quickly as possible. :
ag’i‘flge?ltl t; ‘1;‘(’3It':1tel:'1 gto tge Senator dated December 29, 1983, Mr.
Johnson stated: N
dominium
is 1 rtant that you conclude the con
tre{;s;sctilcl)rripion order 1:(})1 juztify tlge pe‘:S glefsl ieﬁztéfsggaelgg
i i recess.
you received during the August rec e
the straight exchang
Dos oores ek of b isallowed by the Internal Reve-
bears some risk of being disallowed by e
ice. I am more concerned about the p ]
?xg‘ilsii?i%;eand the allocations Hr(ip%seiinbgnglilielﬁatn%%ﬁ;
is your income tax specialist. ent, }
i)}lllg ;TtZI;Sp)(;int of Senate Ruhe's and 1R§u§see§}§f€?§lag ,3:36 .
lieve you can claim the per diem reimbt O ntels 1t you
i 1d be completed immediately
paperwork on this shou fed immediately i you
t done so already. Everything 7
{)lgf‘fgiengugtfst 1st, reflecting the oral agreement between -
you and Roger. o |
i . 310 . . -
Spﬁ?a])legg;lll)seil }55)3{83, Senator Durenberger retained l};{lﬁch?f;nlggecx_
hohey his Minnesota counsel, to oversee and closeb eer ransac
tion.5% See Special Counsel Ex. 443 at 116-117; ]_)ureré ergGhird -
12 Sometime after January 1, 1984 Dav1d Stemg}:lir ) a,s ﬁrmy ar
law student working as a law clerk in Mr. Mi oﬁeI}:an irm, 1o
viewed the agreement previously prepared '})oy Ric SI(; ositign s and
Mahoney, (1/1790) ot 15o190: Durenborger . 14, 4 This docu:
17/90) a -127; €] . 14, -
xgxlllf(;) Ill':grgls/ented that téhiel ;()lartie? }alc; fgé:gri(i glgx?gi I211;1 gﬁ':ll :;g;‘i(:leg
t the 28th day of July, , )
n}eggsogncg- '?SB?I’I’ and that pursuant to that agreemeéltsa pgrigé(ia;l
(s)hip was forme’d and began business on July 28, 1983. See Sp
Coltlflrll"sel{/l]zﬁoieg’s firm also drafted a number of addltlonaitgg?;
menté necessary to effect the transaction, including q1'(1e aim
deeds, by which the Senator and Mr. Scherer werelth>3 cgnglg il
respe(’:tive units to the partnership (Special CouSr;se tox)'(’s' 17, 3\ 3%
Certificates of Real Estate Value, for the 3153)_ 8 and wr
Scherer’s signatures (Special Counsel Exs. 319,S ; Affidavits of
S o o Eistered Lanil, alfge:: r(Sg;ﬁiale(lllc:;lunsel Exs. 321,
’s si s as general par _ Exs. 3
gglzl)e.r:;g :lglggsg rzizgreemgent pursuant to which the Senator Woulzd

i i i this matter, the Senator expressed:
led that during their first meeting on k ator expressed
fr::ti}giol\t’llag'oerll'e{hze(i:‘:%lzre of his various advisors to bring the partnership ma re

D bis Qeposinion in-this matter M. Mahoney testified that the partnership agreement pr

< . s
par ed by his firm, as well as the legal documents relatmg to the transfer of title to the condo-
]

ial Counsel
minium to the partnership, may have been drafted as early as late December. Special

a8 v & ‘ble. noted
Ex. 443 at 163. Mr. Mahoney’s recollection on this issue is simply not credible. As was :

o ised version of his
. : lais forwarded to the Senator a revis i king with
above, on- December 30, 1983 Mr. Lang hat as of that date the Senator was still working
e e o o o dontns o e
Tr.

a revised agreement until sometime in early 1984,

" 71 Documents produced
were created sometime ga;

71

rent unit 603, his former personal residence, from the partnership
at a per diem rate of $65 (Special Counsel Ex. 323).71 -
Se'nat'or Durenberger executed the partnership agreement, me-

flects an effective date of, July 28, 1983.73

The witness affidavits introduced by the Senator during the
hearing in this matter evidence that these documents were not exe.
Cuted until early 1984. Mr. Mahoney’s affidavit reflects his under-
standing “that the basic partnership documents were executed be-
tween December 1983 and. February 1984.” 7+ Durenberger Ex. 14
5. Mr. Scherer stated in his affidavit that he executed the “neces-
sary documents” in February 1984—some seven months after the
ﬁl’;r})orted effective date of the partnership. Durenberger Ex. 21,

5

—_—
to the Committee in this matter strongly suggest that these materials
fter January 4, 1984. On that date, Donald Lattimore of Mr. Langlais’
office forwarded to Mr. Scherer a copy of the partnership agreement and real estate documents
which Lattimore has prepared, with the request that Mr. Scherer and the Senator sign these
documents. See Special Counsel Ex. 313, This suggests that, as of that, date, Mr. Mahoney’s firm
ad not prepared any substitute materials, -
"2 In his statement-during the hearing on June 12, 1990, Mr. Hamilton, citing Travelers Ins.

* §500.24, subd, 6(a), which requires that a corporation that acquires agricultural land’ thrcug}; ’

foreclosure give a right of first refusal to the preceding owner before selling the property. This
statutory right is applicable for five years from the date that the corporation acquires the land.
e court in Travelers Ins. Co. held that the fact finder ay consider the parties’ intent in de.

‘termining the date of which a corporation acquired land, and that the term “acquire” in the

statute should be defined broadly to support the legislative goals of the Act, 1990 Minn. App.
LEXIS 548 at 10-11.

73 The partnership agreement itself fecites that it is "‘made effective the 28th day of July,

1983.” See Special Counsel Ex. 316. The signatures on the agreement are not dated, nor appar-
ently were they witnessed,

™These recollections are corroborated by certain independent documentation. For example, it
appears that Mr, Steingart provided some or all of these documents to Randall Johnson, pre-
sumably in draft form, for his review and that Mr. Johnson returned them to Mr. Steingart
with suggested additions by letter dated February 27, 1984, See Special Counsel Ex, 314, Assum-

. ing that Mr. Steingart would not have had the parties sign the documents in an incomplets

form, these materials support Mr. Scherer’s recollection.
"The deeds and the purchaser’s Affidavits, however, reflect Randail Johnson’s notarization of

- July 28, 1983, purporting to evidence that the Parties.signed the documents on that date. See

Special Counsel Exs. 317, 318, 321, 322, Mr. Johnson informed Special Counsel that he received
the documents from Mr. Mahoney’s office in February 1984. He further acknowledged that he
did not witness the signatures of the parties reflected on the deeds or the referenced Affidavits,
and that he notarized the documents when they were sent.to him in February 1984. Duren.
berger Ex. 9, 17.- However, Mr. Johnson stated that neither Senator Durenberger nor Mr.

erer was present when he notarized the documents, and according to Mr. Johnson he did not

& discuss the notarization date with Senator Durenberger. Durenberger Exs. 9,17 21, 1.
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INTEREST IN THE
3. SENATOR DURENBERGER’S CONTINUED OWNERSHIP
CONDOMINIUM .

tion of the part-

i sel finds that, even after the forma part-

ne?ls)}?ic;alsgggtl;lor Durenbergér retain%(%1 a ds1g:111ﬁcaélt 3:};1}11(;21111}5 X}

: [l 4 . . p T

terest in the condominium plzop(,e’rty. e deeds anf e
i ting an ‘“effective” July 1983 transfer Ie

fnlgiﬁgsret%e%ﬁegpartnership were not filed with the Hennepin.

County Registrar of Titles until May 15, 1984. See Special Counsel .

i i ing the partner--
18. A new Certificate of Title documenting ‘
Elfis"sg 1c;zv,vr:)l’efship of the property was issued by the Reglfs‘tﬁ?r 013
Mal})f 16, 1984.7¢ See Special Counsel Ex. 328. As a matter of Minne

sota law, therefore, legal title to the condominium continued tov be |

i te.””
i Durenberger’s name until the latter date.’ ]
mlair;zgg; it is obvious that even aftgr theﬂforﬁat?vxvlnoi }1:(}31(2 g)lii‘g
i ’ tinued in effect to -
nership Senator Durenbergfar con { ! do-
ini tnership agreement express
minium property. The parties own par cement exprose
i forth the parties’ understan
ly acknowledged this fact. In setting ' i nd nd-
i i i f taxable income or loss, the ag
ing concerning the allocation o O e eealte b,
ment states: “Taxable Income or Loss sha P? L od equally be
the Partners (on the basis that ea_ch artner :
mﬁl onZ—half interest in all Partnership Property).” See Special
) . 316 at 8.78
COI?;n:T;oE};ppears from the documents that .thexze was aSn effo:’ts,
with Senator Durenberger’s knowle'dge, to disguise thfl enat 1(1)er-
ownership interest in the partnership entity. Each of the par

ibed above identi- -
i ents and real estate documents describe nti- -
?‘i}(lelspt?l%rﬁig;ngss entity as the “Durenberger/Scherer Partnership.” .

; hip formally
h 1984, however, the name of ’Ehe partnersl 1
&la;actzflamnngi to the ‘“703/603 Association, denominating t}ﬁe uMn;t
numbers of the condominiums contributed to the entity by Mr.
r and the Senator. )
Sc%ﬁzel;:g;ons for this change are set forth in a mefgporandum to
the Senator from Lori Krage (now Edstrom) of his staff:

' d ini ich i istered under the Tor-
i h-as the Senator’s condominium \.avhxch is regis -
o I\geur;?z:;f%elzggvg;:d ::1y upon the issuance of a Certificate of Title lt’}}; ihe (é);:;%(ﬁ;gl:f
:enS ggs'l‘itles See Minn. Stat. Ann. §508.47. Special Counsel was mfm:n{ed deae dao gt
’Il'.iife issues after the following documents are filed with the I-?.eglstralr.f I% a foed of comveyan 45

" 2) the Grantor’s Certificate of Title; 3) an Affidavit gf the Purchaser of Regi: ;
i i t document. o )
if the grantor is a trust, a copy of thq trus : 4 brust pursuant to the Ethics in Gov.
tor established a qualified blind trust p b b '
er;glr;;l]tugitl?jé ti}rlxehsi:x:::l;;city as General Partner deeded the condominium property to Mr.

Mahoney as trustee of that trust. This deed, however, was not filed with the county Registrar of -

Pl s G e o e O
un}*‘i}-\g;tzz:lﬂltgffs the parties’ failure to establish a partnership ic%c/}ggght?;g?ax’i‘fs; t;rp;paatizlzgi
B s o prating cos tg ﬁ::l'lci?rll%%rzmsgﬁﬁtzﬁ g:g;;g:;g represented thai_: .since s:ipprox‘i-
t;fé;gyeggél%d;g:ﬁ?;gg ;a.i_d “mortgage, re;.llsestate tax, insurance, condo fee, utility and repair
ex'lf‘?lle‘:sexrsx;ti(;'l;J:i;ri%icige%ﬂ}g:ugjsnﬁiﬁe l:;y the Senator do not include copies of checks or

ini ts. The
similar payment documents evidencing regular mortgage and condominium fee paymen y

t, the 1983
! t of the November 1983 mortgage payment, the L
gg;llh:svg::: 11:,;1;:;1 fl%tet})l: gg?o?:: gl??%%%e,r:md a number of miscellaneous repair and utility bills.

tly prepared by the Sena-
i 1 Exs. 306, 307, 308. Moreover, typed notes apparen
tS:;sSIs)::;? ISS;;;:etha’t{:sthe Senator paid the condominium mortgage between August and De-.

cember 1983, See Special Counsel Ex. 312.

lease
terms:

amendment was created on March 28, 1984,
with Ms. Krage's March 13, 1984 memorandum reflecting her contacts with the Rules and
Ethics Committees’ staffs, Thig reading, he contends, d

completely forthcoming with the appropriate “watchdo

until early 1984,
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The name of the partnership will be “703/608 Partner-
ship” and that name will be reflected on the invoices. (I
didn’t think it looked good to have Durenberger/Scherer .
[sic] Partnership on the invoices that were being submitted
to the Senate—Tom agreed. Roger S. suggested this name

_ for the partnership, and unless you object Dave Steingart
will process the legal paperwork.)

Special Counsel Ex. 324. The Senator instructed Mr. Stein
effect this name change, and an amendment to
agreement effective March 1, 1984 was thereafter signed by the
parties.” See Special Counsel Exs. 452 at 158-159; 326,80

While the witnesses have denied that this change represented a
conscious effort to mislead the Senate, the obvious effect of the
change was to conceal the Senator’s interest in the: partnership
from the Senate Disbursing Office. Moreover, it is clear from the
very language of the quoted document that the Senator’s staff un-
‘derstood the appearance of impropriety surrounding the transac-

tion, and communicated that understanding directly to the Sena-
tor. -

4. THE LEASING OF THE CONDOMINIUM FROM THE PARTNERSHIP AND
"THE SENATOR’S CLAIMS FOR SENATOR REIMBURSEMENTS

Special Counsel further finds that, whatever itg effective date, .
e partnership was not a bong fide investment transaction and
was instead motivated solely by the Senator’s interest in obtaining
Senator lodging reimbursement. In fact, absent the receipt of these

- reimbursement monies, it appears that the partnership would have

been of no financial advantage whatsoever to the Senator.

Lessee shall pay rent at the rate. of $65 for each day he
occupies the Apartment, with a quarterly minimum rent

of $1575. Lessee shall pay rent monthly within 15 days of
receipt of a bill from Lessor.,

\

*The word processing “tag” line in the lower left corner of this document indicates that the

% Senator Durenberger’s counsel contends that this memorandum must be read in cbnjunci:ion

emonstrates that Ms. Krage was always
g’ committees. Special Counsel submits,

however, that were Ms. Krage’s disclosures to the Committee staffs in early March completely
forthcoming, there would have been no need two weeks later to change

;)}gig 8o that Senator Durenberger’s name would not ap)
ig|

the title of the partner-
Pear on invoices submitted to the Senate

the Senator and Mr. Scherer apparently did not e;{ecube this agreement

ursing Office.
*' As was noted above,
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See Special Counsel Ex. 328.52 The parties apparently continued to °

operate under the terms of the lease until the termination of the
ip in March 1987, - o

pa';ﬁel;vsﬁg:eslslsles interviewed by Special Counsel during the Pre(l;;m—

nary Inquiry in this matter generally agreed that the per diem

rental rate reflected in the lease agreement was established by ref- -

to the parties’ understanding of the Senate reimbursement
izgﬁfgtigns.“ Il{’Ir. Holderness informed Special Counsel fi;%t Eﬁe
$65 rental rate was the amount of reimbursement permitte y11 g
Senate for lodging expenses.?* Thomas H9rner similarly reé:a ted
that at his request Lori Krage, the Senator’s bookkepper, contac fe |
the Senate Rules Committee to determine the appropriate rate for

lodging reimbursement. Mr. Horner further recalled that it was

this rate which was used in the lease agreement.

Special Counsel was further informed by Mr. Holderness that the

it
i ticipated that the mortgage and other expenses for uni
gggt::sualtg ll)e I;erviced by this Senate reimbursement income. Thuts,
although Senator Durenberger would be obligated personally 'f
pay the quarterly minimum rent specified in the lease agreemerﬁ \
these rental costs would be ofi("get bly dft_mds rigelved from _ t» e
imbursement for per diem lodging costs. ‘

Sezizgr?isirf;;? in a May 29, 1984 letter to Mr. Scherer, Ms. _Krage’
noted:

. suggested you may want to .revaluate the
nu]r):gsr gf r?ig%lgts requ?red in the association dqcument%.
He does not know how this number was determined (an
neither does the Senator) and feels it may put too much
risk on the Senator.

ial Counsel Ex. 830. Indeed, Mr. Scherer reported that it was
}Slﬁe%nderstanding that the sole purpose.of the lease was to produce
income sufficient to cover the partnex:shlp s operating costs. 5 al
Mr. Holderness also informed Special Coun_sel that the $6 renda
rate did not specifically relate to the operating costs of thg contoo-
minium. The documents clearly reflect, however, that the .lena tr,
his staff and advisors were keenly aware t_hat at that. daily rzio%
the Senator needed to stay in the condominium ap_prox1mate11y o
days per year in order to cover its annual operating costs. II{I he
above referenced May 29, 1984 letter to Mr. Scherer, Ms. Krage

e i i t of the contem-
82 t are identical to those of the draft lease prepared as par -
platg1 ecs:niansl?ni%rrlnnsex:hange discuﬁsed gbove. SeqngeCﬁIh(i(})l\;nis:fl_oPéétB;gﬁ. élcl)?:etg{altwgérlg:r
honey suggested that his staff may have been provided wi ife e o i ot oat
i ing the lease agreement between the partnership an !
Sil::xfto?h;[l.s %a':hgfga(rﬁ 1g7 /90) at 139, 141. Accordingly, witness recollections _reg_ardm?oir:lhe lease
agreement proposed as part of the condclyminitzlﬂm exchar}llge aree ;)I;lel;(ri)%gd u'xs l':;e}zu;a rlﬁgﬁsapp;oxima-
83 flected in the lease also may have r !
tionT:;'etfxingsilrﬁgﬂiise: iralue of the condominium. In this regard, it shouldte})e fn&tgg ttlix‘itrt;};:
quarterly rental rate of $1,575 specified in] the leagf ’;(c)eé)resents a monthly rate o y r
8 for his previous rentals on uni X !
usgﬁlfgwﬁ{/gr,sﬁgegejagaary {)1, 1983 memorandum addressed to the Senator, Mr(.1 Iggicégmﬁ;sgd atiis
Vot 198 50 o e B0 e Tor B e pasal Douhesl Bar 297, Tho $75 rate ctted by Mr
about $25 so you have $50 left for room.” See Spe : 29T 15 rate cled oy e
tly comes, not from the Senate per diem regulation, ) e
ggleirx;sll:ggg;e;)‘roi’nu(l)gated by ;he Gez;:ra% g’?g?ceirﬁsglil:lmﬁﬂrll%ﬁb oAlti's tlz’a]t Ftlergehta}éosi-ie7gzg
ior i inclusive per diem rate o or v lis. - Reg. g
g%%&lgn(sli)sgg)c.ﬂ’}‘ﬂsa?altlécwas a(fopted by the Rules Committee as a maximum per diem for all

Senate travel on October 1, 1980. See “Dear Colleague” letter from The Honorable Clairborne .

Pell, dated October 1, 1980. This rate subsequently has been increased.
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noted: “The thing we need to watch for is that the number of -
nights the Senator spends in #603, per quarter equals at. least
twentyfive.” Id, Similarly, by memorandum to the Senator, Mr:
Scherer;_‘an,d.Mrg ‘Steingart dated April 19, 1985, the partnership’s
- bookkeeper noted: “If Dave doesn'’t stay an average of 8% days per
gon3th in the condo, we will have a cash shortage.”” Special Counsel

x.829. " ¢ _— : '

Approximately. three months later, Ms. Krage provided to Sena-
tor Durenberger. a listing of his' condominium Senate - reimburse-
ments through June 29, 1985. The Senator apparently returned
this listing with the following notation: “How many are req’d to
‘break-even’ for the year? . . . That's $552.50 expenses per month

. . .” In response, Ms. Krage informed the Senator that he would
need 702 mnights at the:condo to ‘break even’ for ’85.” Special
Counsel Ex. 332. In fact, during the seven year period which is the
subject of this investigation, .Senator Durenberger stayed in the
condominium an average of-ninety days per year;85 :

As planned, between August 1983 and March 31, 1987 ‘the Sena-
tor claimed and received from the partnership Senate reimburse-
ment for the costs of renting the condominium that he formerly
owned in-its entirety. In support of the vouchers submitted for the
period from .August 1983 to-approximately March 1984, the Senator
supplied - invoices : generated by “Area Advisors,” -a local rental °
agency. See Special Counsel Exs. 408, 409.- Thereafter, the Senator-

{3

. submitted invoices generated by the ““7108/603 Association” in sup-

port of these Senate ‘vouchers: See, e.g., Special Counsel Ex. 409,

Each of these vouchers was paid in the amounts requested.?6 -
‘A’ tax and accounting analysis of the transaction suggests that,

absent this receipt of per diem reimbursements, the partnership

simply was‘of no financial benefit to the Senator. See. Special Coun-

sel-Ex. 340. This alone indicates that the partnership was simply a

mechanism " by ‘which the Senator could personally benefit from

Senate reimbursements. S ’ - '

Special Counsel submits that-if the taxpayer is to bear the cost,
the Senator’s use of the condominium should be dictated by the
needs of Senate business, not the operating costs of the property. In
short, Durenberger—not the taxpayer—should pay his own rent.

85 At one time the parties appareritlj coritemp]ated fewef stays by the Senator, such that the
leasing costs would. only be partially defrayed by reimbursement monies. In a September 15,
1983 letter to the'Senator, Mr. Holderness stated: . EAE

.~ Youwill pay'Roger $525/mo. less any recovery. Assuming 45 nites-at $65/nite recov-

ery that reduces your rent bill for #603 from $6300 to $3375. )
Special Counsel Ex. 303. Mr. Holderness informed Special Counsel that the term “recovery” re-
ferred to Senate reimbursements. o ‘ . - o
- 881In fact, it appears that Senator Durenberger ‘may have .claimed and received reimburse-
ment for one date when he did not stay in the condominium. Senator Durenberger received
Senate reimbursement for use of the condominium on February 15, 1986. However, the Sena-
tor’s daily appearance schedule for that date reflects that he left Minneapolis for California
early that morning. The schedule is corroborated by a copy of an airline ticket produced to the
Committee by the American Association of Equipment Lessors (“AAEL”) in connection with the
Piranha Press inquiry. The ticket shows that the Senator departed Minneapolis at 9:35 a.m. on
February 15;:1986 for California. The Senator then met with an AAEL official on February 16th-
and .addressed the organization on the 17th. Piranha Press received $5,000 from AAEIL for this
appearance by Senator Durenberger. See Special Counsel Ex. 835, o
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B. Sale of the Condominium to the Independent Service Company

Senator Durenberger has represented that ownership of the con-
dominium unit was transferred by the partnership to .ISC, a ' Minne-
sota business owned by Paul Overgaard, effective April 1, 1987. The
evidence demonstrates that this “sale” was designed to allow the
Senator the continued financial benefits of Senate per diem reim-
bursement, and was back dated to April 1987 for that very purpose.
In fact, in a letter to the Senator dated Septembe;' 1989, Mr. Over-
gaard himself described the sale in a manner which supports Spe-
cial Counsel’s view that it was not a good faith transaction. In this
very revealing letter, Mr. Overgaard wrote that one could conclude
that the transaction was a mechanism to allow the Senator to col-

lect per diem reimbursements from the Senate on a residence

Specifically, Special Counsel finds as follows: C '
ISC was not identified as a buyer for the condominium until

the summer of 1987—several months after,the'purpqrfced effec-

tive date of the sale to ISC. ‘ ) _

The transaction was made retroactive to April 1, 1987, the
date immediately following the partnership’s termination, in
- order to permit the Senator to claim Senate per diem- reim-
-~ bursement for his condominium stays back to that d.ate.' St
' In approximately December 1987, ISC generated invoices for
the Senator’s stays in the condominium from-April to October
1987. Based on these newly created invoices, the Senator
sought Senate reimbursement for these rental costs. o

which the Senator actually owned. See Special Counsel Ex_. 394.87

But for the Senator’s agreement to rent the condominium -

from ISC, which was to be financed to a significant extent
through Senate reimbursements, Mr. Overgaard would not
have entered into the sales transaction. Senator Durenberger
thus used the promise of Senate funds to secure personal gain.

The parties apparently agreed that Mr. Overgaard would re-
convey the condominium to the Senator on de_mand. It there-
fore does not appear that Senator Durenberger intended to sur-
render his rights in the property. A B

The letter agreement reflecting the purchase, the deed and

related real estate documents, and the lease agreement were
not delivered to Mr. Overgaard until October 1989, almost .

three years after the April 1, 1987 “effective” date of the sale.
By virtue of the principals’ failure to file the necessary docu-

ments with the Registrar of Titles, ISC still does not have legal -

title to the condominium. Instead, legal title to the property is

in the name of the trustee of the Senator’s qualified blind

trust. : : -
Although the Senator received reimbursement from' th

Senate on a fairly regular monthly basis between February:

1988 and November 1989, he made only n_ine lump sum rental
payments to ISC—thereby effectively haymg thg use of Senate
reimbursement funds for substantial periods of time. C

87 In ‘ilis deposition in this matter, Mr. Overgaard endeavored to distance himself from this

correspondence. See Special Counsel Ex. 445 at 12-13. Special Counsel submits, however, that ‘

the meaning of the letter is patently clear on its face.

(i

Special Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger intended to do
little more than “park”. the condominium with Mr. Overgaard, as a
means of enabling him to continue to reap the benefits of Senate
per diem reimbursements. . S

1. THE TIMING OF THE PARTIES' AGREF;.MENT'

‘As has been noted above, the Senator has represented that his
condominium was sold to ISC effective April 1, 1987. The docu-
ments produced to the Committee in this matter, however, reflect
that. Mr. Overgaard was not even introduced as a potential pur-
chaser. until the summer of 1987, several months after the “effec-
tive” date of the sale. S

In response-to Mr. Scherer’s expressed intent to-withdraw from
the partnership in the fall of 1986, Senator Durenberger and Doug-
las Kelley asked Mr. Mahoney to address the effect of the partner-
ship termination on the Senator’s continued ability to claim Senate
reimbursement for condominium expenses. See Durenberger Exs.
11,11 9; 14, {-18. The parties:seemed to understand at this juncture
that by virtue of that termination the Senator would be deemed to
l?ze the sole owner of the condominium unit. See Special Counsel Ex.
38, ° : , :

Mr. Kelley told Special Counsel that he and the Senator were in-
formed that the Senator could not claim Senate reimbursement for
the cost of staying in a property, such as.the condominium, that he
owned.®® Mr. Mahoney recommended to Senator Durenberger that,
in order to claim such reimbursement in the future, he sell the
‘condominium to a third party and rent the condominium unit from
that purchaser. Deposition of M. Mahoney (4/17/90) at 207-208; see
also Durenberger Ex. 14, ] 14.

The witnesses have stated that Paul Overgaard was identified as
a purchaser for the condominium as a result of these discussions,
and that the Senator and Mr. Overgaard had an oral agreement re-
garding the sale of the condominium in late 1986 or early 1987. In
his deposition in this matter Mr. Overgaard testified that toward
the close of 1986 he had a “lovse agreement” with the Senator for
the sale of the condominium effective January 1, 1987.89 Special
Counsel Ex. 445 at-29. Mr. Overgaard also testified that the pur-
chase agreement was not conceived until after the effective.date of
the sale. Id. at 87. Mr. Mahoney similarly testified that following a
series of conversations during the latter part of 1986, Mr. Over-
gaard and Senator Durenberger réached an oral agreement con-
cerning the sale of the condominium. Durenberger Ex. 106.at 215-
216, 230-231.

88 See also Special Counsel Ex. 343, -

Mr. Mahoney tasked Jeffrey Robbins of his firm to research the question posed by Mr. Kelley.
As reflected in his file memorandum dated November 12, 1986, Robbins initially concluded that
“Inlothing in the Senate Travel Regulations indicates that termination of the partnership will
affect- Durenberger’s ability to receive the per diem lodging reimbursement amount.” See Spe-
cial Counsel Ex. 338. Both Mr. Mahoney and Mr. Kelley informed Special Counsel, however,

parties largely disregarded this written opinion, apparently on the basis that it was too
narrow.” See Deposition of M. Mahoney (4/17/90) at 201-205.

89 In response to.Special Counsel’s questions, however, Mr. Overgaard was unable to state as
OE ggat date he had an enforceable “handshake deal” with the Senator. Special Counsel Ex. 445
at 30.
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The documents, however, reflect that ‘Mr. Overgaard “hadz not
been identified as a purchaser as of June 1987. The_documents also
evidence that Mr. Overgaard was approached and agreed to pur--

chase the property sometime thereafter, and that-the parties did

not begin to negotiate the terms of the purchase until late July or
ugust of that year. ]
ea{)lz j:}ufglg 17, 1987,ySenator Durenberger dictated a note asking
his bookkeeper to confirm that claims for condominium-reimburse-
ment had been submitted to the Senate for both Max and June
1987. Special Counsel Ex. 342. Mr. Kelley, the’Senators Adm_1n1s-
trative Assistant, responded on the bookkeeper’'s behalf as follows:

As you know M[ichael] M[ahoney] gave us the legal opin-
ion that we cannot be reimbursed. Consequently, I have
held up those vouchers. Hleidi] Slhaw] is now -re-doing
them minus condo. MM is supposed to advise on alterng-
tive proposals. : A

Id. ' ' :
It appears that immediately thereafter, the Senator, Mr. Kelley

and Mr. Mahoney reviewed the history of the condominium trans-

actions ‘as well as various disposition options. Among tl}e docu-
ments produced by the Senator is a series of the Senato_r s hand-
written notes titled “MAHONEY"” and apparently dated June 18,
1987. These notes read as follows: :

orig target=get DD per diem reimb by renting from jt
venture : R

Randy Johnson’s proposal. )

‘Mahoney rejected & created partnership.

Scherer left the partnership. . : ”

Q = Does this change DD’s ability to get reimbursed?

A = No. A . A
DK Q = Can DD be reimbursed for expenses of owned »
unit? : I . :

MM A = No. .

DK = I don’t like conclusion.

MM = contacted Rules. (Dougherty)

" ? MM = buy it.—no

? John Deal [buy it]—no _ .
? D2 [buy it}-—no S ) A

MM A = Separate DD from the unit by transferring own-
ership and taking lease-back with right to buy for $1.

Would be backed up by letter from Rules. 7

DD sells unit to D2 Comm. )

DD agrees to lease for X days per mo and pay an amt = to
costs (mtg,tax,fee)

D2 picks up any shortfall. :

Special Counsel Ex. 843. It is particularly significant that. neither
Nfr; Overgaard nor ISC is mentioned in these notes. In fact, the
document suggests that an entirely different pool of potential
buyers was being discussed at this time.®0 It thus is clear that_ as of

90 Mr. i\dahone testified that, once Mr. ,Overgaarq was identified as a purchaser for the con-
dominium, no cor);sideration was given to other possible purchasers. Special Counsel g: 1;1'43 :;
: ntinu
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June 1987 the Senator was’not considering ISC as a purchaser for
the condominium. ‘ -
By letter dated June 18, 1987 » the Senator then sought the advice
of Eugene Holderness and The Honorable Paul Magnuson on this
matter. That letter indicates that as of that date the Senator did
not have an agreement, oral or otherwise, with Mr. Overgaard. In
fact, the letter reflects that the Senator may have learned only
shortly before that the partnership actually already had terminat-
ed. The letter further reflects the Senator’s understanding that he
was, or would soon be, the sole owner of the condominium unit.s?
Senator Durenberger wrote:

_ For the last five years I have had the benefit of renting
.my former condominium at 1225 LaSalle from a partner-
ship with Roger Scherer. I now discover that my legal
advice was either shaky or misleading; that Roger Scherer
very much wants to dispose of his partnership interest or
has already disposed of it; and that since March of 1987
my monthly expenses have therefore increased by approxi-
mately $550.00 or an annual, non-deductible, living ex-
pense increase of $6,600.00.

Special Counsel Ex. 344. Again, neither Mr. Overgaard nor ISC is
identified in this letter as a potential buyer for the condominium.
It seems clear, therefore, as of June 1987 the Senator did not be-
lieve that he had a sales agreement of any sort with Mr. Over-
gaard.%2 : ' - : -

It would -appear that as a result of these events, the Senator and
his advisors focused on the need to structure a new ownership ar-
rangement for the condominium. The documents produced to the-
Committee by the Senator suggests that the Senator and Mr. Over-
gaard did discuss a possible purchase agreement in late July. A
note in the Senator’s handwriting, dated simply “7/81,” reflects the
following notation: ' '

Edina Realty says hi-dollar sale price = $65,000; few
sales; more likely 60-63,000.

Overgaard d'n want to pay hi $; suggested somewhere
between it and ‘purchase price with 5-10,000 down (higher
if CORP. buys):- + balance at 1 pt over my interest. Agreed
to reconvey. .

Special Counsel Ex. 346. The Senator apparently forwarded this
note to Mr. Kelley, with the request that he “put this together.” 93
A complete set of sales documents ultimately was generated in late

221. This too suggests that Mr. Overgaard had not been identified as a buyer as of the June 1987
date of these handwritten notes. - .

1 In fact, documents produced to the Committee by the-Senator reflect that Senator Duren-
berger personally paid the condominium mortgage for the months of January, February, March
and April 1987. See Special Counsel Ex. 341. It should be noted, however, that other documents
suggest that these payments were made from the partnership account, rather than Senator
Durenberger’s account. See Special Counsel Ex. 339,

92 When shown this document during his deposition, Mr, Overgaard agreed with this conclu-
sion. Special Counsel Ex. 445 at 87. :

93 Mr. Kelley responded with the following notation: -

-Sen, I talked w MM Friday & he said it was progressing. I'll send kim your note:
Special Counsel Ex. 346. .
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August 1987 °¢ and was forwarded by Mr. M.ahoney to Mr. Over-.
gaaé;'d for his review and signature. See Special Counsel .Exs.« 350,
351. : L

These facts evidence that Mr. Overgaard was not identified as a
possigi}: p?lrchaser until the summer of 1987, that j:he'S-_enatqr did
not have a purchase agreement of any character with him prior-to
April 1, 1987, and that the sale of the condominium to ISC subse-
quently was back dated to that date. . . o

2. KEY TERMS OF THE PARTIES' ORIGINAL "AGREEMENT

From the documents produced to the Committee in this matter,
it appears that the partire)as agreed at the outset that Mr. Overgaard
would reconvey the condominium to Senator Durenberger on
demand at his own purchase price. In an undated handwritten note
to the Senator, Mr. Overgaard wrote:

I hope these items will clear up any questions: you may
have. My intent is that you get it back when you want it at.
the same price. I only want to help you stay clear w/ the
ethics questions. S

ial Counsel Ex. 405 (emphasis added). While denying that he
lslgflcany such agreement with the Senator, in his deposition in this
matter Mr. Overgaard acknowledged that the note accurately re-
flected his intent at the time it was written. Special Counsel Ex.
95. v o )
44I5nafi§a\c1:, the Senator’s own handwritten note of his “7/31 conver-
sation with Mr, Overgaard is consistent with that undt‘a‘rstandmg.
The final line of that note, quoted in full qbove, reads: “Agreed to
reconvey.” See Special Counsel Ex. 346. While Senator Durenberger
and Mr. Overgaard have disputed this conclusion, Special Counsel
believes that it is fair to conclude the Senator did not intend to sur-
render all right to his condominium, and instead simply planned to
“park” the property in Mr. Overgaard’s custody for some finite
i time,
peft:oi(s1 g{so clear that Mr. Overgaard would not have purchased the
condominium were it not for the Senator’s agreement to lease back
the property. During his deposition in this matter, Mr. Overgaard
testified that he understood from the outset that the Senator would

stay in the condominium during his visits to Minneapolis, and that

h uld receive payment from the Senator for those stays. Special
Cglm(;el Ex. 445 alt? 2y2 Indeed, among the documents generated and
forwarded to Mr. Overgaard in August 1987 is a draft res1den_t19a;
lease between ISC and the Senator. See Special Counsel Ex. 351.

i i draft letter-
4 This first documentary evidence of a formal purchase agreement is a one page er
agreemtlesntlgzwé)c August g, 1987, prepared by Mr. Mahoney. See Special Counsel Ex. 849. This

. : . isting first
rchase price of $55,000, to be paid through the assumption of an existing
ﬁgtftl:g;;g ei(i:xtstlaxepgmount gf $34,8§7 ; a cash payment in the amount o $7,4_42; aqd atfl'ilve- ea::
promissory note in the amount of $10,250, Each of these figures has been written 'mtoth : ocuf
ment in Paul Overgaard's handwrﬂting (Spec}ila! Cgur}:t}l Ex. 445 at 32), suggesting that as o
the agreement was still very much in draft form. . ] , L. .
Al‘l’%ufffr.l ?)t\}rlerg:ar%rtestiﬁed that he was interested in purchasing the Senator’s condog:mumEm
part so that he could use it during his weekday business trips to Minneapolis. Durend rger 1)1(1.
15, 11 8. Mr. Overgaard also testified, however, that he does not personally use the condominiu

without first checking with Senator Durenberger’s office to see that the Senator will not be.

ing i i . 445 at 58-59. A review of the ISC rental invoices reflects that
using it. Special Counsel Ex. 445 ai o oots thas
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Mr. Overgaard also testified that he was aware at the time that the
Senator would in turn be reimbursed for those costs. Special Coun-
sel Ex. 445 at 24-25. : :
Absent an understanding that the Senator would rent the condo-
minium on a regular basis, Mr. Overgaard: testified that he would
,'not have agreed to purchase. the condominium. Id. at 9, 22, thus,
Senator Durenberger used the promise of a rental agreement, fi-
nanced by Senate reimbursement funds, as an inducement to Mr.
Overgaard to purchase the property. . '

3N EGOTIATIQN OF THE TERMS OF THE TRANSACTION AND EXECUTION
o - OF THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION

._Special Counsel finds that the parties were negotiating the mate-
‘rial terms of the agreement as late as February 1988, long after the
supposed effective date of April 1, 1987, and that the documenta-
tion necessary to transfer title to the condominium to ISC was not
delivered to Mr. Overgaard until October 1989. Finally, because the
appropriate legal documents never were filed with the Registrar of
Titles, ISC'still does not hold legal title to the property.

As was noted ‘above, in August 1987 Mr. Mahoney forwarded to

r. Overgaard' certain documentation regarding the sale. The
terms of the sale varied considerably over the next several manths,
The parties’ agreement initially contemplated a sale effective as of
January - 1, 1987. The agreement signed by Mr. Overgaard in
August 1987 therefore stated that the condominium would be sold
effective January 1, 1987 at a price of $52,500, paid as follows: as-
-sumption of the existing first mortgage in the amount of $35,134;
cash payment of $7,350; and a five year promissory note payable to
Senator Durenberger in the amount of $9,995.96 Ag of August 1987,
the parties also apparently contemplated a lease agreement be-
tween Mr. Overgaard and the Senator’s official election committee,
See Special Counsel Ex. 351. ,

In October 1987, however, ISC was informed that the partnership
had paid operating costs on the condominium through March 31,
1987 and had:received rental payments from the Senator for that
same time period. See Special Counsel Ex. 356. Realizing that the
sales agreement therefore could not be dated January 1, 1987, Mr.
Overgaa;'d wrote Douglas Kelley in early November 1987:

"'Thihgs are really going from bad to worse with regard to
the Condo. Much remains to be done regarding the sale; no
accounting of per diem due has been forthcoming; associa- B

almost one-third of the days in which the Senator stayed in the condominium from 1987 to 1989
were weekdays (excluding Fridays). This obviously would have cut significantly into the avail-
ability of the unit to Mr. Overgaard. - .

26 Mr. Mahoney testified that the agreement was in the nature of a “contract for deed.” Spe-
cial Counsel Ex. 443 at 260-62. See.alsy Durenberger Ex, 14, ] 17. Generally, a contract for deed
anticipates that the purchaser will not be entitled to the deed to the property until certain fi-
nancial contingencies, typically payment of a promissory note, have been satisfied. See R,
Larson & B. Harwood, Minnesota Real Estate 162 (1984). In this case, a contract for deed pre-
sumably would have required that the deed be delivered to Mr. Overgaard at the time of his
final 1992 payment on the promissory note executed as part of the transaction. The documents
memorializing the sale to ISC do not reference such a contract, In addition, the deed to the prop-
erty was delivered to Mr. Overgaard in October 1989,. well before the promissory note to the
Senator had been fpaid in full. N

In any event, if Mr. Mahoney’s testimony on this issue is accurate, it arguably would only
defeat the Senator’s claim that Mr, Overgaard actually owned the property as of April 1987,
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tion dues are three or more months in arrears and we
have been advised that the association has first right of re- -
fusal on any sales contract. Co

The sale was to be done effective January 1st and now I -
find out payments were made to the partnership at least
thru March. - : ,

Special Counsel Ex. 354. -

In early 1988 Mr. Overgaard directed his accountant to review
the various payments made by both Mr. Overgaard and Senator
Durenberger since the initiation of the transaction, and to arrive at
revised purchase figures reflecting these payments. These calcula-
tions resulted in an adjustment of the purchase price itself, from
$52,500 to $52,804, as well as an increase in the amount of the
promissory note to be executed as part of the transaction. See Spe-
cial Counsel Ex. 371.97 ’ - ' .

Mr. Overgaard then forwarded these calculations to Mr.-Ma-
honey, with the request that he

prepare a new note for $10,299.96 dated April 1, 1987; redo
the contract for deed to reflect an April Ist purchase; get -
condo clearance for the sale and return my note in_the
amount of $9,995.66. : ' : :

Id. (emphasis added). Mr. Mahoney provided the requested materi-
al, all dated “April 1, 1987” on February 24, 1988.98 See Special
Counsel Ex. 378. Thus, it was not until February of 1988 that the
parties agreed to an “effective” sale date of April 1, 1987. »
Even as of that date, however, the parties did not have an agree-
ment on the remaining terms of the transaction. After consulting
with counsel, Mr. Overgaard revised the lease and the letter agree-
ment to provide that Senator Durenberger would be obligated to
pay the total costs of owning and operating the apartment, regard-
less of the amount of time which he spent in the apartment each
month. See Special Counsel Ex. 874. In early March 1988, Mr. Over-
gaard forwarded these materials to Mr. Mahoney for his review.
Special Counsel Ex. 375. Mr. Overgaard also sent a copy of all these

materials directly to the Senator, with some explanation of the sug--

- gested changes. See Special Counsel Ex. 376.. Apparently, neither

Mr. Mahoney nor the Senator was willing to agree to these terms

at that time, as neither executed the agreements as revised by Mr.
Overgaard. ) )

As of early 1989, the sale still had not fully been reduced to writ-
ing. On January 11, 1989 Mr. Overgaard sent the following letter to
Senator Durenberger:

87 By the fall of 1987, both the mortgage and condominium association dues on Unit 703 were

in arrears. In early December 1987, ISC issued a check to the Eberhardt Management Company
in the amount of $1,285.56 to cover association dues and late penalties for the months of July

through December 1987. See Special Counsel Ex, 364. In addition, in August 1987 ISC issued a -

check to the Commercial State Bank in the amount of $2,993.12. After some confusion, in No-
vember 1987, $1,844.62 of this amount was applied to the outstanding condominium mortgage
payments due through October 1987; the remainder was applied to back due taxes. See Special
Counsel Ex. 361.

®8 In fact, it appears that the identity of the parties to the agreement varied over time. The'

letter agreement forwarded to Mr. Overgaard in January 1987 identified the partnership as the

geller. See Special Counsel Ex. 351. In contrast, the letter agreement dated April 1, 1987, for- -

warded to Mr. Overgaard in February 1988, identified the Senator's blind trust as the seller of
the premises. See Special Counsel Ex. 373. :
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It .is now nearly three years since we entered into an
agreement that Independent Service Company would buy
your condominium unit. ISC made the agreed-to payments,
executed the contracts provided and assumed payments to .
the bank management company for monthly service and
payment of taxes. x - . ‘
~To date, we have received no executed document showing .
the transdction to. be completed. Tax statements still come
in’ your name. The bank loan is still in your rame and
nothing seems to be happening. : :

Special Counsel Ex. 386 (emphasis added).?? :
- In response.-to this letter, the Senator arranged a meeting with
Mr: Overgaard to discuss the transaction, and subsequently direct-
ed Mr. Mahoney’s staff to deliver the requested documents to Mr:
Overgaard. See Special Counsel Ex. 387. It was only after this meet-
ing, in April 1989, that the Senator signed the lease agreement
dated April 1, 1987 on the basis of which he had been “renting’’ the
property from Mr. Overgaard. See Special Counsel Ex. 391. _
Despite these efforts, executed sales documents still were not
forthcoming to Mr. Overgaard: Finally, in September 1989, Mr.
Overgaard wrote to Senator Durenberger as follows:

Please excuse the handwritten letter but I prefer to keep
this totally confidential. The purpose of this letter is to ask ,
that we terminate the condo sale at the earliest possible

- date. I have just closed my corporate books for the third

.. time since. we entered into the purchase agreement and
' 'sgill do not have the necessary documents to prove pur-
-.chage. .. ..

Beginning with our fiscal year end May 31, 1987 I have
paid an audit fee in excess of $3,000.00 annually for a cer-
tified audit which would demonstrate fiscal soundness for
clients' who request: such ‘information. Each of those. re-

. ..ports has been footnoted because the auditor cannot prove
- ownership. of the condo unit. I don’t understand what you
 * and Mahoney are accomplishing. by refusing to complete
" the transaction. Whatever the reason, I want out. The last
thing I need is to-get involved in your ethics investigation
and be accused of participating in a sham transaction by
which you collect per diem from the Senate on a residence
you actually own. That is certainly a conclusion that could
be reached as things stand now.

* *® * * *

.. Now it is my turn to feel used. You and Mahoney must
have some reason for not giving me the signed sale docu-
ments. I can’t figure out the reason and obviously the two
of you aren’t going to let me in on those reasons. You have

991t is interesting to note that while Mr. Overgaard was attempting unsuccessfully to obtain
evidence of .the sale of the condominium to ISC, Mr. Mahoney filed with the Registrar of Titles
the documents necessary to transfer title to the condominium from the partnership to himself
as trustee of the Senator’s blind trust. A Certificate of Title, showing Mr. Mahoney to be the

legal owner of the property in his capacity as trustee, was issued on October 26, 1988, Special
Counsel Ex. 385,
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the cash flow information I gave you so you must know by
now that it’s no big profit for ISC. You also must be aware
that you have collected more per diem than you have paid
to ISC. I presume that’s because of your "concern ‘that
you're being overcharged. o

Dave, this thing has dragged along for so long that I'm
just weary of the whole thing. I'll gladly settle for the
return of my downpayment and call it quits. There are
some things just not worth hassling about and this is cer-
tainly one of them. - ~

lS cial Counsel Ex. 394 (emphasis added).190 : e
pIen his recently executed affidavit, Mr. Overgaard has denied that
the transaction was a “sham.” Durenberger Ex. -15,-1 11.. Special

Counsel submits, however, that Mr. Overgaard’s September :1989 -

letter is far more credible than his more recent affidavit. Unlike
that affidavit, which was written for public consumption as part of
these proceedings, the quoted letter was a confidential communica-
tion between friends, which Mr. Overgaard - did not anticipate
would be held up for public scrutiny. Instead, the letter was intend-
ed to prompt Senator Durenberger into action—a purpose which
would not be served by a baseless charge of unethical conduct. Far
from being outraged at its contents, howeyelr, Senator Durenberger
apparently was concerned about the letter’s intent and effect.

Indeed, as a result of this letter, Mr. Mahoney, Mr. Kelley and
Mr. Overgaard met in early October 1989. See Special Counsel Ex.
396. Mr. Mahoney delivered the requested documentation to Mr.
Overgaard at that time, thereby concluding the 4p‘rotra,1cted sales
transaction. Yet, as of the initiation of the Corqmlttee s Prelimi-
nary Inquiry in this matter, those documents'stlll have not begn
filed with the Hennepin County Registrar of Titles. Thus, ISC still
does not have legal title to the condominium property.

4. THE SENATOR’S CLAIMS FOR SENATE REIMBURSEMENT-

Special Counsel finds that the sales ‘agreement between Senator
Durenberger and Mr. Overgaard was back dated to April 1, 1987 in
order to permit the Senator to claim Senate per diem lodgmgvrelm-
bursement to that date. Heidi Shaw, the Senator’s staff Bookkeep-
er, routinely prepared Senate reimbursement vouchers for submis-

sion to the Disbursing Office. Ms. Shaw initially did not receive -

rental invoices, either from the partnership or ISC, for the period
after March 81, 1987—the partnership terminqtlon date. Accord-
ingly, she prepared vouchers for this period using her own hapd—
written notes of the dates the Senator stayed in the condomini-
um.lOl

Because the Senator had been advised by Mr. Mahoney that he
could not receive Senate reimbursement for the expenses of staying
in property which he owned, Mr. Kelley instructed Ms. Shaw to

199 At the time of this letter there was not yet an “ethics investigation” of the condominium

matter. Apparently, therefore, Mr. Overgaard was referring to the pending Piranha Press in-

quiry—and obviously was expressing his concern that that inquiry might be expanded to includg
the condominium issue. . :

$°c‘°§e§l;‘.g.l, Sr;)lecial Counsel Ex. 412. Ms. Shaw also reported that she knew that she could not
submit vouchers for these expenses unless she had an invoice reflecting the costs to attach to
the vouchers.
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delete from Senate reimbursement vouchers -any claims for condo-
minium lodging expenses. In response.to Mr. Kelley’s instructions,
Ms. Shaw simply crossed through these amounts on the voucher
forms and supporting handwritten. notes, See, e.g., Special Counsel

. Ex. 412. These vouchers then were submitted to the Disbursing

Office, and payments were made by that Office in the amounts re.
quested. . . . . i

In November 1987, Mr. Mahoney’s staff informed the ISC staff
how to generate invoices for the Senator’s stays in the condomini-
um. Thus, by letter .dated November 11, 1987, Tamara Hardy of

Mr. Mahoney'’s office wrote to Joan Sorenson of ISC:

- Enclosed also find an example of the form of bill . previ-
ously submitted to Heidi at Senator Durenberger’s office
in Washington, D.C. In order that reimbursement can be
obtained from the Senate, a similar type of bill is necessary
and should be sent to the attention of Heidi Shaw, 154 -
Russell Senate Office Building, Washington, DC 20505,

Special Counsel Ex. 359 (emphasis added).102 '
"In December 1987, ISC forwarded to Ms. Shaw rental invoices for
the entire period from April through October 1987 in the required
format. Special Counsel Ex. 445 at’ 88-89; see Special Counsel Ex,
365. After receiving these invoices, at Mr. Kelley’s direction ‘Ms.
Shaw then prepared revised Senate vouchers for submission to the
Senate Disbursing Office. These “revouchers” included the newly
documented condominium rental costs, and were supported. by the

newly created ISC rental invoices, See, e.g., Special Counsel Ex. 412,

Senator Durenberger personally. reviewed and signed each of these
“revouchers” before they were submitted to the Disbursing Office.
- In submitting these materials to the Disbursing Office, Senator
Durenberger represented to the Senate that he had rented the con- ,
dominium from ISC on the dates reflected in the vouchers and sup-

porting invoices. i ‘ ’
It is clear from the ‘documentation of the transaction. as a whole,
however, that there was no bona fide agreement to sell the condo-

‘minium to ISC until at least August 1987, and that ISC effectively

had no relationship to the property until that time. It is equally
clear that ISC did not hold legal title to the condominium during
any of the time periods at issue, Indeed, it is evident that the docu-
mentation of the ISC transaction ultimately .reflected an April 1,
1987 effective date so that the Senator could claim Senate reim-
bursement for his condominium stays after that date.

5. DELAYED RENTAL PAYMENTS TO ISC

‘The- evidence in this matter also demonstrates that Senator
Durenbergerﬁregularly claimed and received Senate reimbursement
for the “costs” of renting his former condominium—yet made only
nine lump sum rental payments to ISC during the almost two year

12 The previous month, Ms. Shaw prepared a listing of dates on which the Senator had
stayed in the condominium through August 1987, This listing was updated in early November
1987 and was forwarded to Mr. Mahoney with the requést that he in turn provide it to Ms. Sor-
engon. See Special Counsel Ex. 360, Ms. Shaw also informed us that the I§C invoices were pro-
vided to her after this information was forwarded to ISC. ’
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period from January 1988 and November 19.89.103 Senator Duren-
berger thereby retained the use of Senate reimbursement funds for
substantial periods of time. : g R

As part of the sales transaction, Senator Durenberger agreed to
lease the condominium from ISC at a daily rate of $85.1°4 As was
noted above, in December 1987 ISC sent invoices to the Senator fgr
his stays in the condominium between April and October 1987; in
February 1988, ISC invoiced the Senator for his condominium stays
through January of that year. See Special Counsel Ex. 372. There-
after, ISC invoiced the Senator fairly regularly on a monthly basx§,
based on a listing of dates provided by Heidi Shaw of the Senator’s
staff.195 Based on these invoices, the Senator submitted vouchers

to the Senate for lodging reimbursement on a fairly regular month- o

ly basis.106 . .

A review of the documentation produced to the Committee in
this matter reveals that, with a few limited exceptions,1°7 Senator
Durenberger received reimbursement checks from the Senate on a
regular monthly basis for the almost two year period from Febru-
ary 1988 to December 1989. According to Ms. Shaw, these checks
were regularly deposited into either the Senato.r’s checking or sav-
ings account. Although he regularly was accepting these Senate re-
imbursement monies, and depositing them into his personal ac-
counts, Senator Durenberger made only nine “rental” payments to
ISC during the twenty-two month period from February 1988 to
November 1989.198 See Special Counsel Ex. 407; see also Special
Counsel Ex. 395, s : L
~ Thus, to the extent that he received and held Senate funds for
several months between payments to ISC, the Senator was-benefit-
ting from the use of Senate monies owed to a third party.?°® This,
Special Counsel, submits is simply inappropriate for one charged
with the administration of the public trust. )

C. Senator Durenberger’s Qualified Blind Ti_'ust
In June 1985, Senator Durenberger placed his interest in the

partnership into a newly established qualified blind trust pursuant - -
“to the Ethics in Governiment Act. At that time, in his capacity as

192 In October 1989, the Senator was advised by Mr. Mahoney that these delays were ‘.‘ma]}-
propriate” under numerous statutes. See Special Counsel Ex. 403, i i )

194 In an April 18, 1988 letter to the Senator, Mr. Overgaard 'explamgd that jh)s rate was
calculated to cover both the out-of-pocket operating expenses of the unit and ‘‘a reasonable
return” on Mr. Overgaard’s investment in the property. See Special Counsel Ex. 378, .

195 In fact, beginning in June 1989 ISC sent invoices to the Senator on an average of twice
each month. . .

196 The relevant vouchers do not reflect the dates on which they were submitted to the Dis-
bursing Office. Ms. Shaw, however, informed Special Counsel that she submitted vouchers to the
Disbursing Office on a fairly regular basis, and that she typically received payment checks from
the Senate within a few weeks of submitting a voucher. Based on a review of the Senate reim-
- bursement checks, it would appear that Ms. Shaw typically submitted vouchers on & monthly
basis. . .

107 The Senator’s condominium stays betwesen Jl;%ycl(.’988 aln](i}i es:ir(}%' November 1988 were reim-
bursed by his official election committee. See Speci unsel Ex, .

108 Tthe payments were made in February 1988 ($5,780), April 1988 ($2,550), May 1988 ($680),
August 1988 ($1,190), September 1988 ($2,975), March 1989 ($3,000), May 1989 ($2,124), July 1989
($2,500) and November 1989 ($5,925). See Special Counsel Ex. 407. . .

109 Certain documents reflect the Senator’s concern that ISC charges were excessive relative
to the out-of-pocket operating costs of the premises. See, e.g, Special Counsel Ex. 380. This may
account. for the delay in the §enator’s payments to ISC.
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general partner, Senator Durenberger also deeded the condomini-
um property to Michael Mahoney as the trustee,110 v
" The Ethics-in Government Act restricts both the activities of the

trustee in managing trust assets and communications regarding

. the trust among the trustee, the Member of Congress, and

others.11! Special Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger violated
the statutory requirements governing qualified blind trusts since
the Senator’s trust became effective on February 24, 1986. Most sig-
nificantly, the facts evidence Senator Durenberger’s constant in-
volvement -in the management of one of the trust’s principal
assets—the Minneapolis condominium unit. '

1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On June 18, 1985, Senator Durenberger established a qualified
blind trust pursuant to the Ethics in Government Act and named
Michael Mahoney as trustee: Several months later, copies of the
Revocable Trust Agreement and Senator Durenberger’s statement
regarding the trust assets and qualifications of the trustee were
sent to the Ethics Committee. Special Counsel Ex. 333. On Febru-
ary 10, 1986, the Committee was provided with a statement of the
assets placed in the trust. Special Counsel Ex. 334. These assets in-
cluded: 1) all interests in Money Market Portfolio at Piper, Jaffray
& Hopwood, Inc.; 2) all interests in Dynamic Enterprises; and 3) all
interests in “706-607 Partnership.”112 -

After ‘reviewing these documents, the Committee informed the
Senator on February 24,'1986 that it found the trust to be a quali-
fied blind trust, pursuant to the Ethics in Government Act. 2
U.S.C. § 702(e).113 Special Counsel Ex. 336.

2. THE TRUST ASSETS

As was noted above, among the original assets placed in the trust
by the Senator' was his interest in the condominium partnership.
Senator ‘Durenberger then deeded the condominium itself to Ma-
honey as' trustee. The Senator, however, continued to stay in the
condominium on" a regular basis. Because he received bills from
and made payments to both the 703-603 Association and ISC for
his use of the condominium, Senator Durenberger was personally
aware of the status of the holdings _of the qualified blind trust,
thereby undermining the very purpose of the trust. B

In his opening statement to the Committee on June 13, 1990,
Senator Durenberger’s counsel acknowledged this fact: “It was . . .
nonsensical to put into'this trust the interest relating to the condo-
minium where Senator Durenberger stayed when he went back to
Minneapolis.” Hearing Transcript (June 13, 1990) at 4. ’

110 This deed was not recorded until 1988,

111 The purpose of a qualified blind trust is a “total lack of knowledge by the Government
?lfsf)i’?cg;ﬂ with respect to the holdings held in trust. . . .” S, Rep. No. 639, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 13

112 At the time this statement was sent to the Committee, the partnership was known as
708-603 Association.” ,

113 A qualified blind trust is defined as “any trust in which a reporting individual [Member of
Conigress], 'his spouse, or any dependent child  has a beneficial interest in the principal or
income” and which meets certain requirements. 2 U.S.C. § 702(eX3). o
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8. IMPROPER COMMUNICATIONS REGARDING THE\ TRUST

Special - Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger not only ‘was
aware on a continuing basis of the status.of the condominium trust
asset, but also was an active participant in the management of this
asset. The Ethics in Government Act states that a trustee “in the
exercise of his authority and discretion to manage and control the
assets of the trust shall not consult or notify any interested
party.”114 2 U.8.C. § 702(e)8)C)i). In addition, communications be-
tween the trustee and interested party regarding the trust are re-
stricted severely.11% 2 U.S.C. § 702(e)8)(C)(vi). . ) .

During the period from February 1986 to the initiation of this in-
quiry, Senator Durenberger repeatedly consulted with his trustee,
Mr. Mahoney, regarding the trust. See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs.
343, 352, 369, 380, 390, 393, 404. Indeed, the Senator’s counsel ac-
knowledged in his June 18th opening statement that the laws re-
garding blind trusts were broken:

The Rules are clear, that the trustee and the beneficiary
generally can’t communicate about the assets in the trust.
Putting the interest relating to the- condominium - where
Senator Durenberger stayed in this trust virtually ensured
from the: beginning that the rules about communication
would be broken. . . . Indeed, the record shows that Mr.
Mahoney engaged Senator Durenberger in conversations
about [the condominium], sought his advice about it, par-
ticularly when they were considering selling this condo-
minium to Mr. Overgaard.

Hearing Transcript (June 13, 1990) at 4. o
The evidence demonstrates numerous instances of prohibited
communications. For example, following the termination of the
partnership on March 31, 1987, Senator Durenberger d1scuss_ed
with Mr. Mahoney several alternative dispositions of the condomin-
ium property. Special Counsel Ex. 343. He personally negotiated
the sales price for the condominium with Mr. Overgaard,. see Spe-

cial Counsel Ex. 869, and retained Mr. Mahoney to draft the neces-.

sary legal documents. He subsequently demanded from Mr. Ma-
honey an explanation of the rental costs for the condominium by
Mr. Overgaard. Special Counsel Ex. 380. '

In April 1989, the Senator received from Mr. Mahoney’s assistant
a copy of the April 1, 1987 letter agreement for the sale of the con-
dominium to Paul Overgaard, and was specifically asked to provide
his comments on the agreement. The telecopier cover letter trans-
mitting this document included the following notation:

Pursuant to your instructions we are preparing docu-
ments to forward to Paul Overgaard. In reviewing the
letter of understanding, we noted a paragraph had been

114 An jnterested party is defined as a reporting individual (Member of Congi‘ess), his spouse. .
and any dependent child with a beneficial interest in the principal or income of a qualified blind

trust. 2.U.S.C. § 702(eX3XD). Lo .

115 The only communications that are allowed are requests for distributions and written com-
munications regarding the general financial interest of the Member of Congress, notification
that law prohibits an asset from being held in the trust, and directions to the trustee to sell any
of the trust’s original assets because of a conflict of interest. 2 U.S.C. § T02(eX3XCXvi).
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amended. Such paragraph has been marked on the at-

tached. page. Please review and call myself or Michael
- . with comments. We are not forwarding this letter until we

have your comments. h : :

Special Counsel Ex. 390 (emphasis- added). R .
In. August 1989, Senator Durenberger wrote to Mr. Mahoney to
direct him to take certain actions regarding the sale to Overgaard:

Please sign the original of the enclosed April 1, 1987
letter agreement as amended by Paul Overgaard and send
to him at Independent Service Co., along with the executed
original of the quit claim deed (copy enclosed).

Special Counsel Ex. 893. '

The Ethics in Government Act also prohibits an interested party
from making efforts to obtain information regarding trust holdings,
2 U.S.C. § 702(e)3XC)(vii), and from knowingly or negligently solic-
iting or receiving any information regarding the trust, which may
not be disclosed according to the Act. 2 U.S.C. § 702(e)(6)(B). Despite
these prohibitions, Senator Durenberger often received information
regarding the condominium, on occasion in response to his specific
request. See, e.g., Special Counsel Exs. 339, 343, 370, 379 and 3888.

For example, the Senator periodically received financial state-
ments detailing partnership income and expenses. See, e.g., Special
Counsel Ex. 339. In addition, in April 1988 Senator Durenberger
asked Mr. Overgaard to provide him with a “written explanation of
the [condominium sale] transaction and my obligations.” Special
Counsel Ex. 379. Mr. Overgaard sent a detailed letter explaining
the financial transaction and the basis for the lease terms. Special
Counsel Ex. 378. Disclosure of such information to the Senator is

- prohibited by 2 U.S.C. § 702(e)(3)(C)(v).116

- VIIL EvipeENce REGARDING GIFTS OF LiMoUSINE TRANSPORTATION

Special Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger accepted gifts of
limousine transportation in the Boston, Massachusetts area in 1985
and 1986 in violation of Senate Rule 35.117 In the hearing in this
matter, Senator Durenberger’s counsel admitted that the Senator’s
receipt of this limotsine ‘transportation violated Senate Rule 35.
Hearing Transcript (June 13, 1990) at 7. .

In 1985, Senator Durenberger began to have regular meetings for
personal reasons with Dr. Armand Nicholi in Concord, Massachu-
setts, approximately twenty miles from Boston. These meetings
typically were held on Monday mornings from 8:00 a.m. until 12:00

118 A trustee also is required to inform a Senator and the Ethics Committee when an asset of
the trust is disposed of or when the value of an asset is less than $1,000. 2 US.C. § T02(eXCXiii).
Although the parties to the purported sale 6f the condominium claim that ISC owns the condo-
miniim, and has done so since April 1987, there has been no formal notification to the Commit-
tee of this purported transfer of ownership.

117 Senate Rule 35 prohibits a Senator from accepting “directly or indirectly, any gift or gifts
having an aggregate value exceeding $100 during a calendar year directly or indirectly from any
person, organization, or corporation having a direct interest in legislation before the Con-
gress.. ... .V Gifts, according to Rule 35, are defined to include reimbursement for “other than
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noon. Senator Durenberger often made the trips from Bo_ston to
Concord and back to Boston by limousine, rented from A-and A
Limousine Renting, Inc. The limousines usually walted.fo_r.the Sgn-
ator during his four hour meetings. The cost of this limousine
travel and other unnecessary limousine travel in the Boston area,
estimated at $3,500 was paid by-various organizations with a direct
interest in legislation, with which Senator Durenberger sometimes
hese trips. ‘
m?pggif?ically, og eleven occasions in 1985 and 1986 Senatqr Duren-
berger traveled to Boston to meet with a company or business and
accepted limousine service to and from Concord. That transporta,l-
tion to and from Concord was necessitated solely by the Senator’s
personal meetings with Dr. Nicholi. The total value of th‘1.s limou- .
sine travel is estimated at $2,640.118 These ele\_'en occasions, anc%
the organizations which paid for the transportation, are as follows:
June 8, 1985; September 16, 1985, and June 9, 1986—New
England Mutual Life Insurance Company (Special Counsel Exs
, 419, 429). ) o . o
53’Séfl>fember 23? 1985—Natio5nzal4%)ach1ne Tool Builders Asso-
ciation (Special Counsel Exs. 52, . _ .
Nover(nlr;er 4, 1985; Feburary 10, 1986; and March 31, 1986—
Pitney Bowes, Inc. (Special Counsel Exs. 78, 423, 425, 427).
January 20, 1986—Mintz, Levin, Cohen, Glovsky & Popeo,
P.C. (Special Counsel Exs. 77, 424). o ]
March 17, 1986—American Association of Equipment Lessors
Special Counsel Exs. 30, 426). _
( ’?Iuly 21, 1986—W.R. Grace & Company (Special Counsel Ex.
431). : o
3SZaptember 15, 1986—Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance
Company (Special Counsel Exs. 34, 432). _ -
Each of these organizations is or retains a registered lobbyis
pursuant to the Federal Regulation of Lobbying Act, and therefore
has a direct interest in legislation within the meaning of Senate
Rule 35. See Special Counsel Exs. 283-289.

On five additional dates, Senator Durenberger met with Dr. Ni- :

-choli in Concord, but did not meet with representatives of any busi-

ness or organization. On these five occasions, however, limousine :

transportation in the Boston areal!® and to and from Copcord,
valueIc)i at $849, was paid for by the New England Mutual Life In-
surance Company (“New Emgland Life’)—although the Senator
met with neither New England Life officials nor apparently with
officials of any other organization on these occasions.12°

118 ost of the invoices reflecting these trips include non-itemized charges fo’r—trans-
portatll?:lfa ;ffhlmn the Boston area, which appears to have been necessary to the Sengt;)r 8 mCe:It
) ings with organizations, an average value of $236.81 was assigned for service to adn rom
cord. This figure is based upon invoices that reflect only travel to and from Congoll- uring thess
119 Because Senator Durenberger did not meet with I\{ew England Life officials u’i‘l}?g _fe
five trips, none of the limousine service provided constitutes a necessary expens@il S:re tzre,a,
transportation to and from Concord and within Boston, such as to the airport or the ‘l:la r's
is i ded. _
ho}:&:}), ’i‘sh:slgl:ila:gs are as follows: May 10, 1985 (Specia'il Counsel Ex. 415); October 9—810, 1&335 C(oSerp;
cial Counsel Ex. 421); and October 18-19, 1985 (Special Counsel Ex. 422). See also Special Cou
sel Ex. 53. . .
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Senator Durenberger also received limousine transportation in
the Boston area on four other occasions. These dates, and: the orga-
| nization with which the Senator met if any, are as follows: _ :

* July 7-8, 1985 (Special Counsel Ex. 417). : c
July 15, 1985—Herrick & Smith (Special Counsel Ex. 418).
May-12, 1986—National Machine Tool Builder’s Association

(Special Counsel Ex. 428). ’
- June 23, 1986—Hale & Dorr (Special Counsel Ex. 430):

The estimated total value of this transportation is $1,287. Once
again, this limousine transportation was necessitated by the Sena-
tor's meetings with Dr. Nicholi. While evidence about which orga-
nization paid for the limousine service on these dates is unavail-
able.121 Senator Durenberger has not put forward any evidence
suggesting that he paid for these expenses himself.122 In light of
the - circumstances .described above, it-is not unreasonable to
- -4 assume that a company or business with a direct interest in legisla-

1 tion paid for this travel, and that the Senator’s receipt of this lim-
ousine service would also have violated Senate Rule 35.

VIII."_OTHER.MATTERS RELATED TO PIRANHA PRESS

 A. Failure to Report Reimbursements

: B Special Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger violated Senate
4 Rule 34123 by fajling to report on his Financial Disclosure Reports

E , _ expenses of
4 travel, in connection with his Piranha Press “promotional appear-
"] ances” and certain travel to the Boston metropolitan area.124

1 On May 15, 1986, Senator Durenberger filed his Financial Disclo-
sure Report for the 1985 calendar year: At that time, the Senator
failed to report his receipt of travel expense reimbursements from
twenty-seven organizations before which he made appearances in
1985, See Special Counsel Ex. 266. Similarly, Senator Durenberger’s
1986 Financia} Disclosure Report, ﬁlqd on May 15, 1987, d_id not in-

_' On July 27, i989, severai months -after the Committee initiated
its Preliminary Inquiry into the Senator’s relationship with Pi-
4 ranha Press, Senator Durenberger filed amended Financial Disclo-

E 121 Documents obtained from A and A Limousine Renting, Inc. demonstrate that New Eng-
4 land Life was to be billed for the transportation on three of these dates, See Special Counsel Exs.
i 417, 418 and 428, New England Life, howeyex; was unable to find any evidence of payment to A

meaning of Senate Rule 35. However, the Senator’s failure to report transportation received on
hree of these four dates on 1985 and 1986 Financial Disclosure Reports would constitute a viola-
ion of Rule 34. See Special Counsel Exs. 266~269,
123 Senate Rule 34 (adopting the Ethics in Government Act of 1978, ag amended) requires that

3 every Senator disclose on May 15th of each year “[tlhe identity of the source and a brief descrip-
4 tion of reimbursements received from any source aggregating $250 or more in .value and re
d ceived during the preceding calendar year.” )
d !** Reimbursements from three organizations were made in connection with appearances ar-
4§ ranged as Piranha Press events, but payment to Piranha Press was not made." See gepecial Coun-

sel Exs. 24, 44, 70. Reimbursements from two organizations were made in connection with the
-4 Senator’s appearances in Boston, Massachusetts. gee Special Counsel Exs. 53. 292 '
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: ial Counsel

ts for the 1985 and 1986 calendar years. Special :
%gcrse g(ie’?oé.GQ. (’i?hese Reports are labeled ‘‘Reimbursements Relatet_(;

to Book Promotion Speeches,” and include lists of _relmburselﬁgrxi
for travel expenses that Senator Durenberger received from thirty-
' nine organizations in 1985-and 1986. Senator Du_renberger Zlvalsggg-
quired to file this information not in 1989, but in 1986 and 1! 5
the years immediately following thcgse dur.mlgt“gnsc:na}:: i{egfelvgzi
avel enses. His failure to do so violatex > .
th?rsleag:lii‘t,ieonfxtg date Senator Durenberger has failed to disclose re-
imbursements for travel expenses that he received from four orga-
nizations for five trips that he made in 1985. These expenseg are as
follows: - _ ) - o IBlue

ction with ‘his appearance before Blue Cross/Blt
Sl'}ilélcgoélfnlt\e/liéhigan on May 6, 1985, the Econom_m Club of De-
troit provided the Senator’s aizl'fa61;e, lodging and' ground trans-

rtati Special Counsel Ex. 136). : o
poﬁgxo%x(lglljgglg Mutual Life Insurance Company _prov1d.eg
ground transportation, lodging gmd rr}eals in connectlondwq; :
the Senator’s June 7, 1985 meeting with Mr. Mackay an allg-
fare, lodging and ground transportation for his September ;
1985 meeting with New England Life officials (Special Counse
ot 4161,34219).b . réceived lodging, meals and ground
urenberger ng, nd g

trasr?:}?:::ationrfrom %he Palo Alto Medlcal”Foundatlon in con-
nection with his “promotional a{)}lgaar?él()%e before that group
il 13, 1985 (Special Counsel Ex. . v -
OnT?lgrétate Gove(rrf)ment Education and Research Foundation

paid for Senator Durenberger’s airfare, meals, lodging and

ground transportation, which were necessary expenses related

to his appearance before that organization on November 24, -

1985 (Special Counsel Exs. 58, 193). . , ) .

Special( gounsel finds that Senator Durenberger’s hfallggeoo%q

report receipt of these travel expenses, valued at more than $3,000,
violated Senate Rule 34. .

B. Improper Conversion of a Campaign Contribution

i iolated Senate

1 Counsel finds that Senator Durenberger viola ,
Ruslge§18a pagzlalgraph 2125 by converting to his personal use F? é:ami‘
paign cc;ntribution from the Pathology Practice Association Federa.

Political Action Committee. In AUguSt 1986, the President of the 4 Association did not send its check to Piranha Press “as it should have done” and that the check

3 was sent.“somewhere,” apparently not to the campaign committee. Hearing Transcript (June 12,
2 1990) at 134. Although Piranha Press may have considered the $5,000 payment as a fee for a
4 “promotional appearance,” the Association- clearly did not. In addition, documents filed with the

i iation invi Durenberger

thol Practice Association (PPA) 1nv%ted Senator
aaad(:ll?egyss the Association’s annual meeting on D.ecgmbgyd& 1t986.
Special counsel Ex. 181 at B. Although the Association did not. re-

quest a book promotion appearance, the Senator’s staff forwarded.

the information about the appearance to Michael Mahoney on Oc-

cial Counsel Ex. 181 at A.

y
sonal use of any Member or any former Member.

~ appearances.” Special Counsel

] . i connection with these activities by Senator Durenberger, That statute provides!
sdes: ibuti hall be converted to the per- .3 . 2 n at st
& le 38, paragraph 2 provides: “No contribution ... s . : » ¢
125 Senate Rule paragrap! o, , - ‘
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Action Committee (“PAC”) issued a check in the amount of $5,000,
made payable to “Durenberger for U.S. ‘Senate.” Special Counsel
Ex. 181 at H-I. This check was sent to the Senator’s campaign com-
mittee in Minneapolis.126 Special Counsel Ex. 181 at P.

The Association’s registered lobbyist, Paul Johnson, explained in

his affidavit that this payment was intended as a campaign contri-
bution: : . : .

Senator Durenberger did not request an honorarium,

and the PPA PAC made a $5,000.00 contribution to his re-

+ election campaign. The PPA’s check dated December 30,

- 1986 clearly demonstrates that this was a campaign. contri-

bution, as it is made payable to ‘“Durenberger for U.S.

-Senate” and has the PAC’s identifying Federal Election
Commission number thereon. ’ '

Special Counsel Ex. 41. _

This contribution, however, was not reported to the FEC as re-
quired by 2 U.S.C. § 434, nor was it deposited with the campaign
committee as required by 11 C.F.R. § 103.3 Instead, the check was

Ex. 181 at H-K. Special Counsel
ﬁndsh that the Senator’s conduct violates Senate Rule 38, para-
graph 2. :

C. Senator Durenberger’s Use of United States Capitol and Senate
e - Facilities -

On six separate occasions in 1985, Senator Durenberger made Pi-
ranha Press “promotional appearances” in United States Capitol

~and Senate rooms. For each of these appearances, Piranha Press

was paid a fee ranging from: $250 to $2,000, in accordance with the
‘Senator’s arrangement with that group.'2? These payments ulti-
mately funded, in part, the quarterly payments that Piranha Press
made to Senator Durenberger. :

It is clear that Senator Durenberger’s conduct was contrary to
the regulations adopted by the Rules Committee governing the use

) of these Senate facilities.128 Initially, in March 1984, the Commit-

12en his presentation to the Committee during the hearing, Mr. Hamilton stated that the

FEC by the Association’s PAC reflect that the check was sent to the Senator’s official campaign

committee. See special Counsel Ex. 181,

127 These appeararices were as follows: March 3; 1985, Room 885 of the Russell Senate Ofﬁce

Spe- .4 Building, National Conference on Catholic Charities ($250 fee) (Special Counsel Ex. 123); March
: -Piranha Press appearance. Spe-. 4 25, 1985, Room 385 of the Russell Senate Office Building, The Washington Campus ($1,000 fee)
tober 23, 1986, to be handled as a : _ s : e

" -4 (Special Counsel Ex. 151); April 11, 1985, Room 385 of the Russell Senate Office Building, The
The Association did not pay Senator Durenberger an hon(irarelglr{ns
or fee for his speech on December 5, 1986. Instead, several w

) : 1 v 1t1 \ y
after the Senator’s appearance, the Agsoplatlon s Federal P011t1c:];11‘ | Campus (53,000 foey Spogial Gomme e, 135,

128 The Committee’s: Resolution authorizing this Investigation, also cited 40 U.S.C. §198d in

Continued
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tee on Rules 12° adopted Rules for the Regulation of the Senate
Wing of the United States Capitol. Rule. XII of those rules provides
as foHows: : : B

Peddling, begging, and the solicitation of books or other =
subscriptions are strictly forbidden in the Senate Wing of
the Capitol, and no portion of said Wing shall be occupied -
by signs or other devices for advertising any article what-
soever, excepting such signs as may be necessary to desig-
nate the entrances to the Senate Restaurant. '

Senate Manual 179-80 (1885) (emphasis added). As here relevant,
this Rule remains in force today. S. Doc. No. 1, 100th Cong., 1st
Sess. 181 (1988). Moreover, Rule XVI of the current Rules provides
that the Rules are applicable as far as practicable to the Senate
Office Buildings. Id. E

The Rules Committee has communicated its regulations on this
subject numerous times to Members of the Senate in “Dear Sena- -
tor” letters. For example, a September 22, 1981 letter from then
Rules Committee Chairman Charles McC. Mathias; Jr. advised all
Members as follows: : o

It is the long-settled policy of the Rules Comh;ittee that”
no commercial or profit-making purpose should be served
by the use of Senate rooms or facilities. ‘ :

Special Counsel Ex. 290. s '

The United States Senate edition of the Congressional Handbook,
S. Pub. 99-10 (1984), similarly sets forth “procedures” and ‘“rules
and regulations” established by the Rules Committee for the use of
Senate rooms. The Handbook states: :

No products may be sold on the premises or displayed for ..
future sale. No commercial, political, or profit-making pur- ..
pose whatsoever may be served. by the use of the Senate
rooms. The sponsoring Senator will be held accountable for
the enforcement of this clause. ' B

S. Pub. 99-10 at 1-36 (emphasis in original). This proscription was
communicated almost verbatim in a May 22, 1985 ‘“Dear Senator” -
letter. See Special Counsel Ex. 291. Senator Durenberger’s conduct -
was plainly inconsistent with these proscriptions. Moreover, it is

unconscionable that an organization such as Piranha Press can re-

alize profit from activities occurring in Senate buildings.

From Special Codnsel’sixivestigation, however, it
there is some misunderstanding about these regul;ltim?spzz?grslgtill?é '
Members of the Senate. The cited authorities apparently are not
well known ‘among all ‘Members; those Members who are aware ‘of
them may be somewhat confused about their scope. For these rea-
sons, _Spec1al. Counsel recommends that the Committee not find a
v1olat10n_ or Impose any disciplinary action on the basis of the .con-
duct at issue. Accordingly; Special Counsel’s recommendation of a
sargcﬁmndqf' Senator Durenb’erger set forth in Section XI below is
?}?gseai;z,ta;ggg the Senatoxj s _"."?’? of Senate or Capitol facilities in
pecial Counsel further recommends that, in ord imi
any further confusion on this issue, pursuant to Coigrfloit:(letmll%rllflﬁ:
8(c) the Committee take such appropriate action as is necessary to

) SUee e £
:htza;"lll{uir:l unequ1y9cally prqh1b1t sugh conduct by all Members in.

- IX. SENATOR‘D_URENBERGER’S DEFENSES

- Senator Durenberger has raised several eneral defense
charges against him. Speci_ﬁcally, Senator l%urenberger ha: :gsg'lig
| ed that he acted in good faith and without any intent to.violate the
law or Senate Rules, and that his responsibility for the misconduct
here at issue therefore should be diminished. Senator Durenberger
g also repeatedly has stressed his reliance on the advice of counsel
the staffs of t_he, Rules and Ethics Committees, and the FEC. ’
Finally, with respect to his Piranha Press contract, Senator
: I?urenberger argues that even if he gave no actual book promo-
; tloqs, t_he compensation he received from Piranha Press would still
; be Justified unger federal election law pursuant to a contract for
xr?gziitm other continuing services.” These defenses ‘are without
: .Whlle. Senatoy Durenberger does not contest the facts, he mini-
f rilllzes his own. involvement and seeks to blame others. However
lt) e overwhelming we;ght_of the evidence shows that the responsi:
ility for the conduct at 1ssue must be placed on the Senator be-
cause it was he who kr}owmgly and intentionally participated in a
pattern of conduct which was unethical. Moreover, while Special
‘Cou.nsgel does not find that Senator Durenberger acted with venali-
| ty, it is also true that he did not act in good faith 130 -

A. The Senator’s Intent

In his statefnent‘at the hearing i i
-bgrger S ot | earmg in this matter, Senator Duren-

First, in all these activities to the de i
» In all ¢ \ ] gree that it was hu-
manly possible, T acted in good faith, with no intent whal’é-

It is forbidden to offer or expose any article for sale in said United States Capitol .
Grounds; to display any sign, placard, or other form of advertisement therein; to solicit ™ -
fares, alms, subscriptions, or contributions therein. : T

In response to the arguments-of Senator Durenberger’s counsel, Special Counsel has reexam-
ined the legislative history of this Act. Special Counsel has concluded that the better reasoned -
view may be that the cited statute does not reach conduct with the Capitol Buildings., N

In 1967, Congress extended the scope of 40 U.S.C. § 193f, prohibiting the possession or. dis-
ghargﬁa) r';))f wc;a;i‘oni to incletfide the }(llapitol Blgldingls. };&tlghe same téme, Co(rixgress ﬁmendfdd%icr
ion m of the Act to redefine the term “Capitol Buildings,” and in so doing eliminated-the . .
%tgrfr‘xer la.n}gl'uage1 restllr)icting the scope of t}}e ﬁntire Act ’uA the Cap}itol GroungsaBe%aus:d Secté?ln soever to violate the rules of the Senate.

was the only substantive provision of the original Act which as amended referred to‘the =% ; . :
Capitol Buildings, the amendment to Section 193m arguably reaches only that section. L Heartng Trans crp 4 (June 13, 1990) at 20. Senator Durenberger’s

This reading of the Act's legislative history is consistent with the traditional regulation of . counsel stressed the same point in his statement to the C ittee:
conduct within the Capitol Buildings by the respective Houses of Congress. As the text above 3 - e Committee:
mslkes clear, the Senate has long prohibited conduct of the type here at issue through its own 4 oIS . . :

o5 . : s -3 pecial Counsel had i i ¢

129 Predecessor to the present Senate Committee on Rules and Administration. *§ ommendation of sangtsi?m ;oufglfisgegeézi;&n;tggrg urenborger acted with venality, the rec-
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[A] basic question that you must focus on is: Do the facts
show some type of venal intent, some type of intent to un-
lawfully circumvent the honorarium rules? . :

Id. (June 12, 1990) at-122. Senator Durenberger apparently does:not-
contest that he sought to circumvent the rules, but-only that he did:
so in an unlawful manner. In effect; the Senator contends that he
did not act with any specific intent to violate the law or rules.!3!

The Senate, however, need not find that Senator Durenberger ac-
tually intended to violate a law or rule in order to.impose the disci-
plinary action recommended by Special Counsel in this matter.
Indeed; the Committee’s own procedural rules permit the imposi-
tion of some disciplinary measures for inadvertent, and therefore
presumably unintentional, violations of Senate rules. See Commit-
tee Rule 4(f)2). This reflects the recognition that, as holders of a
unique public trust, Members of the United States Senate appropri-

ately can be held to a higher ethical standard of conduct than that |

which governs the general public.

Indeed, specific intent—that is, proof that an individual knowing-

ly performed an act with the express purpose of violating the law—
is required in only a narrow category of criminal cases. Within the
criminal context, liability generally may be imposed based on proof
that the accused voluntarily committed the acts in question, irre-
spective of whether he or she knew that those actions violated any

law. In fact, in some situations, criminal liability may be imposed 3
based merely on proof that the accused acted in reckless disregard -
of the facts, or otherwise deliberately avoided learning the facts.
-See, .e.g., United States v. Jewell, 532 F.2d 697 (9th Cir.) (en banc), 4

cert. denied, 426 U.S. 951 (1976).

The Rules of this Committee, as well as available Commiftee :

precedent, are consistent with these general precepts. The Commit-
tee has previously recommended -the sanction of a Member even
absent evidence that the Member had actual knowledge of the
wrongdoing at issue. In that matter, the Committee recommended
and the Senate voted to denounce Senator Herman Talmadge
based on evidence that he knew or should have known of miscon-
duct on the part of his staff. Report of the Select Committee on
Ethics, Herman E. Talmadge Investigation, S. Rep. No. 337, 96th
Cong., 1st Sess. 17 (1979). The Committee further determined that
Senator Talmadge should be held responsible for that misconduct

by virtue of his own “gross neglect” of his duty to faithfully and 1

carefully administer the affairs of his office. Id.

Special Counsel, however, finds that Senator Durenberger’s ac-.§
tions and conduct were both knowing and intentional and were not §
carried out negligently, inadvertently or on the basis of a mistake
of law or fact. Senator Durenberger knowingly and intentionally § t
designated certain honorarium invitations as Piranha Press events; 3
gave speeches at these events in which he mentioned neither his 4

131 Many of the affidavits submitted 'by Senator Durenberger contain statements to the effect 3
that, to the best of the affiant’s knowledge, Senator Durenberger did not intend unlawfully to .2
circumvent Senate Rules or laws. For example, Gary Diamond stated as follows in his affidavit: 3
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book nor his publisher; endorsed i
: : ; € to Piranha Press checks th )
Il;g(tegt ir(r)lr?d‘(‘ahgzzsgll‘(iauto”hlm gnc_l thﬁt were marked cléarl)sf wi:fl l;lig \
» m”; and signed ‘and submitted reimb ’
requests to the Senate Disbursing Office f i ot
s to tays in a condo i-
um which he co-owned. Indeed, the Se ator v in
. . . * 4 n t ’ . i -
-vo%;rleﬁ lﬂﬁthf? tf}rlnnutl‘:; of the transactions ata i::u:, * personal}y "
A ight of the evidence discussed herein, Special C, i
g}&i ?}?et;gnngggeggnat% Du'z:'ent]);erger acted inpgood fa?rlﬁs'?‘l}ligfgcf1§
ings, Senator Durenberger has urged the C i
tee to adopt a lesser rather than a high dara of ethical con.
duct. Special Counsel submits th § Semator Dusoapers othical con-
: at Senator Durenberger’ d
was unethical by any standard. As Special - Fhas carlior
ethic ’ . pecial -Counsel earli
:ii_i]::ﬁ::gi, ICto:fl If]}:tet Senatogts I:gorgl: compass that was ?)iolgais Kzrltlﬁg
H mittee on Standards of Official Conduct noted in i
report on. thé Korean Influence Investigati “ pors of Con
on, “M -
gmress(xi are expected to adhere to standargs of condu?:in?:: sm%f;'ec ((;.2-
Cr?;lli 1111;% lgssflsn” 'ch?i nl;atlzrle ]Icnglflfmum stfiindards established by our
ws. 0 enses and Procedures, K 7 -
ence Investigation, House Committ - s O |l
duIct, 95th C(})lngi; s tgse (o (lrg’;’ife on Standards of Official Con-
.1 sum, whether Senator Durenberger had the specific intent
Xﬁ)lllitéi Sl:;vl;fyo: St?a@ Rul_cte:s is not at issue here. ’SEgﬁl ;cf;gg(::ll; Eg
» 0 the imposition of Senate sanctions. Senat, -
berger- clearly intended to ‘commit the acts that conggtzzepgﬁi{al-

tions of 1
o (?ondu?:: and. Senate Rules and should be held accountable for

B. Reliancé on the Advice of Others

begzllal;nfn of reltl}?nce on the advice and assurances of others have
ajor theme in Senator Durenberger’s defense of his ac-

tions.132 In his public state i
gons.** Durenb_efger asse?t:gl?ent: to. the Committee, for example,

[A]ll the key decisions were based i 7

) ] _ on the ad -

s1d§, ‘independent counsel, often two or thraeewac&oort;lce’;;

?{Itl.l legeag'(f)irflnnlquf by conta;:ts %a‘vith the Ethics Committee. thé
! ittee, or the i issi

whichever had roier he. ederal Elec_tmns Commission,

Hearing Transcript (June 1 . : :
at 11091 (statemﬁng ofn:ou131’s ;15390) at 20; see also id. (June 12, 1990)

.

1. RELIANCE ON COUNSEL

The Senator’s reliance on co i
: unsel defense is both legall -
olf{%ll}iymlillllzgliegatézge. ;I‘hg dlelferéie is available in only a garz%gngafl?e
: —Liypically those requiring specific intent. In th
cases, reliance on counsel may b i ing the abomose
) : Y be relevant in showing th
of‘a vital element in the prosecution’s case: an intentg to ﬁrzgieltl}?:

“] have no knowledge that Senator Durenberger had any intent unlawfully to avoid statutory 4
honorarium limitations.”” See also Durenberger Exs. 4, 15; 5, 18; 7, 1 8; 8, 19; 11,  14; 12, ] 8; 13, -4
16; 15, 112; 112, 1 10. Such a statement is nothihg more than an opinion of a participant in the <4
scheme at issue as to the ultimate issue, and has no probative value. . oL
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law. Confining the reliance on counsel defense to these narrow cir-
cumstances is supported by policy concerns of not permitting
“those desiring to circumvent the law . . . [to] shop around for bad
advice.” 1 W. Lafave & A. Scott, Jr., Substantive Criminal Law:595
(1986). Because it is unnecessary in Senator Durenberger’s case to
show specific criminal intent, the defense of reliance on counsel is
not legally relevant. :

Perhaps more importaritly, Senator Durenberger is himself a
lawyer and was, at the very time of some of the conduct at issue
here, a member of the Senate. Committee on Ethics. He is thus in-a
very different position from the ordinary layman who must, by ne-
cessity, rely upon the advice of lawyers. , S

In support of his reliance on counsel defense, however, Senator
Durenberger has cited two opinion letters provided by Mr. Ma-
honey. Hearing Transcript.(June 13, 1990)-at 88; id. (June 12, 1990)
at 115 (statement of counsel). These opinion letters do not fairly re-
flect the actual agreement between the Senator and Piranha Press,
nor do-they state the facts of that arrangement as known to the
parties as of the dates of the letters. Neither of the opinion letters
states that the groups before which the Senator would make “pro- .
motional appearances” would pay a fee to the publisher in consid-

eration of the Senator’s appearance. See Durenberger Exs. 80, 31. .

Nor does either of the letters refer to the fact that the ‘“promotion-

al appearances” envisioned under the contract would be the result -

of traditional honoraria speech invitations extended to the Senator
through his U.S. Senate office. Id. Given the disparity between the
arrangement as it was actually carried out, Senator Durenberger
cannot claim to have relied upon the letters in good faith.
Moreover, the facts of the Piranha Press arrangement show that
Senator Durenberger did not rely on the advice of disinterested
counsel. Where the lawyer upon whom reliance is claimed is him-
self integrally involved in the transaction at issue, the client may
not invoke reliance on counsel as a defense. United States v. Carr,
740 F.2d 339, 347 (5th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1004 (1985).
Although Senator Durenberger claims that he relied on independ-
ent counsel, Mr. Mahoney was centrally involved in carrying out
the Piranha Press arrangement. Perhaps the best description of

Mr. Mahoney’s role was offered by Senator Durenberger’s counsel,

Mr. Hamilton:

Now Mr. Mahoney of course who is in the middle of the
implementation of the Piranha Press contract was acting
both as Senator Durenberger’s lawyer and as Piranha’s
agent. . . . Mr. Mahoney was arranging for the appear-
ances. He was communicating and negotiating with groups
a}:sl to fees. In short, he was the principal organizer of all of
this. ’

Hearing Transcript (June 12, 1990) at 123.

Mr. Mahoney profited directly from the Senator’s Piranha Press
contract by acting simultaneously as counsel for Senator Duren-
berger and agent for Piranha Press. Indeed, Mr. Mahoney received

See Special Counsel Ex. 277. Under these circumistances, Mr. Ma-
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and S ti
anIce &311)1;111;21&. I?urenberger was m?t entitled to place unfetfgered reli-
In any event, Senator 'Durenberg?ér has not presented i
;i}(lantc_eh to suggest that Mr. Mahoney or anyonep else advi?ég }(:1‘;;1
at he could claim book promotion fees for traditional honoraria

4 events. Had such advice been given, it would h i
1 _ , ave been -
E ly wrong that the Senator, as a lawyer and former mémi)(:ex? lz:f,'lg}l:?s

Committee, would have been obliged to ignore it.
Not surprisingly, on several occasions Senator Durenberger did

; ignore the advice of his counsel and other advi hen i i

4 ed with his selfinterest. For exam ! ahoney testian o
3 gllist c}gposi}tlion in this matter than £ aivised Sommney testified in
4 that Piranha Press “promotional appearances” b the S
o 3 - . N N e t

4 to include a display of the Senator’s books or a mgntion b)rrl etl'h(;r S}gﬁ

he advised Senator Durenberger

. Special Counsel Ex. 442 at 137

Finally, in late 1986, the Senator’s chief of
ally, ¢ s - staff asked . -
honey to ascertain W}lether the Senator’s claims for rein?bullx’gml\e{r?t

: advised Senator Durenberger that he could find no basis for the

Senator’s past claims for lodging reimbursement during the tenure.

of the partnership, and therefore could not opine that those reim-

ator Durenberger’s arrangement concerning Pirar

€ g Piranha Press , at

1 fl;}(;z }r:{g; 3;2;@ F}:;ggulei:' gee, fg.ft, 6’S7pecial Counsel Ex. 485 av.‘;aiO?i
eric raefe); 67, 12 (Ji i

- 4 Durenberger’s Legislative Director). ! (Jlmmle Favwell, Benator

A number of the groups before which Senator Durenberger inade

“promotional appearances” questioned the legitimacy of

¢ : of th -
E geiament. See, e.g., Special Counsel Ex. 44, 1[6;g54, il ﬂy4—9. Itei::1 I;;i%fr;-
c}l thigo see how Senator Durenberger, a lawyer and former Member
qoft 1s'Comm1ttee.,'— could not see what was so apparent to others—

nearly $25,000 in fees from Piranha Press for his services as agent. = ethical and legal questions, Under s ona . 3
] . Ch circumstances, Senator

honey’s legal advice could not be considered- truly disinterested, '
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2. RELIANCE ON THE FEC OPINION

urenberger also places great emphasis upon the adviso-

r S?)giaxtci)gnDhe' obta%ned from the Federal Election Commmglqgtl;
(XFEC”); which he says “approved the [Piranha Press] arra(l)lgeingg_
without any question,” (Hearing Tran‘s‘crlpt (June 13, 1991:) a e
39) and which his counsel considers ‘“‘a central documen in s
whole. proceeding.” Id. (June 12, 1990) at 119. The Sena_tors re“_*
e is unfounded." _ A ) A R
an’f‘he request for an advisory opinion submitted to t_;l%le tI;‘E(}?) 1:1)1;
Senator Durenberger’s counsel omitted several crucial aﬁ * _.':11 0 b
the Senator’s proposed arrangement with Piranha Press. "lld not
state that the groups to which the Senator would speak wou patl"g
a fee for his appearance, although-this fact was plainly knothla to
all parties at the time. The request also failed to note that certain

Ex. 254. '

to requesting the advisory opinion, Senator Durenberger “left it up

ator’s counsel (see Special Counsel Ex. 254), Thomas Horner—the

that request letter in advance of its submission to the Commission:

ified that, in accord- §

ial Counsel Ex. 250. Mr. Horner testified that, in accor 4
‘Sreliesgv?g}llahis usual practice, he would have reviewed this mﬁte}zlnal
with the Senator. See Special Counsel Ex. 439 at 13; 15. Mr. > af_ ogi
ey’s office also provided to Mr. Horner an advance copy of the final 3

FEC opinion, and Senator Durenberger discussed the opinion with ting the request for an opinion is in the best position to know the

4 material circumstances surrounding the intended transaction, he
4 or she has the burden to
4 reasonable to expect an agency such as the FEC to speculate about
1 the possible omissions in a request submitted to. it by- a United

: i 3 Sen-

’ rtner. See'Special Counsel Exs. 255, 257. The Ser
g/{;}}\/{:ﬁ}éggf?;':, p;i*esumably was well aware of the limited factua}
i that opinion. - : ) :
baﬂ: goiesueit oIf)' these omissions, the arrangement proposed 1n-1¥{ir.
Mahoney’s letter to the FEC was significantly different from the

arrangement actually implemented by the Senator and Piranha

. The opinion that ultimately was issued by the FEC was pre-
ggngi upc?n It)he Senator’s appearance at genuine book promotions.
The single, overwhelming fact that Senator Durenberger has never

lisher, or would mention them or’l’ly derisively in passing at his Pi-
ranha “promotional appearances.

i iti advi ‘opinion ineffective as
disparities render the FEC advisory-opinion ine 88

a g‘}}lliﬁg f;ipthe plan that Senator Durenberger ultimately carried |
out with Piranha Press. The Federal Election Campaign Act t1_’)~er-
mits reliance upon an FEC advisory opinion only if the transaction 3

e e p . s . he - . ,
at issue is ‘“indistinguishaple in all its material aspects from the Hearing Transcript (June 12, 1990) at 127.
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transaction -or activity . . . [about] which such advisory opinion
[was] rendered.” 2 U.S.C. § 437f(c)1)(B).133 In this case there is no
similarity between the facts addressed in the opinion and the facts
as they unfolded. The FEC advisory opinion in this case, therefore,
issued in response to a letter that did not accurately describe the
“promotional appearances” that took place, is inapplicable. '
Senator Durenberger’s. response to this plain statutory bar to his
reliance -argument is two-fold. First, his counsel has argued that
the omissions in the Senator’s request letter are excused because
“the request for an advisory opinion specifically referenced the con-

4 tract [between Senator Durenberger and Piranha Press] which re-
4 vealed that these groups would be charged a fee.” Hearing Tran-
4 script (June 12, 1990) at 119, Although it is true that the request
| letter-did include a reference to Senator Durenberger’s contract
« ional appearances” would result from traditional honorari- :
u?:l’o:;)ggﬁ?ai‘nvirt);gtions extended to the Se_natOI', althougli %hls t‘;‘i
was contemplated by the parties at the time. See Specia wounsel .2

with Piranha Press, the contract was not enclosed with the letter.

] The letter’s omissions cannot be excused by the fact that some of

the material information the letter omitted may have been includ-

2 ed in a separate contract which was only referenced, but not in-

Senator Durenberger has suggested that fault for any omissions - § cluded with the request to the FEC. Again, the Senator’s contract

in his request for an opinion lies with Mr. Mahoney. When it came 3

called for a series of book promotions—yet the 118 appearances

by 4 made by the Senator in fact were not book promotions.
v i tly.” Hearing Transcript (June 12, 3 :
ggg\amré}:wﬂ}?qn§ﬂet%\%%;}:éz (;?lgge:stg, however? that Senator Duren- 3§ FEC’s responsibility to correct any omissions by asking for follow-

berger was very likely personally involved in the submission to the § yp information. Id. at 117. However, FEC regulations squarely

] king that opinion was-drafted by the Sen- place the burden -of provi ding all relevant facts on the firadend
ator's counsel Gee Special Co 3 . "of ] Questing the opinion. Section 112.1(c) of those regulations provides:
Senator’s Administrative Assistant—was provided with a copy of -4 "

Second, Senator Durenberger’s counsel argued that it was the

Advisory opinion requests shall include ‘a complete de-
scription of all facts relevant to the specific transaction or
activity with respect to which the request is made.

11 CF.R. § 112.1(c) (emphasis added).

. The purpose of the regulation is clear. Because the party submit-

provide all relevant facts. It would be un-

States Senator and to demand correction. The FEC in this case was
asked to give an opinion on a. set of facts and it complied. That
Senator Durenberger chose to engage in conduct different from

jthat described in the opinion renders the FEC opinion meaning-
" jless. 134 - ,
i i \ FEC opin- 4 -
tely responded to is that he did not do what the :
?(;ixf (Eﬁhozized.p One cannot rely on an opinion discussing book pro- 4
motions when there are no book promotions. The FEC ne}\;gr w§
advised that the Senator would not mention his books.or his pub- 3

Y there exist substantial “distinctions between
4 addressed-in the FEC’s advisory opinion”).

133 See qlso FEC Vv. National Conservative Political Action Comm., 647 F., Supp. 987; 995
(8.D.N.Y. 1986) (defendant not entitled to rely on advisory opinion obtained from FEC where
the facts as they actually unfolded and the facts

'3¢ Senator Durenberger’s counsel acknowledged as bmuch in his statement before the Com-
mittee: .

If a Member engages inother or different conduct [from the intended conduct de-

scribed in the request for an advisory -opinion], this doesn’t necessarily mean that he
has violated the rule. . . . It only means that he can’t rely on the advisory opinion for
protection.” '
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3. RELIANCE ON CONTACTS WITH ETHICS AND RULES COMMITTEE STAFFS was permissible for Senator Durenberger to seek Senate reimburse-

ment for his stays at the condominium. 13

Mr. Abney has categorically denied ever having been informed of
the facts of the Senator’s condominium arrangement. Special Coun-
sel Ex. 451, 1 6. Moreover, he stated in his affidavit that had he
been told of the facts, he would have advised that the reimburse-
ment was improper. Id, - '

Senator Durenberger also has said that he relied upon assur-
ances provided to him and his staff by Ethics Committee staff coun-
sel. The Senator’s counsel, Mr. Hamilton, stated to the Committee:

[Nlot only did Senator Dutrenberger seek the advice of. .
the FEC and his lawyer’s advice, he sought adylce from »
the -staff of this Committee..The Senator approaqhed a. .
staff member named Clendon Lee about the [Piranha "
Press] arrangement in 1984, and in early 1986 his Admin- - -
istrative Assistant, Doug Kelley, sought out another staff .
member whose name is William Canfield.

Hearing Transcript (June 12, 1990) at 120. These former Committee
staff mé:ambers arle)z said to have assured Senator Durenberger that
his Piranha Press dealings presented no ethics problem, assuming
the arrangement had already been approved by the FEC. See Hear-
ing Transcript (June 12, 1990) at 121. )
The Senator, however, has not indicated specifically what facts,
if any, were provided to Mr. Lee at the time, and Mr. Lee has no
recollection of the conversation. See Special Counsel Ex. 48, { 4. In
addition, any assurance by Mr. Lee was founded on the assumption
that the FEC had fully reviewed the matter and had approved it.
Thus, for the very reasons that the FEC advisory opinion cannot be
invoked because of the material omissions upon which it was
founded, the purported assurance of Mr. Lee premised upon the
FEC’s approval of the transaction can have no app}matmn to the“
Piranha Press arrangement as it was actually administered. ‘
The contact between the Senator’s Administrative Assistant, M;.
Kelley, and Mr. Canfield similarly does not support the Senator’s
position. Mr. Kelley did not provide Mr. Canfield with all of the
facts needed for a full assessment of the Piranha Press arrange-
ment. In his deposition in this matter, Mr. Kelley testlfied’ that he
did not discuss with Mr. Canfield the details of the Senator’s agree-
ment with Piranha Press. Special Counsel Ex. 440 at 126-27. Spe-
cifically, he did not disclose that the groups before which @he Sen_ai
tor would appear would pay a fee to the publisher, nor did he dis-
close that traditional honorarium speech }nVltathns unld be
treated as requests for Piranha Press ‘“promotional <appear-
ances.” 135 Accepting the very material character of thes’e omitted
facts, the Senator cannot fairly rely upon Mr. Canfield’s conclu-
ions. ) :
° The Senator also has submitted an affidavit of another -of his
former staff member, Lori Krage Edstrom, who reported that she
called the Ethics Committee’s chief counsel, Wilson Abney, to ask
his advice regarding the condominium matter. Durenberger Ex. 4,
1 4. Mr. Abney is said to have assured Ms. Krage Edstrom that it

C. The Piranha Press Arrangement as a Contract for Continuing
' ’ " Services - ) '

If Senator Durenberger can be said to have promoted his books
simply by appearing before a group and speaking well, there is no
difference between a “promotional appearance” payment which is
exempt from the honoraria limits and a traditional honorarium
event. ’ :

Perhaps recognizing this, Senator Durenberger’s. counsel has -
argued that even if Senator Durenberger’s Piranha Press appear-
ances were not book promotions, his compensation could still be
justified by treating the Senator’s contract with Piranha Press as
one for some other type of “continuing services.” Mr. Hamilton ar-
ticulated the argument as follows: -

_ Now the FEC told Senator Durenberger that payments
for book promotions would be .a stipend for continuing
services and not honoraria. If Senator ‘Durenberger’s ap- -

- pearances were in fact not book promotions, there is no
statutory safe harbor. But the payment is nonetheless a
stipend if it was for some type of continuing service.

I{learing Transcript (June 12, 1990) at 128. Mr. Hamilton elaborat-
ed: :

)

Now, however you want to characterize Senator Duren-
berger’s conduct, you must conclude that Piranha paid .
him for continuing services. That is, for. making appear-
ances before various groups for which Piranha was paid a
fee, and for helping to establish Piranha as a book publish-
ing company . . . .

d

This, of course, strikes at the very core of the Senator’s argu-
ment. If Senator Durenberger was not providing continuing promo-
ional services, what type of continuing services was he providing?
pecial Counsel submits that he was doing no more than making a
ontinuing series .of legislative speeches—in short, a continuing
series of honoraria speeches, payments for which were channeled
hrough Piranha Press to avoid the honorarium limitations. 37

.. Taken to its logical conclusion, the Senator’s argument would
drob the statutory limitations on honoraria income of any meaning.
{If the Senator can fairly be said to have entered into a valid “con-

135 This is consistent with Mr. Canfield’s own recollection. In his affidavit, Mr. Canfield indi-
cated: - 3

I during the conversation being made aware by Doug Kelly [sic} that -~ E  B¢During her earlier interview by Special Counsel, Ms. Krage indicated that she was uncer-

‘ ’SeIn:t(:)rnthu:Zg%erger’s 1g)ublisher charged a fee to the groups before whom the Senatqr *“Ytain about with whom she had spoken. ‘
appeared to promote his book. Neither do I recall being made aware thqt the Senator’s 3 187 Ag the Senator has acknowledged, he frequently mentioned neither his books nor his pub-
office referred requests for the Senator’s appearance to the book publisher.so that.a <3 lisher during these speeches. His only plausible effort therefore to helg establish Piranha Press
promotional appearance could be arranged. - T <j &8 a legitimate book publishing company was his status as a Piranha Press author. Needless to

Special Counsel Ex. 450, 1 5. . ;. isay, this effort ended with the publication of his book.
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. . . (s 3y
tinuing services’’ arrangement, income from wh%ch' is a “stipend’
rather than an “honorarium,” there is truly no dlstlnctlon.betwqen :
a stipendary speech and an honorarium speech.

' X. FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS AS NOTICED AND SPECIFIED IN THE .-
: CoMMITTEE'S RESOLUTIONS

Special Counsel makes the following specifi_c findings as to th
violations noticed.-and specified in the Committee’s resolutions. o _
February 22, 1990 and May 9, 1990 respectively. Special Counsel -
Exs. 5, 7. :

A. Violaiibns as Noticed in the Committee’s Résolution of Febrﬂdly
22, 1990 . - i

As to the violations noticed in the Committee’s Resolution Febru
ary 22, 1990, Special Counsel finds that: ) o :

1. Senator Durenberger knowingly and intentionally violated the -
honoraria limitations established by 2 U.S.C. §31-1 and 2 U.S.C,
§.441i through his arrangement with Piranha Press. - R

2. Senator Durenberger violated Senate Rule 84 (the Ethics in:
Government Act, as amended) by failing to timely report the re:
ceipt of travel expenses reimbursements from forty-three organiza-
tions during 1985 and 1986. : :

3. Senator Durenberger violated Senate Rulq 38,. paragraph 2 by -
forwarding to Piranha Press a campaign contribution made by th
Pathology Practice Association Federal Pollt}cal Actmn qumlttee
and thereby converting that campaign contribution to his own per
sonal use. ) .

4: Senator Durenberger knowingly and intentionally violate
Senate Rule 35 by accepting unnecessary limousine transportation -
from organizations with a direct interest in legislation before th
Congress. - e ]

In addition to these findings and those set forth in Section V, VI
and VIII above, which are incorporated herein by reference, Spe- 3
cial Counsel finds that through this pattern of improper conduc
Senator Durenberger has demonstrated an insensitivity to the ethi
cal standards of his office, and has brought discredit upon th
United States Senate. . . -

B. Violations as Noticed in the Committee’s Resolution of May .9,
1990 :

As to the violations noticed in the Committee’s Resolution of §
May 9, 1990, in addition to the findings set forth in _Sectlon VI 3
above, which are incorporated herein by reference, Special Counsel 4
finds that Senator Durenberger participated in the back dating of 3
the partnership transaction with Roger Scherer and the subsequent
transfer of his condominium to Independent Service Company; that -]
he conceived of and structured these transactions as a means of §
claiming Senate per diem lodging for staying in what was essential- 4
1y his-Minnesota residence; that he submitted misleading travel re- 4
imbursement vouchers to the Senate Disbursing Office; and that at E
certain times he misrepresented to the Disbursing Office the own- 4
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ership of the property for which he claimed lodging reimburse-
ments. These actions were knowing and intentional. »
Special Counsel finds that through -this pattern of clearly im-
proper conduct, Senator Durenberger has abused his United States
Senate -office and misused United States Senate funds, and in so
doing has brought discredit upon the United States Senate. ,
Special Counsel further finds that Senator Durenberger violated

- statutory requirements governing his qualified blind trust, as set
- forth in the Ethics in Government Act, as amended. Special Coun-

sel specifically finds that Senator Durenberger violated Section
702(e)3)(c) and Section 702(e)6)(B) of that Act. ‘

XI. RECOMMENDATION. AS TO SANCTION

Pursuant to Committee Rule 5(f)(1), Special Counsel reports to
the Committee as follows: : :

Special Counsel recommends. that this Committee report to the
full Senate a Resolution denouncing Senator David F. Durenberger
for conduct which is reprehensible, and which has brought the
Senate into dishonor and disrepute. : _

In making this recommendation, Counsel has reviewed prior- dis-
ciplinary. cases since 1793. Special Counsel has considered the re-
sults of the lengthy and detailed investigation previously described,
and has carefully considered the oral and written submissions of
Senator Durenberger and his able counsel, Mr. Hamilton.
. The most serious sanction which the Senate may impose is that
of expulsion. :Expulsions in the Senate historically have concerned-
cases of perceived .disloyalty to the United States Government or a

‘violation of serious criminal statutory law involving the-abuse of

one’s official position..No Senator has been expelled since 1862. In
1981, this Special Counsel recommended that Senator Harrison
Williams of New Jersey be expelled from the United States Senate.
This Committee carefully reviewed the matter and reported to the
full Senate a Resolution of Expulsion. After six days of debate on
the Senate floor, Senator Williams, just prior to the Senate vote,
resigned from the Senate.

In that case, the recommendation of expulsion was based in part
on a detailed factual record which showed that Senator Williams
violated several federal criminal statutes including conspiracy to
defraud, bribery, conflict of interest and interstate travel in aid of
racketeering. . . '

Special Counsel submits to the Committee that while very seri-
ous, the conduct of Senator Durenberger is distinguishable from .
that of Senator Williams. The essential difference is that there is
insufficient evidence supporting a finding that Senator Duren-
berger acted with criminal intent, malice or with specific intent to
break the law. Because of the criminal conduct engaged in by Sena-
tor Williams, Special Counsel and this Committee thought it appro-
priate to recommend the removal of a Senator chosen by his con-
stituents. Such a decision to interfere with the choice of the people
should only be made in the most aggravated situations. By not rec-
ommending the expulsion of Senator Durenberger, Special Counsel
is not minimizing the wrongdoing engaged in by Senator Duren-

* berger. Special Counsel is simply saying that the decision to
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remove him from the Senate, if such a decision is to-be made at all,
should only be made by those who elected him to-his high office.
While Special Counsel rejects the notion that this is- an expulsion
case, he equally rejects the view that this is a case only warranting
admonishment, disapproval, reprimand or any of the other sanc-
tions that do not require action by the full Senate. Such sanctions
would be totally inadequate in this case: Senator Durenberger’s
conduct was not inadvertent, unintentional or: based on mistake ‘of
fact, ignorance of the law, negligence or misplaced reliance on
others. Instead, Senator Durenberger knowingly and willfully en-
gaged in conduct which violated statutes, rules and Senate stand-
ards, and acceptable norms of ethical conduct. His conduct was
clearly and unequivocally unethical. .
During his presentation to the Committee, Senator Durenberger
quoted Professor Dennis F. Thompson of Harvard University:

Public Officials . . . have an ethical obligation to do all
they can to make sure that citizens do not have any rea- -~
sonable basis for believing that they or their colleagues are
violating their own ethics rules. There is an ethical obliga-
tion to protect the appearances of propriety almost as .
great as to produce its.reality. ' T

Hearing Transcript (June 13, 1990) at 45. Senator Durenberger has
failed in both regards. o , S

Special Counsel submits that the reprehensible conduct engaged
in by Senator Durenberger warrants a sanction of denouncement
by the full United States Senate. Special ‘Counsel further submits
that what the sanction is called is less important than the lan-
guage the Committee uses to describe the offending conduct and
the Committee’s response to it. | ‘ v

Senator Durenberger’s conduct must be fully and fairly revealed
to the public. This Committee should pronounce its judgment that .
Senator Durenberger’s conduct is reprehensible and that it will not
be condoned. Finally, this matter should be put before the full
United States Senate for the imposition of its sanction of Senator
Durenberger for his repeated pattern of unethical conduct.

For these reasons, Special Counsel recommends that. this Com-
mittee pass a Resolution calling for the full Senate to denounce -
Senator Durenberger publicly for knowingly erigaging in  unethical
conduct which has brought dishonor and disrespect to this institu- -
tion. Further, Special Counsel notes that the Committee may rec-
ommeénd to the Senate that it refer to the Republican party confer-
ence a recommendation regarding Senator Durenberger’s seniority
or positions of responsibility, and may recommend that Senator.
Durenberger make appropriate financial restitution.

Respectfully Submitted,
RoBErT S. BENNETT,
Special Counsel.

(Frances L. Wetzel, Abigail J. Raphael, Skadden, Arps, Slate,
12\/(1)%%g5her & Flom, 1440 New York.Avenue, NW., Washington, DC

JuLy 2, 1990.

O




